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PART 1. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1.

Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
NanoString Technologies, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except par value)
(Unaudited)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts receivable, net
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other
Total current assets
Restricted cash
Deferred offering costs
Property and equipment, net
Other assets
Total assets
Liabilities, Mandatorily Redeemable Convertible
Preferred Stock and Stockholders’ Deficit
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue, current portion
Deferred rent, current portion
Long-term debt, current portion
Total current liabilities
Deferred revenue, net of current portion
Deferred rent, net of current portion
Long-term debt, net of current portion
Preferred stock warrant liability
Total liabilities
Mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock, $0.0001 par value per share, 8,979 shares authorized; 8,118 shares
issued and outstanding
Stockholders’ deficit
Common stock, $0.0001 par value, 11,713 shares authorized; 583 and 411 shares issued and outstanding,
respectively
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ deficit
Total liabilities, mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit

June 30,
2013

December 31,
2012

$ 10,755
4,779
5,627
2,533
23,694
180
3,384
3,028
204
$ 30,490

$ 21,692
3,322
5,380
1,320
31,714
180
1,765
3,674
73
$ 37,406

$

$

2,865
4,481
878
764
2,789
11,777
362
1,903
9,970
3,532
27,544

108,275

103,622

—
(110,305)
(110,305)
$ 30,490

—
(93,760)
(93,760)
$ 37,406

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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2,727
5,689
1,086
610
2,675
12,787
489
1,684
15,047
2,513
32,520
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NanoString Technologies, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
(Unaudited)
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2013
2012

Revenue
Costs and expenses:
Cost of revenue
Research and development
Selling, general and administrative
Total costs and expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense)
Revaluation of preferred stock warrant liability
Total other income (expense)
Net loss
Accretion of mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

$ 7,218

Net loss per share—basic and diluted
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per share

$ 5,943

$ 12,894

$ 10,445

3,522
3,626
6,708
13,856
(6,638)

3,334
2,971
3,251
9,556
(3,613)

6,404
6,685
12,834
25,923
(13,029)

5,990
5,168
6,418
17,576
(7,131)

3
(489)
(9)
1,638
1,143
(5,495)
(2,311)
$ (7,806)

6
(220)
185
71
42
(3,571)
(1,844)
$(5,415)

6
(874)
(13)
1,156
275
(12,754)
(4,653)
$(17,407)

13
(332)
172
97
(50)
(7,181)
(3,637)
$(10,818)

$ (13.69)

$(16.02)

$ (31.48)

$ (32.49)

570

338

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Six Months Ended
June 30,
2013
2012

553

333
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NanoString Technologies, Inc.
Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(in thousands)
(Unaudited)
Six Months Ended
June 30,
2013
2012

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of debt discount
Stock-based compensation
Revaluation of preferred stock warrant liability
Interest accrued on long-term notes
Loss on disposal of property and equipment
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other
Other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Deferred revenue
Deferred rent
Net cash used in operating activities
Investing activities
Purchases of property and equipment
Increase in restricted cash
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Deferred offering costs
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of period
End of period

$(12,754)

$ (7,181)

901
110
488
(1,156)
99
1

974
95
417
(97)
32
—

(1,457)
(247)
(1,213)
(131)
826
329
335
(373)
(14,242)

(590)
(602)
10
(11)
(79)
321
(102)
(347)
(7,160)

(254)
—
(254)

(222)
(1)
(223)

5,000
(109)
(1,705)
373
3,559
(10,937)

7,500
(1,603)
—
30
5,927
(1,456)

21,692
$ 10,755

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.
3

10,868
$ 9,412
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NanoString Technologies, Inc.
Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)
1. Description of Business
NanoString Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) was incorporated in Delaware in June 2003 and is headquartered in Seattle, Washington.
The Company’s technology enables direct detection, identification and quantification of individual target molecules in a biological sample by
attaching a unique color coded fluorescent reporter to each target molecule of interest. The Company markets its proprietary nCounter Analysis System,
consisting of instruments and consumables, to academic, government, biopharmaceutical and clinical laboratories.
The Company has incurred losses to date and expects to incur additional losses in the foreseeable future. The Company continues to devote the
majority of its resources to the growth of the Company’s business in accordance with its business plan. The Company’s activities have been financed
primarily through the sale of equity securities and incurrence of indebtedness, and to a lesser extent, capital leases and other borrowings.
Reverse Stock Split
On June 12, 2013, the Company effected a 1-for-32 reverse stock split of its common stock and preferred stock. All share and per share information has
been retroactively adjusted to reflect this reverse stock split.
Initial Public Offering
On June 25, 2013, the Company’s registration statement on Form S-1 was declared effective related to its initial public offering, in which the Company
sold 5,400,000 shares of common stock at a price of $10.00 per share. The shares began trading on the NASDAQ Global Market on June 26, 2013. The $50.2
million in proceeds from the initial public offering, which is net of underwriting discounts and commissions but before offering expenses, were received at
closing on July 1, 2013.
2. Basis of Presentation and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries,
NanoString Technologies International, Inc., NanoString Technologies Asia Pacific Limited, NanoString Technologies Europe Limited and NanoString
Technologies SAS. The condensed consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2012 were derived from audited financial statements not included in
this report. The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the rules and regulations of
the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) and generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“GAAP”) for unaudited
condensed consolidated financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete
financial statements. The accompanying unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments consisting of normal recurring
adjustments which, in the opinion of management, are necessary for a fair statement of the Company’s financial position and results of its operations, as of
and for the periods presented.
Unless indicated otherwise, all amounts presented in financial tables are presented in thousands, except for per share and par value amounts.
These unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes included in the prospectus that forms a part of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 333-188704), which
prospectus was filed with the SEC pursuant to Rule 424 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933 on June 26, 2013.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the condensed consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. The results of the
Company’s operations for the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2013 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year or
for any other period.
4
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Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue when (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, (2) delivery has occurred or services have been rendered,
(3) the price to the customer is fixed or determinable and (4) collectability is reasonably assured. The Company generates revenue from the sale of products
and services. The Company’s products consist of its proprietary nCounter Analysis System and related consumables. Services consist of extended warranties
and service fees for assay processing. A delivered product or service is considered to be a separate unit of accounting when it has value to the customer on a
stand-alone basis. Products or services have value on a stand-alone basis if they are sold separately by any vendor or the customer could resell the delivered
product.
Systems product revenue is recognized upon installation and calibration in geographic regions where such services are only available from specialized
Company technicians. In these regions, systems and related installation and calibration are considered to be one unit of accounting, as systems are required to
be professionally installed and calibrated before use. In certain geographic regions, installation and calibration services are available from other vendors, and
in such regions they are considered separate revenue elements. Consumables are considered to be separate units of accounting as they are sold separately.
Consumables product revenue is recognized upon shipment.
Service revenue is recognized when earned, which is generally upon the rendering of the related services. Extended warranties and service fees for
assay processing are each considered separate units of accounting as they are sold separately. The Company offers extended warranties on its nCounter
Analysis System for periods ranging from 12 to 36 months after the end of the standard 12-month warranty period. Extended warranties are generally
separately priced. Revenue from extended warranties are deferred and recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the warranty period.
The Company allocates the contract consideration at the inception of the contract to the deliverables based upon their relative selling prices. To date,
selling prices have been established by reference to vendor specific objective evidence based on stand-alone sales transactions for each deliverable. Vendor
specific objective evidence is considered to have been established when a substantial majority of individual sales transactions within the previous 12 month
period fall within a reasonably narrow range, which the Company has defined to be plus or minus 15% of the median sales price of actual stand-alone sales
transactions. The Company uses its best estimate of selling price for individual deliverables when vendor specific objective evidence or third-party evidence
is unavailable. Allocated revenue is only recognized for each deliverable when the revenue recognition criteria have been met.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
The Company has reviewed recent accounting pronouncements and concluded that they are either not applicable to the business, or that no material
effect is expected on the consolidated financial statements as a result of future adoption.
3. Net Loss Per Share
Net loss attributable to common stockholders per share is computed by dividing the net loss allocable to common stockholders by the weighted
average number of shares of common stock outstanding. Outstanding stock options, warrants and preferred stock have not been included in the calculation of
the diluted net loss attributable to common stockholders per share because to do so would be anti-dilutive. Accordingly, the numerator and the denominator
used in computing both basic and diluted net loss per share for each period are the same.
The following outstanding options, warrants and preferred stock were excluded from the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share for the six
month periods presented because their effect would have been anti-dilutive (in thousands):
Options to purchase common stock
Convertible preferred stock (as converted)
Convertible preferred stock warrants (as converted)
Common stock warrant

2013

2012

1,796
8,631
618
—

1,623
7,567
554
2

4. Concentration of Risks
Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents and
accounts receivable. The Company has credit risk related to the collectability of its accounts receivable. The Company performs initial and ongoing
evaluations of its customers’ financial position and generally extends credit on account without collateral.
5
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The Company had no customers that individually represented more than 10% of total revenue during the six months ended June 30, 2013 or 2012. In
addition, the Company had one customer that represented more than 10% of total accounts receivable as of June 30, 2013 and none as of December 31, 2012.
The Company is also subject to supply chain risks related to the outsourcing of the manufacturing and production of its instruments to sole suppliers.
Although there are a limited number of manufacturers for instruments of this type, the Company believes that other suppliers could provide similar products
on comparable terms. A change in suppliers, however, could cause a delay in manufacturing and a possible loss of sales, which would adversely affect
operating results.
5. Deferred Offering Costs
Deferred offering costs represent legal, accounting and other direct costs related to the Company’s efforts to raise capital through an initial public
offering of the Company’s common stock. These costs have been deferred through the completion of the initial public offering and on the closing date of
July 1, 2013, will be reclassified to additional paid-in capital as a reduction of the proceeds. The Company recorded approximately $3.4 million and $1.8
million of deferred offering costs as a non-current asset in the accompanying balance sheets as of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively.
6. Fair Value Measurements
The Company establishes the fair value of its assets and liabilities using the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a financial
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. A fair value hierarchy is used to measure fair value. The three levels
of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:
Level 1 Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
Level 2 Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active;
and model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are observable in active markets.
Level 3 Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs and significant value drivers are unobservable.
The recorded amounts of certain financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, prepaid expenses and other, accounts
payable and accrued liabilities, approximate fair value due to their relatively short-term maturities. The recorded amount of the Company’s long-term debt
approximates fair value because the related interest rates approximate rates currently available to the Company.
As of June 30, 2013, the Company had mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock which contained certain redemption provisions which
precluded equity classification. Accordingly, warrants to purchase this mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock were classified as liabilities for
the periods presented. These preferred stock warrants were subject to remeasurement at each balance sheet date and any change in fair value was recognized
as a component of other income (expense).
The Company’s preferred stock warrants are categorized as Level 3 because they were valued based on unobservable inputs and management judgment
due to the absence of quoted market prices, inherent lack of liquidity and the long-term nature of such financial instruments. The Company performed a fair
value assessment of the preferred stock warrant inputs on a quarterly basis using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The assumptions used in the BlackScholes option pricing model are inherently subjective and involve significant judgment. Any change in fair value was recognized as a component of other
income (expense) in the condensed consolidated statements of comprehensive loss.
6
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The following information summarizes the carrying value of the warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s previously outstanding preferred stock
(in thousands):
Balance at December 31, 2012
Issuance of preferred stock warrants
Warrant revaluation
Balance at March 31, 2013
Issuance of preferred stock warrants
Warrant revaluation
Balance at June 30, 2013

$ 3,532
—
482
4,014
137
(1,638)
$ 2,513

Upon the closing of the Company’s initial public offering, all warrants to purchase preferred stock were converted to common stock. After July 1, 2013,
these warrants will not be remeasured to fair value at each reporting date.
7. Inventory
Inventory consisted of the following as of the date indicated (in thousands):

Raw materials
Work in process
Finished goods

June 30,
2013

December 31,
2012

$2,465
1,082
2,080
$5,627

$

$

2,120
962
2,298
5,380

8. Reserve for Product Warranties
The Company generally provides a one-year warranty on its nCounter Analysis Systems and establishes an accrual based on historical product failure
rates and actual warranty costs incurred. Warranty expense is recorded as a component of cost of revenue in the condensed consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss.
The following information reconciles changes in the Company’s warranty reserve and related costs (in thousands):
Warranty reserve, December 31, 2012
Cost of warranty claims
Warranty accrual
Warranty reserve, March 31, 2013
Cost of warranty claims
Warranty accrual
Warranty reserve, June 30, 2013

$248
(63)
43
228
(24)
52
$256

9. Long-term Debt and Obligations
In March 2012, the Company entered into a loan and security agreement (the “credit facility”), pursuant to which it incurred $13.0 million in term loan
borrowings in 2012 and subsequently incurred an additional $5.0 million in term loan borrowings in April 2013, for an aggregate principal amount of $18.0
million. All of such borrowings accrue interest at a rate of 8.89%. Through January 2014, the Company is required to pay interest only on such term loan
borrowings. Following the expiration of the interest only payment period, the Company is required to pay principal and interest in 30 equal monthly
installments, plus an end of term payment equal to 5.5% of the amount borrowed, or $990,000, at maturity in July 2016. The Company may at its option
prepay all of the term loan borrowings by paying the lender, among other things, all principal and accrued interest, the end of term payment plus a premium
of up to 3% of the amount borrowed. Pursuant to the credit facility, from time to time the Company can also incur revolver borrowings of up to the lesser of
$2.0 million or a borrowing base tied to the amount of eligible accounts receivable. Interest on revolver borrowings accrues at a floating rate equal to the
prime rate plus 3.70% (subject to a floor of 6.95%) and is payable monthly. The Company is also required to pay a fee of 0.075% per month on the unused
portion of the revolver borrowings.
7
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The credit facility contains customary conditions to borrowing, events of default and covenants, including covenants that restrict the Company’s
ability to dispose of assets, merge with or acquire other entities, incur indebtedness, incur encumbrances, make distributions to holders of the Company’s
capital stock, make investments or engage in transactions with its affiliates. In addition, the Company must comply with a financial covenant based on life
sciences revenue. This financial covenant is measured monthly on a trailing three month basis. The Company is in compliance with all covenants as of
June 30, 2013. The Company’s obligations under the credit facility are secured by substantially all of its assets other than intellectual property.
Pursuant to an office building lease, the owner of the building financed a portion of tenant improvements under an arrangement in which the Company
is obligated to pay the amount financed over the term of the lease. The amount financed totaled $843,000 and is being repaid over the five-year term of the
lease, which expires in August 2016. Interest accrues on the unpaid balance at a rate of 10% per annum.
Borrowings, including current portion, consisted of the following (in thousands):
June 30,
2013

Landlord payable
Term loans payable

December 31,
2012

$

145
18,195
18,340
(618)
(2,675)
$15,047

Less: Unamortized debt discount
Current portion
Non-current portion

$

235
13,115
13,350
(591)
(2,789)
$
9,970

Scheduled future payments for principal obligations under outstanding debt facilities were as follows at June 30, 2013 (in thousands):
Long-term debt:
2013
2014
2015
2016

$

101
6,192
7,295
4,752
$18,340

10. Segment Reporting
Operating segments are defined as components of an enterprise for which separate financial information is available and evaluated regularly by the
chief operating decision maker, or decision-making group, in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing performance.
The Company develops, manufactures and sells products that unlock genetic information from very small amounts of tissue. Products, consisting of
instruments, consumables and related services, are currently provided to researchers in the life sciences industry and will be provided to clinical laboratories
providing diagnostic testing. The Company is organized as, and operates in, two reportable segments: life sciences segment and diagnostics segment. The life
sciences business provides instruments, consumables and services efficiently profiling the activity of hundreds of genes from a single tissue sample. The
diagnostics business provides molecular diagnostic kits to pathology labs enabling complex molecular testing on a distributed basis.
The Company’s chief operating decision maker is the chief executive officer. The chief operating decision maker reviews financial information
presented on a total Company basis, accompanied by information about segment revenue and certain direct sales and marketing expenses by segment. The
chief operating decision maker does not review segment information related to cost of revenue, research and development or other selling, general and
administrative expenses. The Company’s chief operating decision maker evaluates performance based on these two measures.
8
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Operating results for each segment and a reconciliation of segment profit to loss from operations are as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2013
2012

Product revenue:
Instruments
Consumables
Service revenue
Total life sciences segment
Diagnostics segment
Instruments
Total diagnostics segment
Total revenue
Selling, general, and administrative expenses:
Life sciences segment
Diagnostics segment
Life sciences segment profit
Diagnostics segment loss
Total segment profit
Adjustments:
Cost of revenue
Research and development expenses
Unallocated selling, general and administrative expenses
Loss from operations

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2013
2012

$ 2,320
4,305
390
7,015

$ 2,579
3,054
310
5,943

$ 3,959
8,004
728
12,691

$ 4,079
5,757
609
10,445

203
203
7,218

—
—
5,943

203
203
12,894

—
—
10,445

2,642
1,240
4,373
(1,037)
3,336

1,759
176
4,184
(176)
4,008

4,845
2,680
7,846
(2,477)
5,369

3,274
517
7,171
(517)
6,654

(3,522)
(3,626)
(2,826)
$(6,638)

(3,334)
(2,971)
(1,316)
$(3,613)

(6,404)
(6,685)
(5,309)
$(13,029)

(5,990)
(5,168)
(2,627)
$ (7,131)

The following table is based on the geographic location of distributors or end users who purchased products and services. For sales to distributors, their
geographic location may be different from the geographic locations of the ultimate end user. Revenue by geography was as follows (in thousands):
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2013
2012

North America
Europe & Middle East
Asia Pacific
Total revenue

$ 5,218
1,494
506
$ 7,218

$ 3,898
1,006
1,039
$ 5,943

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2013
2012

$ 9,695
2,110
1,089
$12,894

$ 7,060
1,998
1,387
$10,445

Total revenue in the United States was $4.3 million, $3.8 million, $7.9 million and $6.6 million for the three and six month periods ended June 30,
2013 and 2012, respectively.
The Company’s assets are primarily located in the United States and not allocated to any specific segment or geographic region. Substantially all of the
Company’s long-lived assets are located in the United States.
11. Subsequent Events
On July 1, 2013, the Company completed its initial public offering of 5,400,000 shares of common stock, at $10.00 per share. The proceeds from the
initial public offering were $50.2 million net of underwriting discounts and commissions, but before offering expenses. As of June 30, 2013, the Company
had incurred $3.4 million of deferred offering costs, which will be offset against the net proceeds received from the sale of common stock.
9
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On July 1, 2013, all outstanding shares of the Company’s mandatorily redeemable convertible preferred stock converted into shares of the Company’s
common stock in connection with the initial public offering. Following the initial public offering, there were no shares of preferred stock outstanding. The
shares of common stock issued upon conversion of the preferred stock were as follows (in thousands):

Series A
Series B
Series C
Series D
Series E

Shares of Preferred
Stock

Shares of Common
Stock

557
516
3,551
2,430
1,064
8,118

781
805
3,551
2,430
1,064
8,631

Until the conversion of the preferred stock, the Company recorded preferred stock accretion using an effective interest method to reach a value equal to
the redemption value pursuant to the terms of the preferred stock set forth in the Company’s certificate of incorporation.
In addition, on July 1, 2013, concurrent with completion of the initial public offering, all outstanding preferred stock warrants converted into warrants
to purchase an aggregate of 617,605 shares of common stock with a weighted average exercise price of $8.78 per share.
10

Table of Contents

Item 2.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements
This section should be read in conjunction with our unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements and related notes included in Part I, Item 1
of this report. This discussion contains certain forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Forward-looking statements are identified by words such as “believe,” “anticipate,”
“expect,” “intend,” “plan,” “will,” “may,” “seek” and other similar expressions. You should read these statements carefully because they discuss future
expectations, contain projections of future results of operations or financial condition, or state other “forward-looking” information. These statements relate
to our future plans, objectives, expectations, intentions and financial performance and the assumptions that underlie these statements. These forward-looking
statements include, but are not limited to:
•

our ability to successfully commercialize Prosigna, our first product for which we have obtained a CE mark in the European Union;

•

our ability to secure regulatory clearance or approval, domestically and internationally, for the clinical use of our products, including a version
of Prosigna in the United States;

•

the implementation of our business model and strategic plans for our business;

•

the regulatory regime for our products, domestically and internationally;

•

our strategic relationships, including with patent holders of our technologies, manufacturers and distributors of our products, and third parties
who conduct our clinical studies;

•

our intellectual property position;

•

our expectations regarding the market size and growth potential for our life sciences and diagnostic businesses;

•

any estimates regarding expenses, future revenues, capital requirements, and stock performance; and

•

our ability to sustain and manage growth, including our ability to develop new products and enter new markets.

These forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated
in the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such a difference include, but are not limited to, those discussed in this report in Part II, Item 1A
— “Risk Factors,” and elsewhere in this report. These statements, like all statements in this report, speak only as of their date, and we undertake no obligation
to update or revise these statements in light of future developments. In this report, “we,” “our,” “us,” “NanoString,” and “the Company” refer to NanoString
Technologies, Inc.
Overview
We develop, manufacture and sell robust, intuitive products that unlock scientifically valuable and clinically actionable genomic information from
minute amounts of tissue. Our nCounter Analysis System directly profiles hundreds of molecules simultaneously using a novel barcoding technology that is
powerful enough for use in research, yet simple enough for use in clinical laboratories worldwide. We market systems and related consumables to researchers
in academic, government, and biopharmaceutical laboratories for use in understanding fundamental biology and the molecular basis of disease. As
researchers discover how genomic information can be used to improve clinical decision-making, we seek to selectively translate their discoveries into
molecular diagnostic products. In September 2012, we received European Union regulatory clearance for our first molecular diagnostic product, the Prosigna
Breast Cancer Assay, or Prosigna, an assay providing an assessment of a patient’s risk of recurrence for breast cancer and the intrinsic subtype of the patient’s
tumor. In February 2013, we commercially launched Prosigna in Europe and Israel. In December 2012, we submitted an application, known as a 510(k), to the
FDA seeking clearance in the United States for a version of Prosigna providing an assessment of a patient’s risk of recurrence for breast cancer.
We are organized as, and operate in, two reportable segments: our life sciences business and our diagnostics business. Until recently, we have sold
products exclusively through our life sciences business, providing “research use only” tools to scientific researchers for efficiently profiling the activity of
hundreds of genes simultaneously from a single tissue sample. We derive a substantial majority of our life sciences revenue from the sale of products, which
consist of our nCounter instruments and related proprietary consumables. We also derive revenue from processing fees related to proof-of-principle studies we
conduct for potential customers and extended service contracts for our nCounter Analysis Systems.
Our diagnostics business provides nCounter instruments and consumables in the form of molecular diagnostic kits, initially our Prosigna assay, to
pathology labs enabling complex molecular testing on a decentralized basis. In September 2012, we obtained a CE mark for Prosigna and, in February 2013,
we commercially launched Prosigna in Europe and Israel. In December 2012, we submitted an application, known as a 510(k), to the FDA seeking clearance
in the United States for a version of Prosigna providing an assessment of a patient’s risk of recurrence for breast cancer and have had a number of subsequent
communications with the FDA. We
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are currently planning for United States commercial launch in the first quarter of 2014 and are establishing a dedicated oncology diagnostics sales force. As a
result, we expect sales and marketing expenses and operating losses to increase as we market the product in Europe and other countries outside of the United
States, and to increase further upon the launch in the United States following clearance from the FDA. We expect sales in Europe to grow gradually as more
systems are installed and Prosigna gains market acceptance and reimbursement by third-party payors becomes more broadly available.
We use third-party contract manufacturers to produce the two instruments comprising the nCounter Analysis System. We manufacture consumables at
our Seattle, Washington facility. This operating model is designed to be capital efficient and to scale efficiently as our product volumes grow. We focus a
substantial portion of our resources on developing new products and solutions. We invested $6.7 million and $5.2 million for the six months ended June 30,
2013 and 2012, respectively, in research and development and intend to continue to make significant investments in research and development.
Our total revenue has increased to $12.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2013 from $10.4 million for the first six months of 2012, which was
driven by the sale of additional nCounter Analysis Systems and consumables for use on our growing installed base of instruments. Historically, we have
generated a substantial majority of our revenue from sales to customers in North America; however, we expect sales in other regions to increase over time. We
have never been profitable and had net losses of $12.8 million and $7.2 million for the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively, and as of
June 30, 2013 our accumulated deficit was $110.3 million.
Recent Developments
On July 1, 2013, the Company completed its initial public offering of 5,400,000 shares of common stock, at $10.00 per share. The proceeds from the
initial public offering were $50.2 million net of underwriting discounts and commissions, but before offering expenses.
Key Financial Metrics
Revenue
Our products consist of our nCounter Analysis System and related consumables. Our nCounter Analysis System typically consists of one nCounter
Digital Analyzer and one nCounter Prep Station. Life sciences consumables include (1) custom CodeSets, which we manufacture to the specific requirements
of an individual researcher, (2) panels, which are standard pre-manufactured CodeSets, and (3) Master Kits, which are ancillary reagents, cartridges, tips and
reagent plates required to setup and process samples in our instruments. Diagnostic consumables consist of in vitro diagnostic kits, initially for our Prosigna
Breast Cancer Assay. Since 2010, our average consumable revenue per system has exceeded $100,000 per year. Product revenue also includes payments for
instrument installation. Currently, our life sciences customer base is primarily composed of academic institutions, government laboratories, and
biopharmaceutical companies that perform analyses using our nCounter Analysis System and purchase consumables for research use only.
Service revenue consists of fees associated with extended service contracts and conducting proof-of-principle studies. We include a one-year warranty
with the sale of our instruments and offer extended service contracts, which are purchased by a majority of our customers. We selectively provide proof-ofprinciple studies to prospective life sciences customers in order to help them better understand the benefits of the nCounter Analysis System.
We sell our life sciences products through our own sales force in the United States, Canada, Singapore and certain European countries. We sell through
distributors in other parts of the world. As we have expanded our European life sciences direct sales force and entered into agreements with distributors of our
life sciences products in Europe, the Middle East, Asia Pacific and South America, the amount of revenue generated from geographies outside of North
America has generally increased, although there have been significant quarter-to-quarter fluctuations. In the future, we intend to continue to expand our sales
force and establish additional distributor relationships outside the United States to better access international markets. The following table reflects product
revenue by geography based on the billing address of our customers. North America consists of the United States, Canada and Mexico; and Asia Pacific
includes Japan, China, South Korea, Singapore and Australia.
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2013
2012
% Change

North America
Europe & Middle East
Asia Pacific
Total

$5,218
1,494
506
$7,218

$3,898
1,006
1,039
$5,943

34%
49%
(51)%
21%

2013

$ 9,695
2,110
1,089
$12,894

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2012
% Change

$ 7,060
1,998
1,387
$10,445

37%
6%
(21)%
23%

Most of our revenue has historically been denominated in U.S. dollars. Our expenses are generally denominated in the currencies in which our
operations are located, which is primarily in the United States. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates have not materially affected us to date; however,
they may become material to us in the future as our operations outside of the United States expand.
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Cost of Revenue
Cost of revenue consists primarily of costs incurred in the production process, including costs of purchasing instruments from third-party contract
manufacturers, consumable component materials and assembly labor and overhead, installation, warranty, service and packaging and delivery costs. In
addition, cost of revenue includes royalty costs for licensed technologies included in our products, provisions for slow-moving and obsolete inventory and
stock-based compensation expense. We provide a one-year warranty on each nCounter Analysis System and establish a reserve for warranty repairs based on
historical warranty repair costs incurred.
We expect the average unit costs of our instruments to decline in future periods as a result of our ongoing efforts to develop a lower-cost nCounter
Analysis System to expand our market opportunity among smaller laboratories. We expect the unit costs of consumable products to decline as a result of our
ongoing efforts to improve our manufacturing processes and expected increases in production volume and yields. Although the unit costs of our custom
CodeSets vary, they are generally higher as a percentage of the related revenue than our panels and in vitro diagnostic kits.
Operating Expenses
Research and Development
Research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and benefits, occupancy, laboratory supplies, consulting fees and related costs, costs
associated with licensing molecular diagnostics rights and clinical study expenses (including the cost of tissue samples) to support the regulatory approval or
clearance of diagnostic products. We have made substantial investments in research and development since our inception. Our research and development
efforts have focused primarily on the tasks required to enhance our technologies and to support development and commercialization of new and existing
products and applications for both our life sciences and diagnostics businesses. We believe that our continued investment in research and development is
essential to our long-term competitive position and expect these expenses to increase in future periods.
Given the relatively small size of our research and development staff and the limited number of active projects at any given time, we have found that,
to date, it has been effective for us to manage our research and development activities on a departmental basis. Accordingly, we do not require employees to
report their time by project nor do we allocate our research and development costs to individual projects. The following table shows the composition of total
research and development expense by functional area for the periods indicated.
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2013
2012
% Change

Core nCounter platform technology
Manufacturing process development
Life sciences products and applications
Diagnostic product development
Facility allocation
Total

$ 817
358
665
1,375
411
$3,626

$ 302
274
473
1,453
469
$2,971

171%
31%
41%
(5)%
(12)%
22%

2013

$1,429
736
1,401
2,313
806
$6,685

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2012
% Change

$ 616
570
936
2,101
945
$5,168

132%
29%
50%
10%
(15)%
29%

Selling, General and Administrative
Selling, general and administrative expenses consist primarily of costs for our sales and marketing, finance, human resources, information technology,
business development and general management functions, as well as professional services, such as legal, consulting and accounting services. We expect
selling, general and administrative expenses to increase in future periods as the number of sales, technical support and marketing and administrative
personnel grows and we continue to introduce new products, broaden our customer base and grow our business. In particular, the commercial launch of
Prosigna requires us to establish a dedicated oncology diagnostics sales force which will increase selling and marketing expenses significantly. We also
expect legal, accounting and compliance costs to increase after becoming a public company.
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Results of Operations
Revenue; Cost of Revenue; Gross Profit
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2012

2013

Product revenue:
Instruments
Life sciences
Diagnostics
Total instrument revenue
Consumables
Service revenue
Total revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit

$

$

2,320
203
2,523
4,305
390
7,218
3,522
3,696

Gross margin

$

$

51%

2,579
—
2,579
3,054
310
5,943
3,334
2,609

% Change

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2012

2013

(10)%

$

(2)%
41%
26%
21%
6%
42%

$

3,959
203
4,162
8,004
728
12,894
6,404
6,490

44%

$

$

50%

4,079
—
4,079
5,757
609
10,445
5,990
4,455

% Change

(3)%
2%
39%
20%
23%
7%
46%

43%

Instrument revenue was relatively consistent from year to year for both the three and six month periods ended June 30, 2013. Instrument revenue
included approximately $200,000 from our diagnostics segment; all other revenue was from our life sciences segment. The increase in consumable revenue
for both periods was driven by growth in our installed base of instruments. The increase in service revenue for both the three month and six month periods
was primarily related to an increase in the number of instruments covered by service contracts.
The increase in cost of revenue was largely related to the increased volume of consumables sold. Gross margin increased primarily due to a shift in
product mix towards consumables, which on average have higher margins than instruments. Increased production volume also lowered costs as a percentage
of revenue.
Research and Development Expense

2013

Research and development expense

$

3,626

Three Months Ended
June 30,
2012

$

2,971

% Change

22%

2013

$

6,685

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2012

$

5,168

% Change

29%

The increases reflected $0.8 million and $1.5 million increases in personnel-related expenses, for the three and six month periods, respectively, to
support the advancement of our nCounter technology and clinical development of Prosigna. The increase for the three month period was partially offset by a
$0.4 million decrease in Prosigna clinical study costs after completion of the ABCSG8 study in late 2012.
Selling, General and Administrative Expense

2013

Selling, general and administrative expense

$

6,708

Three Months Ended
June 30,
2012

$

3,251

% Change

106%

2013

$

12,834

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2012

$

6,418

% Change

100%

The increase for the three-month period was primarily attributable to $1.2 million of increased staffing and personnel-related costs to support sales and
marketing and administration; $1.0 million of increased external marketing and other consulting costs related to the commercial launch of Prosigna; and $0.9
million of increased corporate professional fees.
The increase for the six-month period was primarily attributable to $2.5 million of increased staffing and personnel-related costs to support sales and
marketing and administration; $1.7 million of increased external marketing and other consulting costs related to the commercial launch of Prosigna; and $1.0
million of increased corporate professional fees.
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Other Income (Expense), Net
Three Months Ended
June 30,
2013
2012
% Change

Interest income
Interest expense
Other income (expense)
Revaluation of preferred stock warrant liability
Total other income (expense), net

$

3
(489)
(9)
1,638
$1,143

$

6
(220)
185
71
$ 42

(50)%
122%
(105)%
2,207%
2,621%

2013

$

6
(874)
(13)
1,156
$ 275

Six Months Ended
June 30,
2012
% Change

$ 13
(332)
172
97
$ (50)

(54)%
163%
(108)%
1,092%
(650)%

The increases in interest expense for both periods were driven by increased borrowing under our existing credit facility during 2012 and 2013, from
$7.5 million in March 2012 to $18.0 million as of June 30, 2013.
The increase in other income from the revaluation of the preferred stock warrant liability for both the three and six month periods resulted from a remeasurement of the fair value of preferred stock warrants using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, which was primarily impacted by a decrease in the
valuation of the underlying stock.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
As of June 30, 2013, we had cash and cash equivalents of $10.8 million, which consisted of highly-liquid investments with an original maturity of
three months or less. We received $50.2 million of proceeds, net underwriting discounts and commissions but before offering expenses, from our initial
public offering. The initial public offering closed on July 1, 2013 and, accordingly, such proceeds are not reflected on our cash and cash equivalents at
June 30, 2013.
Sources of Funds
Since inception, we have financed our operations primarily through the sale of equity securities and, to a lesser extent, from borrowings. In April 2013,
we incurred $5.0 million of term loan borrowings, increasing our aggregate term loan borrowings to $18.0 million, and amended our credit facility to allow
for the incurrence of the remaining $5.0 million in term loan borrowings on or before June 30, 2013. In consideration of the completion of our initial public
offering in June, no further term loan borrowings were incurred.
We believe our existing cash and cash equivalents including the net proceeds from our initial public offering, will be sufficient to meet our working
capital and capital expenditure needs for at least the next 12 months. However, we may need to raise additional capital to expand the commercialization of
our products, fund our operations and further our research and development activities. Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors,
including: market acceptance of our products; the cost and timing of establishing additional sales, marketing and distribution capabilities; the cost of our
research and development activities; the cost and timing of regulatory clearances or approvals; the effect of competing technological and market
developments; and the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products and technologies, although we currently have no commitments or
agreements relating to any of these types of transactions.
We may require additional funds in the future and we may not be able to obtain such funds on acceptable terms, or at all. If we raise additional funds by
issuing equity or equity-linked securities, our stockholders may experience dilution. Debt financing, if available, may involve covenants restricting our
operations or our ability to incur additional debt. Any debt or additional equity financing that we raise may contain terms that are not favorable to us or our
stockholders. If we raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements with third parties, it may be necessary to relinquish some rights
to our technologies or our products, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. If we are unable to raise adequate funds, we may have to liquidate
some or all of our assets, or delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate some or all of our development programs. If we do not have, or are not able to obtain,
sufficient funds, we may have to delay development or commercialization of our products or license to third parties the rights to commercialize products or
technologies that we would otherwise seek to commercialize. We also may have to reduce marketing, customer support or other resources devoted to our
products or cease operations.
Credit Facility
In March 2012, we entered into a loan and security agreement, which we refer to as our credit facility, pursuant to which we have incurred $18.0
million in term loan borrowings, all of which accrue interest at a rate of 8.89%. Through January 2014, we are required to pay interest only on our term loan
borrowing. Following the expiration of the interest only payment period, we are required to pay principal and interest in 30 equal monthly installments, plus
an end of term payment equal to 5.5% of the amount borrowed, or $990,000, at maturity in July 2016. We may at our option prepay all of the term loan
borrowings by paying the lender, among other things, all principal and accrued interest, the end of term payment plus a premium of up to 3% of the amount
borrowed. Pursuant to the credit facility, from time to time we can also incur revolver borrowings of up to the lesser of $2.0 million or a borrowing base tied to
the amount of eligible accounts receivable. Interest on revolver borrowings accrues at a floating rate equal to the prime rate plus 3.70% (subject to a floor of
6.95%) and is payable monthly. We are also required to pay a fee of 0.075% per month on the unused portion of the revolver borrowings.
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The credit facility contains customary conditions to borrowing, events of default and covenants, including covenants that restrict our ability to dispose
of assets, merge with or acquire other entities, incur indebtedness, incur encumbrances, make distributions to holders of our capital stock, make investments
or engage in transactions with our affiliates. In addition, we must comply with a financial covenant based on life sciences revenue. This financial covenant is
measured monthly on a trailing three month basis. We were in compliance with all covenants as of June 30, 2013. Our obligations under the credit facility are
secured by substantially all of our assets other than intellectual property.
Use of Funds
Our principal uses of cash are funding our operations, satisfaction of our obligations under our debt instruments, and other working capital
requirements. Over the past several years, our revenue has increased significantly from year to year and, as a result, our cash flows from customer collections
have increased. However, our operating expenses have also increased as we have invested in growing our existing life sciences business and in developing
Prosigna and preparing it for commercialization. As a result, our cash used in operating activities has either remained relatively constant or increased. We
expect our operating cash requirements to increase in the future as we (1) increase sales and marketing activities to expand the installed base of our nCounter
Analysis Systems among life sciences research customers, (2) commercialize, and conduct studies to expand the clinical utility of, Prosigna, and (3) develop
new applications, chemistry and instruments for our nCounter platform.
Historical Cash Flow Trends
The following table shows a summary of our cash flows for the periods indicated:
Six Months
Ended June 30,
2013
2012

Cash used in operating activities
Cash used in investing activities
Cash provided by financing activities

$(14,242)
(254)
3,559

$(7,160)
(223)
5,927

Operating Cash Flows
We derive operating cash flows from cash collected from the sale of our products and services. These cash flows received are outweighed by our use of
cash for operating expenses to support the growth of our business. As a result, we have historically experienced negative cash flows from operating activities
as we have expanded our business in the United States and other markets and this will likely continue for the foreseeable future.
Net cash used in operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2013 consisted of our net loss of $12.8 million and $1.9 million of cash used for
working capital purposes. These uses were partially offset by $0.4 million of net non-cash income and expense items, such as depreciation and amortization,
stock-based compensation and change in the fair value of preferred stock warrants.
Net cash used in operating activities for the six months ended June 30, 2012 consisted of our net loss of $7.2 million and $1.4 million of cash used for
working capital purposes. These uses were partially offset by $1.4 million of non-cash expense items, such as depreciation and amortization and stock-based
compensation.
Investing Cash Flows
Net cash used in investing activities for each of the periods presented was primarily for the purchase of laboratory, manufacturing and computer
equipment and software to support our expanding infrastructure. Other than the purchase of nCounter Analysis Systems for loan or rental to clinical
laboratories in support of Prosigna commercialization in jurisdictions where we have regulatory authorization, we have no major capital expenditures
planned for the remainder of 2013.
Financing Cash Flows
Net cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2013 consisted of proceeds from term loan borrowings of $5.0 million and
proceeds from exercise of stock options of $0.4 million. These proceeds were partially offset by payments for deferred offering costs of $1.7 million and
repayments of borrowings of $0.1 million.
Net cash provided by financing activities for the six months ended June 30, 2012 consisted of $7.5 million of borrowing under our existing credit
facility, which was partially offset by repayments of borrowings under a previous loan agreement of $1.6 million.
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Contractual Obligations
The following table reflects a summary of our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2012.

Contractual Obligations(1)

Total

Operating lease obligations(2)
Long-term debt obligations(3)
Inventory purchase obligations(4)
Total
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

$ 7,295
13,993
2,604
$23,892

Payments due by period
Less than
1 Year
1-3 Years
3-5 Years
(In thousands)

$ 2,009
3,009
2,604
$ 7,622

$ 3,950
10,984
—
$14,934

$ 1,336
—
—
$ 1,336

More than
5 Years

$

$

—
—
—
—

Excludes royalty obligations based on net sales of products, including royalties payable to the Institute for Systems Biology, as any such amounts are
not currently determinable.
Operating lease costs are primarily for office, laboratory and manufacturing space at our headquarters.
Includes principal and interest on long-term debt obligations.
Purchase obligations consist of contractual and legally binding commitments under outstanding purchase orders to purchase long lead time inventory
items

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Estimates
Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based upon our financial statements which have been prepared in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities, revenue and expenses at the date
of the financial statements. Generally, we base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions in accordance with GAAP that we
believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
Critical accounting policies and estimates are those that we consider the most important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of
operations because they require our most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a result of the need to make estimates about the effect of matters
that are inherently uncertain. Our critical accounting policies and estimates include those related to:
•

revenue recognition;

•

stock-based compensation;

•

inventory valuation;

•

fair value measurements; and

•

income taxes.

Revenue Recognition
We generate revenue from sales of our products and services. Our products consist of our proprietary nCounter Analysis Systems and related
consumables. Services consist of extended service contracts and service fees for assay processing.
Revenue is recognized when all of the following criteria are met: (1) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred or services
have been rendered; (3) the price to the customer is fixed or determinable; and (4) collectability is reasonably assured. The evaluation of these revenue
recognition criteria requires significant management judgment. For instance, we use judgment to assess collectability based on factors such as the customer’s
creditworthiness and past collection history, if applicable. If we determine that collection of a payment is not reasonably assured, revenue recognition is
deferred until receipt of payment. We also use judgment to assess whether a price is fixed or determinable including but not limited to, reviewing contractual
terms and conditions related to payment terms.
Systems product revenue is recognized upon installation and calibration in geographic regions where such services are only available from our
specialized technicians. In these regions, systems and related installation and calibration are considered to be one unit of accounting, as systems are required
to be professionally installed and calibrated before use. In certain geographic regions, installation and calibration services are available from other vendors,
and in such regions they are considered separate revenue elements. Consumables are considered to be separate units of accounting as they are sold separately.
Consumables product revenue is recognized upon shipment.
Some of our sales arrangements involve the delivery or performance of multiple products or services. Significant interpretation is sometimes required to
determine the appropriate accounting, including whether the deliverables specified in a multiple element arrangement should be treated as separate units of
accounting for revenue recognition purposes, and, if so, how the related sales price
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should be allocated among the elements, when to recognize revenue for each element, and the period over which revenue should be recognized. Revenue
recognition for arrangements with multiple deliverables is based on the individual units of accounting determined to exist in the arrangement. A delivered
element is considered a separate unit of accounting when the delivered element has value to the customer on a stand-alone basis. Elements are considered to
have stand-alone value when they are sold separately or when the customer could resell the element on a stand-alone basis.
For multiple-element arrangements, we allocate arrangement consideration at the inception of the arrangement to the deliverables based on the relative
selling price method. The selling price used for each deliverable is based on vendor-specific objective evidence, or VSOE, if available, third-party evidence,
or TPE, if VSOE is not available, or best estimated selling price, or BESP, if neither VSOE nor TPE is available. BESP is determined in a manner consistent
with that used to establish the price to sell the deliverable on a stand-alone basis. To date, selling prices have been established by reference to VSOE based on
stand-alone sales transactions for each deliverable. VSOE is considered to have been established when a substantial majority of individual sales transactions
within the previous 12 month period fall within a reasonably narrow range, which we have defined to be plus or minus 15% of the median sales price of
actual stand-alone sales transactions. Allocated revenue is only recognized for each deliverable when the revenue recognition criteria have been met.
Revenue from the sales of our products that are not part of multiple element arrangements is recognized when no significant obligations remain
undelivered and collection of the receivables is reasonably assured, which is generally when delivery has occurred.
Accruals for estimated warranty expenses are made at the time that the associated revenue is recognized. We use judgment to estimate these accruals
and, if we were to experience an increase in warranty claims or if costs of servicing our products under warranty were greater than our estimates, our cost of
revenue could be adversely affected in future periods.
Revenue from the sales of our services is recognized when no significant obligations remain undelivered and collection of the receivables is
reasonably assured, which is generally when delivery has occurred. We offer extended service contracts on our nCounter Analysis Systems for periods
ranging from 12 to 36 months after the end of the standard 12-month warranty period. Revenue from extended service contracts is deferred and recognized in
income on a straight-line basis over the contract period.
Stock-based Compensation
For those periods covered by this report, we granted stock options at exercise prices believed to be equal to the fair value of the common stock
underlying such options as determined by the board of directors, with input from management, on the date of grant. Because such grants occurred prior to the
public trading of our common stock, the board of directors exercised significant judgment in determining the fair market value of our common stock. The
valuations were consistent with the guidance and methods outlined in the AICPA Practice Aid Valuation of Privately-Held-Company Equity Securities
Issued as Compensation, or AICPA Practice Aid, for all option grant dates.
We account for stock-based compensation at fair value. Stock-based compensation costs are recognized based on their grant date fair value estimated
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. Stock-based compensation expense recognized in the statement of operations is based on options ultimately
expected to vest and has been reduced by an estimated forfeiture rate based on our historical and expected forfeiture patterns. We use the straight-line method
of allocating compensation cost over the requisite service period of the related award.
Determining the fair value of stock-based awards at the grant date under the Black-Scholes option pricing model requires judgment, including
estimating the value per share of our common stock, risk-free interest rate, expected term and dividend yield and volatility. The assumptions used in
calculating the fair value of stock-based awards represent our best estimates based on management judgment and subjective future expectations. These
estimates involve inherent uncertainties. If any of the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model significantly change, stock-based
compensation for future awards may differ materially from the awards granted previously.
The expected term of options granted is based on historical experience of similar awards and expectations of future employee behavior. The risk-free
interest rate for the expected term of the option is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. We have not paid and do not anticipate
paying cash dividends on our common stock; therefore, the expected dividend yield is assumed to be zero. We based our estimate of volatility on the
estimated volatility of similar companies whose share prices are publicly available.
Inventory Valuation
Inventory consists of raw materials, certain component parts to be used in manufacturing our products and finished goods. Inventory is stated at the
lower of cost or market. Cost is determined using a standard cost system, whereby the standard costs are updated periodically to reflect current costs and
market represents the lower of replacement cost or estimated net realizable value. We record adjustments to inventory for potentially excess, obsolete, slowmoving or impaired items. The business environment in which we operate is subject to rapid changes in technology and customer demand. We regularly
review inventory for excess and obsolete products and components, taking into account product life cycle and development plans, product expiration and
quality issues, historical experience and our current inventory levels. If actual market conditions are less favorable than anticipated, additional inventory
adjustments could be required.
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Fair Value Measurements
We record preferred stock warrant liability at fair value. We establish fair value using the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a financial liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. A fair value hierarchy is used to measure fair value. The
three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:
Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active; and
model-derived valuations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are observable in active markets.
Level 3 — Valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more significant inputs or significant value drivers are unobservable.
Whenever possible, we use observable market data and rely on unobservable inputs only when observable market data are not available. Preferred
stock warrant liability is categorized as Level 3 because it was valued based on unobservable inputs and our judgment due to the absence of quoted market
prices, inherent lack of liquidity and the long-term nature of such financial instruments. We perform a fair value assessment of the preferred stock warrant
inputs on a quarterly basis using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model are inherently
subjective and involve significant judgment. Changes in our judgments could have a material impact on our results of operations and financial position. Any
change in fair value is recognized as a component of other income (expense) on the statements of operations.
Income Taxes
We use the liability method of accounting for income taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences
attributable to the differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when such assets and liabilities are recovered or settled. The effect on
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in the year that includes the enactment date. We determine deferred tax assets
including net operating losses and liabilities, based on temporary differences between the book and tax bases of assets and liabilities. We believe that it is
currently more likely than not that our deferred tax assets will not be realized, and as such, a full valuation allowance is required.
We utilize a two-step approach for evaluating uncertain tax positions. Step one, recognition, requires us to determine if the weight of available
evidence indicates that a tax position is more likely than not to be sustained upon audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any.
If a tax position is not considered “more likely than not” to be sustained, no benefits of the position are recognized. If we determine that a position is “more
likely than not” to be sustained, then we proceed to step two, measurement, which is based on the largest amount of benefit which is more likely than not to
be realized on effective settlement. This process involves estimating our actual current tax exposure, including assessing the risks associated with tax audits,
together with assessing temporary differences resulting from the different treatment of items for tax and financial reporting purposes. If actual results differ
from our estimates, our net operating loss and credit carryforwards could be materially impacted.
At December 31, 2012, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, of approximately $62.2 million and federal research and
experimentation credit carryforwards of approximately $1.0 million, which may be used to reduce future taxable income or offset income taxes due. These
NOLs and credit carryforwards expire beginning in 2023 through 2032.
Our realization of the benefits of the NOLs and credit carryforwards is dependent on sufficient taxable income in future fiscal years. We have
established a valuation allowance against the carrying value of our deferred tax assets, as it is not currently more likely than not that we will be able to realize
these deferred tax assets. In addition, utilization of NOLs and credits to offset future income subject to taxes may be subject to substantial annual limitations
due to the “change in ownership” provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, or the Code, and similar state provisions. We may have already
experienced one or more ownership changes. Depending on the timing of any future utilization of our carryforwards, we may be limited as to the amount that
can be utilized each year as a result of such previous ownership changes. However, we do not believe such limitations will cause our NOL and credit
carryforwards to expire unutilized. We are in the process of determining whether this offering would constitute an ownership change resulting in further
limitations on our ability to use our net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. If an ownership change is deemed to have occurred as a result of this
offering, potential near term utilization of these assets could be reduced.
We do not anticipate that the amount of our existing unrecognized tax benefits will significantly increase or decrease within the next 12 months. Due
to the presence of NOLs in most jurisdictions, our tax years remain open for examination by taxing authorities back to the inception of the company.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
We have reviewed recent accounting pronouncements and concluded that they are either not applicable to our business or that no material effect is
expected on the consolidated financial statements as a result of future adoption.
As an “emerging growth company” the JOBS Act allows us to delay adoption of new or revised accounting pronouncements applicable to public
companies until such pronouncements are made applicable to private companies. As a result, our financial statements may not be comparable to the financial
statements of issuers who are required to comply with the effective dates for new or revised accounting standards that are applicable to public companies.
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Item 3.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to various market risks, including changes in interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates. Market risk is the potential loss arising
from adverse changes in market rates and prices. Prices for our products are largely denominated in U.S. dollars and, as a result, we do not face significant risk
with respect to foreign currency exchange rates.
Interest Rate Risk
The principal market risk we face is interest rate risk. We had cash and cash equivalents of $10.8 million as of June 30, 2013, which consisted of
highly-liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less. The goals of our investment policy are liquidity and capital preservation; we do
not enter into investments for trading or speculative purposes. We believe that we do not have any material exposure to changes in the fair value of these
assets as a result of changes in interest rates due to the short term nature of our cash and cash equivalents. Declines in interest rates, however, would reduce
future investment income. A 1% decline in interest rates, occurring on July 1, 2013 and sustained throughout the period ended June 30, 2014, would not be
material.
As of June 30, 2013, the principal and accrued interest outstanding under our term borrowings was $18.1 million. The interest rates on our term
borrowings under our credit facility are fixed. If overall interest rates had increased by 10% during the periods presented, our interest expense would not have
been affected.
Foreign Currency Exchange Risk
As we expand internationally our results of operations and cash flows will become increasingly subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. Historically, a majority of our revenue has been denominated in U.S. dollars, although we sell our products and services in local
currency outside of the United States, principally the Euro. Our expenses are generally denominated in the currencies in which our operations are located,
which is primarily in the United States. The effect of a 10% adverse change in exchange rates on foreign denominated cash, receivables and payables would
not have been material for the periods presented. As our operations in countries outside of the United States grow, our results of operations and cash flows
will be subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which could harm our business in the future. To date, we have not entered
into any material foreign currency hedging contracts although we may do so in the future.
Inflation Risk
We do not believe that inflation has had a material effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. If our costs were to become
subject to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset such higher costs through price increases. Our inability or failure to do so
could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Item 4.

Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial
Officer, have evaluated our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended) prior to the filing of this quarterly report. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer have concluded
that, as of the end of the period covered by this quarterly report, our disclosure controls and procedures were, in design and operation, effective.
(b) Changes in internal control over financial reporting. There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter
ended June 30, 2013 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Inherent limitation on the effectiveness of internal control.
The effectiveness of any system of internal control over financial reporting, including ours, is subject to inherent limitations, including the exercise of
judgment in designing, implementing, operating, and evaluating the controls and procedures, and the inability to eliminate misconduct completely.
Accordingly, any system of internal control over financial reporting, including ours, no matter how well designed and operated, can only provide reasonable,
not absolute assurances. In addition, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. We intend to continue to
monitor and upgrade our internal controls as necessary or appropriate for our business, but cannot assure you that such improvements will be sufficient to
provide us with effective internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1.

Legal Proceedings

On November 6, 2012, Fluidigm Corporation filed a complaint against us in the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California, Civil Action
No. C-12-5712. The complaint alleges false advertising in violation of the Lanham Act, unfair competition, and unlawful trade practices, and seeks
injunctive relief and damages in relation to a marketing campaign based on a comparative study of our nCounter Single Cell Assay with Fluidigm’s BioMark
system. We filed our answer on January 4, 2013. On April 22, 2013, Fluidigm filed an amended complaint referencing additional NanoString marketing
materials that Fluidigm alleges to contain false comparative statements. Our answer to the amended complaint was filed on May 9, 2013. Trial is scheduled to
commence on March 24, 2014. We believe that Fluidigm’s amended complaint is without merit and intend to vigorously defend ourselves.
On April 5, 2013, Fluidigm Corporation and its subsidiary Fluidigm Singapore Pte Ltd, filed a complaint against us in the High Court of Singapore,
Case No. S 282/2013, alleging substantially the same advertising claims as were asserted in the U.S. case in addition to a separate claim for trademark
infringement. Although, as of the date of this report, we have not been served with the complaint in this case, we may be served at any time.
Item 1A.

Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the following risk factors, in addition to the other information contained in this report, including the section of this
report captioned “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and our financial statements and related notes.
If any of the events described in the following risk factors and the risks described elsewhere in this report occurs, our business, operating results and financial
condition could be seriously harmed. This report on Form 10-Q also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Our actual
results could differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements as a result of factors that are described below and elsewhere in this
report.
Risks Related to our Business and Strategy
We have incurred losses since we were formed and expect to incur losses in the future. We cannot be certain that we will achieve or sustain profitability.
We have incurred losses since we were formed and expect to incur losses in the future. We incurred net losses of $12.8 million and $7.2 million for the
six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, respectively. As of June 30, 2013, we had an accumulated deficit of $110.3 million. We expect that our losses will
continue for at least the next several years as we will be required to invest significant additional funds toward development and commercialization of our
technology. We also expect that our selling, general and administrative expenses will continue to increase due to the additional costs associated with
establishing a dedicated oncology diagnostics sales force and the increased administrative costs associated with being a public company. Our ability to
achieve or sustain profitability is based on numerous factors, many of which are beyond our control, including the market acceptance of our products, future
product development and our market penetration and margins. We may never be able to generate sufficient revenue to achieve or sustain profitability.
Our financial results may vary significantly from quarter to quarter which may adversely affect our stock price.
Investors should consider our business and prospects in light of the risks and difficulties we expect to encounter in the new, uncertain and rapidly
evolving markets in which we compete. Because these markets are new and evolving, predicting their future growth and size is difficult. We expect that our
visibility into future sales of our products, including volumes, prices and product mix between instruments and consumables, will continue to be limited and
could result in unexpected fluctuations in our quarterly and annual operating results.
Numerous other factors, many of which are outside our control, may cause or contribute to significant fluctuations in our quarterly and annual
operating results. These fluctuations may make financial planning and forecasting difficult. In addition, these fluctuations may result in unanticipated
decreases in our available cash, which could negatively affect our business and prospects. Factors that may contribute to fluctuations in our operating results
include many of the risks described in this section. In addition, one or more of such factors may cause our revenue or operating expenses in one period to be
disproportionately higher or lower relative to the others. Our products involve a significant capital commitment by our customers and accordingly involve a
lengthy sales cycle. We may expend significant effort in attempting to make a particular sale, which may be deferred by the customer or never occur.
Accordingly, comparing our operating results on a period-to-period basis may not be meaningful, and investors should not rely on our past results as an
indication of our future performance. If such fluctuations occur or if our operating results deviate from our expectations or the expectations of securities
analysts, our stock price may be adversely affected.
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If we do not achieve, sustain or successfully manage our anticipated growth, our business and growth prospects will be harmed.
We have experienced significant revenue growth in a short period of time. We may not achieve similar growth rates in future periods. Investors should
not rely on our operating results for any prior periods as an indication of our future operating performance. If we are unable to maintain adequate revenue
growth, our financial results could suffer and our stock price could decline. Furthermore, growth will place significant strains on our management and our
operational and financial systems and processes. For example, commercialization of the Prosigna Breast Cancer Assay, or Prosigna, in Europe and
development and commercialization of this test and other diagnostic products worldwide are key elements of our growth strategy and will require us to hire
and retain additional sales and marketing, regulatory, manufacturing and quality assurance personnel. If we do not successfully forecast the timing of
regulatory clearance or approval for product marketing and subsequent demand for our diagnostic products or manage our anticipated expenses accordingly,
our operating results will be harmed.
Our future success is dependent upon our ability to expand our customer base and introduce new applications.
Our current customer base is primarily composed of academic institutions, government laboratories and biopharmaceutical companies that perform
analyses using our nCounter Analysis System for research use only. Our success will depend, in part, upon our ability to increase our market penetration
among these customers and to expand our market by developing and marketing new life sciences applications, developing a lower cost instrument that would
be attractive to more researchers, and introducing diagnostic products into clinical laboratories after obtaining regulatory authorization. For example, we
must convince physicians and third-party payors that our diagnostic products, such as Prosigna, are cost effective in obtaining prognostic information that
can inform treatment decisions and that our nCounter Analysis System could enable an equivalent or superior approach that lessens reliance on centralized
laboratories. Furthermore, we expect that increasing the installed base of our nCounter Analysis Systems will drive demand for our relatively high margin
consumable products. If we are not able to successfully increase our installed base of nCounter Analysis Systems, sales of our consumable products and our
margins may not meet expectations. Attracting new customers and introducing new applications requires substantial time and expense. Any failure to expand
our existing customer base, or launch new applications, would adversely affect our ability to improve our operating results.
Our life sciences research business depends on levels of research and development spending by academic and governmental research institutions and
biopharmaceutical companies, a reduction in which could limit demand for our products and adversely affect our business and operating results.
In the near term, we expect that our revenue will be derived primarily from sales of our nCounter Analysis Systems to academic institutions,
governmental laboratories and biopharmaceutical companies worldwide for research applications. The demand for our products will depend in part upon the
research and development budgets of these customers, which are impacted by factors beyond our control, such as:
•

changes in government programs that provide funding to research institutions and companies;

•

macroeconomic conditions and the political climate;

•

changes in the regulatory environment;

•

differences in budgetary cycles;

•

market-driven pressures to consolidate operations and reduce costs; and

•

market acceptance of relatively new technologies, such as ours.

For example, in the United States, automatic across-the-board cuts in government spending, or “sequestration,” took effect on March 1, 2013. These
cuts will impact the budgets of government agencies, such as the National Institutes of Health, which provide significant funding for cancer research and
other diseases, however, as of the date of this report the full impact of the cuts is unknown. We believe that the uncertainty regarding the availability of
research funding, including the potential impact of sequestration, has adversely affected our historical operating results and any continuing uncertainty may
adversely affect sales to customers or potential customers that rely on government funding. In addition, academic, governmental and other research
institutions that fund research and development activities may be subject to stringent budgetary constraints that could result in spending reductions, reduced
allocations or budget cutbacks, which could jeopardize the ability of these customers to purchase our products.
Our operating results may fluctuate substantially due to reductions and delays in research and development expenditures by these customers. Any
decrease in our customers’ budgets or expenditures, or in the size, scope or frequency of capital or operating expenditures, could materially and adversely
affect our business, operating results and financial condition.
Our sales cycle is lengthy and variable, which makes it difficult for us to forecast revenue and other operating results.
Our sales process involves numerous interactions with multiple individuals within an organization, and often includes in-depth analysis by potential
customers of our products, performance of proof-of-principle studies, preparation of extensive documentation and a lengthy review process. As a result of
these factors, the large capital investment required in purchasing our instruments and the budget cycles of our customers, the time from initial contact with a
customer to our receipt of a purchase order can vary significantly and be up to 12 months or longer. Given the length and uncertainty of our sales cycle, we
have in the past experienced, and likely will in the future experience, fluctuations in our instrument sales on a period-to-period basis. In addition, any failure
to meet customer expectations could result in customers choosing to retain their existing systems or to purchase systems other than ours.
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Our reliance on distributors for sales of our life sciences systems outside of the United States could limit or prevent us from selling our diagnostic tests in
foreign markets and impact our revenue.
We have established exclusive distribution agreements for our nCounter Analysis System in the life sciences research market within parts of Europe,
the Middle East, Asia Pacific and South America. We intend to continue to grow our business internationally, and to do so we must attract additional
distributors to maximize the commercial opportunity for our products. There is no guarantee, if we do seek to enter into such arrangements, that we will be
successful in attracting desirable sales and distribution partners or that we will be able to enter into such arrangements on favorable terms. Distributors may
not commit the necessary resources to market and sell our products to the level of our expectations or may choose to favor marketing the products of our
competitors. If current or future distributors do not perform adequately, or we are unable to enter into effective arrangements with distributors in particular
geographic areas, we may not realize long-term international revenue growth.
If we do not obtain regulatory clearance or approval to market our products for diagnostic purposes, we will be limited to marketing our products for
research use only. In addition, if regulatory limitations are placed on our diagnostic products our business and growth will be harmed.
We have obtained a CE mark for our first diagnostic product, Prosigna, which permits us to market that assay for diagnostic purposes in Europe, and we
intend to seek regulatory authorization in other countries outside of the United States. In Europe, Prosigna can be used to provide a subtype classification
based on the fundamental biology of an individual’s breast tumor, as well as a prognostic score that indicates the probability of cancer recurrence over 10
years. In February 2013, we commercially launched Prosigna in Europe and Israel, but we do not have regulatory clearance or approval to market any other
product for diagnostic purposes or to market Prosigna for diagnostic purposes in any other market. Other than with respect to Prosigna in such jurisdictions,
we are limited to marketing our products for research use only, which means that we cannot make any diagnostic or clinical claims. We intend to seek
regulatory authorizations in other jurisdictions to market Prosigna for diagnostic purposes; however, we cannot assure investors that we will be successful in
doing so. In December 2012, we submitted an application, known as a 510(k), to the FDA seeking clearance in the United States for a version of Prosigna
providing an assessment of a patient’s risk of recurrence for breast cancer and have had a number of subsequent communications; however, we cannot
guarantee that we will obtain clearance. For example, even though the results of our clinical studies that used samples from the Arimidex, Tamoxifen, Alone
or in Combination (“ATAC”) study and the Austrian Breast & Colorectal Cancer Study Group 8 (“ABCSG8”) study were favorable, there is no guarantee that
any future studies will be successful or that the FDA will provide clearance of Prosigna based on the studies we have completed. If the FDA requires
additional studies, we may be required to expend considerable resources to conduct them, which would greatly increase our costs, divert resources away from
other programs and halt or delay the path to commercialization. If we do not obtain such clearance, we will be limited to marketing our products for research
use only within the United States. In addition, even if we obtain clearance for Prosigna, the prognostic information ultimately reported could be limited. For
example, if we do obtain clearance from the FDA to market Prosigna in the United States, the test may be limited to classifying patients into categories
according to the risk of recurrence of breast cancer, such as high/intermediate/low risk or high/low risk. If Prosigna is not cleared by the FDA to indicate a
specific risk score or if Prosigna is limited to classifying node-negative patients into high or low risk groups only, the prognostic information provided by
Prosigna and our ability to differentiate our test from alternatives may be adversely affected in the United States. Similarly, if we do not obtain regulatory
clearance or approval of future products or future indications for diagnostic purposes, for instance approval to allow for reporting of the subtype classification
based on the fundamental biology of an individual’s breast cancer, if unexpected regulatory limitations are placed on our products or if we fail to
successfully commercialize such products, the market potential for our diagnostic products would be constrained, and our business and growth prospects
would be adversely affected.
If Prosigna fails to achieve and sustain sufficient market acceptance, we will not generate expected revenue, and our prospects may be harmed.
Currently, most oncologists seeking sophisticated gene expression analysis for diagnosing and profiling breast cancer in their patients ship tissue
samples to a limited number of centralized laboratories typically located in the United States. We may experience reluctance, or refusal, on the part of
physicians to order, and third-party payors to pay for, Prosigna if the results of our research and clinical studies, and our sales and marketing activities
relating to communication of these results, do not convey to physicians, third-party payors and patients that Prosigna provides equivalent or better
prognostic information.
In Europe, Prosigna may be used for intrinsic subtyping of breast cancer and in the future we intend to seek approval from the FDA for such use.
Intrinsic subtyping will be a new methodology in categorizing breast cancer patients, and we may have to overcome resistance among physicians to adopting
it for the marketing of our products to be successful. Even if we are able to obtain regulatory approval from the FDA, the use of intrinsic subtyping and thus
Prosigna may not be included in breast cancer treatment guidelines. In addition, breast cancer treatment guidelines recommend that chemotherapy be
considered in many cases, in combination with other patient factors. Accordingly, physicians may be reluctant to order a test, such as Prosigna, that may
suggest recommending against chemotherapy. Furthermore, our diagnostic tests would be performed by pathologists in local laboratories, rather than by a
vendor in a remote centralized laboratory, which will require us to educate pathologists regarding the benefits of this business model.
These hurdles may make it difficult to convince health care providers that tests using our technologies are appropriate options for cancer diagnostics,
may be equivalent or superior to available tests, and may be at least as cost effective as alternative technologies, and thus we may encounter significant
difficulty in broadening market acceptance of Prosigna.
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As part of our current business model, we will seek to enter into strategic collaborations and licensing arrangements with third parties to develop
diagnostic tests.
We have relied, and expect to continue to rely, on strategic collaborations and licensing agreements with third parties for discoveries based on which
we develop diagnostic tests. For example, we licensed the rights to intellectual property that forms the basis of Prosigna from Bioclassifier, LLC, which was
founded by several of our life sciences research customers engaged in translational research. In addition, in February 2013, we secured an option from The
Broad Institute, a leading non-profit molecular medicine institute in Cambridge, Massachusetts, to acquire an exclusive worldwide license for a gene
signature that could be used, after appropriate regulatory authorization, for a second molecular diagnostic product focused on hepatocellular carcinoma, or
HCC. We intend to enter into more such arrangements with our life sciences customers and other researchers for future diagnostic products. However, there is
no assurance that we will be successful in doing so. In particular, our life sciences research customers are not obligated to collaborate with us or license
technology to us, and they may choose to develop diagnostic products themselves or collaborate with our competitors. Establishing collaborations and
licensing arrangements is difficult and time-consuming. Discussions may not lead to collaborations or licenses on favorable terms, if at all. To the extent we
agree to work exclusively with a party in a given area, our opportunities to collaborate with others could be limited. Potential collaborators or licensors may
elect not to work with us based upon their assessment of our financial, regulatory or intellectual property position. Even if we establish new relationships,
they may never result in the successful development or commercialization of future tests.
New diagnostic product development involves a lengthy and complex process, and we may be unable to commercialize on a timely basis, or at all, any of
the tests we develop.
Few research and development projects result in successful commercial products, and success in early clinical studies often is not replicated in later
studies. For example, even though the results of our clinical studies that used samples from the ATAC study and ABCSG8 study of postmenopausal women
with HR+ early stage breast cancer were favorable, there is no guarantee that the FDA will provide clearance of Prosigna based on the studies we have
completed, that any future studies will be successful, or that if the FDA provides clearance, the prognostic information that may be reported will differentiate
our test from alternatives in the United States. At any point, we may abandon development of a product candidate or we may be required to expend
considerable resources repeating clinical studies, which would adversely impact potential revenue and our expenses. In addition, any delay in product
development would provide others with additional time to commercialize competing products before we do, which in turn may adversely affect our growth
prospects and operating results.
Our future capital needs are uncertain and we may need to raise additional funds in the future.
We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents, including the funds we raised in our initial public offering, will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated cash requirements for at least the next 12 months. However, we may need to raise substantial additional capital to:
•

expand the commercialization of our products;

•

fund our operations; and

•

further our research and development.

Our future funding requirements will depend on many factors, including:
•

market acceptance of our products;

•

the cost and timing of establishing additional sales, marketing and distribution capabilities;

•

the cost of our research and development activities;

•

the cost and timing of regulatory clearances or approvals;

•

the effect of competing technological and market developments; and

•

the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products and technologies, although we currently have no commitments or agreements
relating to any of these types of transactions.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to obtain additional funds on acceptable terms, or at all. If we raise additional funds by issuing equity or
equity-linked securities, our stockholders may experience dilution. Debt financing, if available, may involve covenants restricting our operations or our
ability to incur additional debt. Any debt or additional equity financing that we raise may contain terms that are not favorable to us or our stockholders. If we
raise additional funds through collaboration and licensing arrangements with third parties, it may be necessary to relinquish some rights to our technologies
or our products, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to us. If we are unable to raise adequate funds, we may have to liquidate some or all of our
assets, or delay, reduce the scope of or eliminate some or all of our development programs.
If we do not have, or are not able to obtain, sufficient funds, we may have to delay development or commercialization of our products or license to third
parties the rights to commercialize products or technologies that we would otherwise seek to commercialize. We also may have to reduce marketing, customer
support or other resources devoted to our products or cease operations. Any of these factors could harm our operating results
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Our research and development efforts will be hindered if we are not able to contract with third parties for access to archival tissue samples.
Under standard clinical practice, tumor biopsies removed from patients are preserved and stored in formalin-fixed paraffin embedded, or FFPE, format.
We rely on our ability to secure access to these archived FFPE tumor biopsy samples, as well as information pertaining to the clinical outcomes of the
patients from which they were derived for our clinical development activities. Others compete with us for access to these samples. Additionally, the process of
negotiating access to archived samples is lengthy because it typically involves numerous parties and approval levels to resolve complex issues such as usage
rights, institutional review board approval, privacy rights, publication rights, intellectual property ownership and research parameters. If we are not able to
negotiate access to archived tumor tissue samples with hospitals, clinical partners, pharmaceutical companies, or companies developing therapeutics on a
timely basis, or at all, or if other laboratories or our competitors secure access to these samples before us, our ability to research, develop and commercialize
future products will be limited or delayed.
The life sciences research and diagnostic markets are highly competitive. If we fail to compete effectively, our business and operating results will suffer.
We face significant competition in the life sciences research and diagnostics markets. We currently compete with both established and early stage life
sciences research companies that design, manufacture and market instruments and consumables for gene expression analysis, single-cell analysis, polymerase
chain reaction, or PCR, digital PCR, other nucleic acid detection and additional applications. These companies use well established laboratory techniques
such as microarrays or quantitative PCR, or qPCR, as well as newer technologies such as next generation sequencing. We believe our principal competitors in
the life sciences research market are Affymetrix, Agilent Technologies, Bio-Rad, Exiqon, Fluidigm, High Throughput Genomics, Illumina, Life Technologies,
Luminex, Perkin Elmer, Qiagen and Roche Applied Science. In addition, there are a number of new market entrants in the process of developing novel
technologies for the life sciences market, including companies such as RainDance Technologies and Wafergen Bio-Systems.
We will also compete with commercial diagnostics companies. We believe our principal competitor in the breast cancer diagnostics market will be
Genomic Health, which provides gene expression analysis at its central laboratory in Redwood City, California and currently commands a substantial
majority of the market. We also expect to face competition from companies such as Agendia, Clarient (a GE Healthcare company), Genoptix (a division of
Novartis) and bioMeriéux, which also offer services by means of centralized laboratories that profile gene or protein expression in breast cancer. In Europe,
we will also face regional competition from smaller companies such as Sividon Diagnostics, maker of EndoPredict, a distributed test for breast cancer
recurrence, and other independent laboratories.
Most of our current competitors are either publicly traded, or are divisions of publicly-traded companies, and enjoy a number of competitive
advantages over us, including:
•

greater name and brand recognition, financial and human resources;

•

broader product lines;

•

larger sales forces and more established distributor networks;

•

substantial intellectual property portfolios;

•

larger and more established customer bases and relationships; and

•

better established, larger scale, and lower cost manufacturing capabilities.

We believe that the principal competitive factors in all of our target markets include:
•

cost of capital equipment;

•

cost of consumables and supplies;

•

reputation among customers;

•

innovation in product offerings;

•

flexibility and ease-of-use;

•

accuracy and reproducibility of results; and

•

compatibility with existing laboratory processes, tools and methods.

We believe that additional competitive factors specific to the diagnostics market include:
•

breadth of clinical decisions that can be influenced by information generated by tests;

•

volume, quality, and strength of clinical and analytical validation data;

•

availability of reimbursement for testing services; and

•

economic benefit accrued to customers based on testing services enabled by products.
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We cannot assure investors that our products will compete favorably or that we will be successful in the face of increasing competition from new
products and technologies introduced by our existing competitors or new companies entering our markets. In addition, we cannot assure investors that our
competitors do not have or will not develop products or technologies that currently or in the future will enable them to produce competitive products with
greater capabilities or at lower costs than ours. Any failure to compete effectively could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and
operating results.
We have limited experience in marketing and selling our products, and if we are unable to successfully commercialize our products, our business may be
adversely affected.
We have limited experience marketing and selling our products. Our nCounter Analysis System was introduced for sale in the life sciences research
market in 2008, and was introduced for sale in the diagnostics market in Europe and Israel in connection with the February 2013 commercial launch of
Prosigna in those markets. We sell our products through our own sales force in North America and through a combination of our own sales force and
distributors in Europe, Middle East, Asia Pacific and South America. In the future, we intend to establish distributor relationships in other parts of the world;
however, we may not be able to market and sell our products effectively.
Our future sales of diagnostic products will depend in large part on our ability to successfully establish an oncology diagnostics sales force and to
increase the scope of our marketing efforts. Because we have no experience in marketing and selling our products in the diagnostics market, our ability to
forecast demand, the infrastructure required to support such demand and the sales cycle to diagnostics customers is unproven. If we do not build an efficient
and effective sales force targeting this market, our business and operating results will be adversely affected.
We may not be able to develop new products or enhance the capabilities of our systems to keep pace with rapidly changing technology and customer
requirements, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.
Our success depends on our ability to develop new products and applications for our technology in existing and new markets, while improving the
performance and cost-effectiveness of our systems. New technologies, techniques or products could emerge that might offer better combinations of price and
performance than our current or future products and systems. Existing markets for our products, including gene expression analysis, single-cell analysis and
copy number variation, as well as potential markets for our diagnostic product candidates, are characterized by rapid technological change and innovation. It
is critical to our success that we anticipate changes in technology and customer requirements and to successfully introduce new, enhanced and competitive
technologies to meet our customers’ and prospective customers’ needs on a timely and cost-effective basis. At the same time, however, we must carefully
manage the introduction by us of new products. If customers believe that such products will offer enhanced features or be sold for a more attractive price, they
may delay purchases until such products are available. We may also have excess or obsolete inventory of older products as we transition to new products and
our experience in managing product transitions is very limited. If we do not successfully innovate and introduce new technology into our product lines or
manage the transitions to new product offerings, our revenues, results of operations and business will be adversely impacted.
Competitors may be able to respond more quickly and effectively than we can to new or changing opportunities, technologies, standards or customer
requirements. We anticipate that we will face increased competition in the future as existing companies and competitors develop new or improved products
and as new companies enter the market with new technologies.
New market opportunities may not develop as quickly as we expect, limiting our ability to successfully market and sell our products.
The market for our products is new and evolving. Accordingly, we expect the application of our technologies to emerging opportunities will take
several years to develop and mature and we cannot be certain that these market opportunities will develop as we expect. For example, in July 2013, we
launched nCounter Elements, a new digital molecular barcoding chemistry that allows users to design their own customized assays using standard sets of
barcodes provided by us, and in September 2012, we launched a single cell gene expression application for our nCounter Analysis System, which applies our
technology to, amongst other things, improve single cell analytic workflow for gene expression analysis. The future growth of the market for these products
depends on many factors beyond our control, including recognition and acceptance of our applications by the scientific community and the growth,
prevalence and costs of competing methods of genomic analysis. If the markets for nCounter Elements, single cell analysis or others do not develop as we
expect, our business may be adversely affected. In addition, we commercially launched Prosigna in Europe and Israel in February 2013 and we intend to offer
Prosigna in other countries outside of the United States. Genomic testing for breast cancer is not widely available outside of the United States and the market
for such tests is new. The future growth of the market for genomic breast cancer testing will depend on physicians’ acceptance of such testing and the
availability of reimbursement for such tests. Our success in these new markets will depend to a large extent on our ability to successfully market, sell and
establish reimbursement for products using our technologies. If we are not able to successfully market and sell our products or to achieve the revenue or
margins we expect, our operating results may be harmed and we may not recover our product development and marketing expenditures.
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We are dependent on single source suppliers for some of the components and materials used in our products, and the loss of any of these suppliers could
harm our business.
We rely on Precision System Science, Co., Ltd of Chiba, Japan, to build our nCounter Prep Station and Korvis LLC of Corvallis, Oregon, to build our
nCounter Digital Analyzer. Each of these contract manufacturers are sole suppliers. Since our contracts with these instrument suppliers do not commit them to
carry inventory or make available any particular quantities, they may give other customers’ needs higher priority than ours, and we may not be able to obtain
adequate supplies in a timely manner or on commercially reasonable terms. We also rely on sole suppliers for various components we use to manufacture our
consumable products. We periodically forecast our needs for such components and enter into standard purchase orders with them. If we were to lose such
suppliers, there can be no assurance that we will be able to identify or enter into agreements with alternative suppliers on a timely basis on acceptable terms,
if at all. If we should encounter delays or difficulties in securing the quality and quantity of materials we require for our products our supply chain would be
interrupted which would adversely affect sales. If any of these events occur, our business and operating results could be harmed.
We may experience manufacturing problems or delays that could limit our growth or adversely affect our operating results
Our consumable products are manufactured at our Seattle facility using complex processes, sophisticated equipment and strict adherence to
specifications and quality systems procedures. Any unforeseen manufacturing problems, such as contamination of our facility, equipment malfunction, or
failure to strictly follow procedures or meet specifications, could result in delays or shortfalls in production of our consumable products. Identifying and
resolving the cause of any such manufacturing issues could require substantial time and resources. If we are unable to keep up with demand for our products
by successfully manufacturing and shipping our products in a timely manner, our revenue could be impaired, market acceptance for our products could be
adversely affected and our customers might instead purchase our competitors’ products.
In addition, the introduction of new products may require the development of new manufacturing processes and procedures for that type of product.
While all of our codesets are produced using the same basic processes, significant variations may be required to meet product specifications. Developing such
a process can be very time consuming, and any unexpected difficulty in doing so could delay the introduction of a product.
If our Seattle facility becomes unavailable or inoperable, we will be unable to continue manufacturing our consumables or process sales orders, and
our business will be harmed.
We manufacture our consumable products in our facility in Seattle, Washington. In addition, our Seattle facility is the center for order processing,
receipt of our prep station and digital analyzer manufactured by third-party contract manufacturers and shipping products to customers. Our facility and the
equipment we use to manufacture our consumable products would be costly, and would require substantial lead time, to repair or replace. Seattle is situated
near active earthquake fault lines. The facility may be harmed or rendered inoperable by natural or man-made disasters, including earthquakes and power
outages, which may render it difficult or impossible for us to produce our tests for some period of time. The inability to manufacture consumables or to ship
products to customers for even a short period of time may result in the loss of customers or harm our reputation, and we may be unable to regain those
customers in the future. Although we possess insurance for damage to our property and the disruption of our business, this insurance may not be sufficient to
cover all of our potential losses and may not continue to be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all.
We expect to generate a substantial portion of our revenue internationally and are subject to various risks relating to our international activities which
could adversely affect our operating results.
During the six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012, approximately 25% and 32%, respectively, of our revenue was generated from sales to customers
located outside of North America. We believe that a significant percentage of our future revenue will come from international sources as we expand our
overseas operations and develop opportunities in additional areas. Engaging in international business involves a number of difficulties and risks, including:
•

required compliance with existing and changing foreign regulatory requirements and laws;

•

required compliance with anti-bribery laws, such as the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and U.K. Bribery Act, data privacy requirements, labor
laws and anti-competition regulations;

•

export or import restrictions;

•

various reimbursement and insurance regimes;

•

laws and business practices favoring local companies;

•

longer payment cycles and difficulties in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through certain foreign legal systems;

•

political and economic instability;

•

potentially adverse tax consequences, tariffs, customs charges, bureaucratic requirements and other trade barriers;

•

difficulties and costs of staffing and managing foreign operations; and

•

difficulties protecting or procuring intellectual property rights.
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As we expand internationally our results of operations and cash flows will become increasingly subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign
currency exchange rates. Historically, most of our revenue has been denominated in U.S. dollars, although we have sold our products and services in local
currency outside of the United States, principally the Euro. Our expenses are generally denominated in the currencies in which our operations are located,
which is primarily in the United States. As our operations in countries outside of the United States grow, our results of operations and cash flows will be
subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates, which could harm our business in the future. For example, if the value of the U.S.
dollar increases relative to foreign currencies, in the absence of a corresponding change in local currency prices, our revenue could be adversely affected as
we convert revenue from local currencies to U.S. dollars.
If we dedicate significant resources to our international operations and are unable to manage these risks effectively, our business, operating results and
prospects will suffer.
The enactment of legislation implementing changes in the U.S. taxation of international business activities or the adoption of other tax reform policies
could materially impact our future financial position and results of operations.
Recent changes to U.S. tax laws, including limitations on the ability of taxpayers to claim and utilize foreign tax credits and the deferral of certain tax
deductions until earnings outside of the United States are repatriated to the United States, as well as changes to U.S. tax laws that may be enacted in the
future, could impact the tax treatment of future foreign earnings. Should the scale of our international business activities expand, any changes in the U.S.
taxation of such activities could increase our worldwide effective tax rate and harm our future financial position and results of operations.
Our ability to use net operating losses to offset future taxable income may be subject to certain limitations.
As of December 31, 2012, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards, or NOLs, to offset future taxable income of approximately $62.2 million,
which expire in various years beginning in 2023, if not utilized. A lack of future taxable income would adversely affect our ability to utilize these NOLs. In
addition, under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to limitations on its ability to
utilize its NOLs to offset future taxable income. We may have already experienced one or more ownership changes. Depending on the timing of any future
utilization of our carryforwards, we may be limited as to the amount that can be utilized each year as a result of such previous ownership changes. However,
we do not believe such limitations will cause our NOL and credit carryforwards to expire unutilized. In addition, future changes in our stock ownership,
including this or future offerings, as well as other changes that may be outside of our control, could result in additional ownership changes under Section 382
of the Internal Revenue Code. Our NOLs may also be impaired under similar provisions of state law. We have recorded a full valuation allowance related to
our NOLs and other deferred tax assets due to the uncertainty of the ultimate realization of the future benefits of those assets.
Provisions of our debt instruments may restrict our ability to pursue our business strategies.
Our credit facility requires us, and any debt instruments we may enter into in the future may require us, to comply with various covenants that limit our
ability to, among other things:
•

dispose of assets;

•

complete mergers or acquisitions;

•

incur indebtedness;

•

encumber assets;

•

pay dividends or make other distributions to holders of our capital stock;

•

make specified investments;

•

change certain key management personnel; and

•

engage in transactions with our affiliates.

These restrictions could inhibit our ability to pursue our business strategies. In addition, we are subject to a financial covenant based on life sciences
revenue. If we default under our credit facility, and such event of default was not cured or waived, the lenders could terminate commitments to lend and cause
all amounts outstanding with respect to the debt to be due and payable immediately, which in turn could result in cross defaults under other debt instruments.
Our assets and cash flow may not be sufficient to fully repay borrowings under all of our outstanding debt instruments if some or all of these instruments are
accelerated upon a default.
We may incur additional indebtedness in the future. The debt instruments governing such indebtedness could contain provisions that are as, or more,
restrictive than our existing debt instruments. If we are unable to repay, refinance or restructure our indebtedness when payment is due, the lenders could
proceed against the collateral granted to them to secure such indebtedness or force us into bankruptcy or liquidation.
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Acquisitions or joint ventures could disrupt our business, cause dilution to our stockholders and otherwise harm our business.
We may acquire other businesses, products or technologies as well as pursue strategic alliances, joint ventures, technology licenses or investments in
complementary businesses. We have not made any acquisitions to date, and our ability to do so successfully is unproven. Any of these transactions could be
material to our financial condition and operating results and expose us to many risks, including:
•

disruption in our relationships with customers, distributors or suppliers as a result of such a transaction;

•

unanticipated liabilities related to acquired companies;

•

difficulties integrating acquired personnel, technologies and operations into our existing business;

•

diversion of management time and focus from operating our business to acquisition integration challenges;

•

increases in our expenses and reductions in our cash available for operations and other uses; and

•

possible write-offs or impairment charges relating to acquired businesses.

Foreign acquisitions involve unique risks in addition to those mentioned above, including those related to integration of operations across different
cultures and languages, currency risks and the particular economic, political and regulatory risks associated with specific countries.
Also, the anticipated benefit of any acquisition may not materialize. Future acquisitions or dispositions could result in potentially dilutive issuances of our
equity securities, the incurrence of debt, contingent liabilities or amortization expenses or write-offs of goodwill, any of which could harm our financial
condition. We cannot predict the number, timing or size of future joint ventures or acquisitions, or the effect that any such transactions might have on our
operating results.
If we are unable to recruit, train and retain key personnel, we may not achieve our goals.
Our future success depends on our ability to recruit, train, retain and motivate key personnel, including our senior management, research and
development, manufacturing and sales and marketing personnel. Competition for qualified personnel is intense, particularly in the Seattle, Washington area.
Our growth depends, in particular, on attracting, retaining and motivating highly-trained sales personnel with the necessary scientific background and ability
to understand our systems at a technical level to effectively identify and sell to potential new customers. In particular, the commercial launch of Prosigna
requires us to establish a dedicated oncology diagnostics sales force to fully optimize the breast cancer diagnostic market opportunity. We do not maintain
fixed term employment contracts or key man life insurance with any of our employees. Because of the complex and technical nature of our products and the
dynamic market in which we compete, any failure to attract, train, retain and motivate qualified personnel could materially harm our operating results and
growth prospects.
Undetected errors or defects in our products could harm our reputation, decrease market acceptance of our products or expose us to product liability
claims.
Our products may contain undetected errors or defects when first introduced or as new versions are released. Since our current customers use our
products for research and may, if cleared or approved, in the future use them for diagnostic applications, disruptions or other performance problems with our
products may damage our customers’ business and could harm our reputation. If that occurs, we may incur significant costs, the attention of our key personnel
could be diverted, or other significant customer relations problems may arise. We may also be subject to warranty and liability claims for damages related to
errors or defects in our products. A material liability claim or other occurrence that harms our reputation or decreases market acceptance of our products could
harm our business and operating results.
The sale and use of products or services based on our technologies, or activities related to our research and clinical studies, could lead to the filing of
product liability claims if someone were to allege that one of our products contained a design or manufacturing defect which resulted in the failure to
adequately perform the analysis for which it was designed. A product liability claim could result in substantial damages and be costly and time consuming to
defend, either of which could materially harm our business or financial condition. We cannot assure investors that our product liability insurance would
adequately protect our assets from the financial impact of defending a product liability claim. Any product liability claim brought against us, with or without
merit, could increase our product liability insurance rates or prevent us from securing insurance coverage in the future.
We face risks related to handling of hazardous materials and other regulations governing environmental safety.
Our operations are subject to complex and stringent environmental, health, safety and other governmental laws and regulations that both public
officials and private individuals may seek to enforce. Our activities that are subject to these regulations include, among other things, our use of hazardous
materials and the generation, transportation and storage of waste. We could discover that we or an acquired business is not in material compliance with these
regulations. Existing laws and regulations may also be revised or reinterpreted, or new laws and regulations may become applicable to us, whether
retroactively or prospectively, that may have a negative effect on our business and results of operations. It is also impossible to eliminate completely the risk
of accidental environmental contamination or injury to individuals. In such an event, we could be liable for any damages that result, which could adversely
affect our business.
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Risks Related to Government Regulation and Diagnostic Product Reimbursement
Our “research use only” products for the life sciences market could become subject to regulation as medical devices by the FDA or other regulatory
agencies in the future which could increase our costs and delay our commercialization efforts, thereby materially and adversely affecting our life sciences
business and results of operations.
In the United States, most of our products are currently labeled and sold for research use only, or RUO, and not for the diagnosis or treatment of disease,
and are sold to pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academic institutions and life sciences laboratories. Because such products are not intended
for use in clinical practice in diagnostics, and the products cannot include clinical or diagnostic claims, they are not subject to regulation by the FDA as
medical devices. In particular, while the FDA regulations require that RUO products be labeled, “For Research Use Only. Not for use in diagnostic
procedures,” the regulations do not subject such products to the FDA’s pre- and post- market controls for medical devices. However, in June 2011, the FDA
issued a draft guidance document that, if finalized as drafted, could restrict the provision of our RUO products, and it is unclear whether the FDA will issue a
final guidance and if so what the contents of the guidance will be. If in the future the FDA modifies its approach to regulating our products labeled for
research use only, it could reduce our revenue or increase our costs and adversely affect our business, prospects, results of operations or financial condition. In
the event that the FDA requires marketing authorization of our RUO products in the future, there can be no assurance that the FDA will ultimately grant any
clearance or approval requested by us in a timely manner, or at all.
Our general purpose reagents may be used by clinical laboratories to create laboratory developed tests, or LDTs, which could in the future be subject to
regulation as medical devices, which could materially and adversely affect our life sciences business and results of operations.
Recently, we launched nCounter Elements, a new digital molecular barcoding chemistry that allows users to design their own customized assays using
standard sets of barcodes provided by us with the laboratories’ choice of oligonucleotide probes. nCounter Elements are considered general purpose reagents,
or GPRs, by the FDA, that are class I medical devices, and we recently listed nCounter Elements with the FDA as GPRs.
A clinical laboratory can use nCounter Elements to create what is called a laboratory developed test, or LDT. LDTs are diagnostic tests that are
developed and performed by a laboratory and include genetic tests, tests for rare conditions and companion diagnostics. In June 2013, the Commissioner of
the FDA stated that the FDA intends to further regulate LDTs; however, it is unclear whether, when and to what extent the FDA will do so. Restrictions on
LDTs by the FDA could restrict the demand for our products, including nCounter Elements. Additionally, compliance with additional regulatory burdens
could be time consuming and costly. If the FDA regulates LDTs, such regulation could adversely affect our prospects, results of operations and financial
condition.
Approval and/or clearance by the FDA and foreign regulatory authorities for our diagnostic tests will take significant time and require significant
research, development and clinical study expenditures and ultimately may not succeed.
Before we begin to label and market our products for use as clinical diagnostics in the United States, thereby subjecting them to FDA regulation as
medical devices, unless an exemption applies, we would be required to obtain either prior 510(k) clearance or prior pre-market approval, or PMA, from the
FDA. In December 2012, we submitted an application, known as a 510(k), to the FDA seeking clearance in the United States for a version of Prosigna and
have had a number of subsequent communications with the FDA. Based on pre-submission interactions with the FDA and the FDA’s written response to our
510(k) submission, we expect Agendia’s MammaPrint to serve as the legally marketed predicate that, if Prosigna is cleared, would enable us to market a
version of Prosigna in the United States to assess a patient’s risk of recurrence for breast cancer. In the FDA’s written response to our 510(k) submission, the
FDA communicated, among other things, that we would need to provide further support before the FDA could determine whether the pending 510(k)
application, if cleared, would allow us to include a risk score and three distinct risk groups in patient reports for all patients tested. If Prosigna is not cleared
by the FDA to include a specific risk score or if Prosigna is limited to classifying node-negative patients into high or low risk groups only, the prognostic
information provided by Prosigna and our ability to differentiate our test from alternatives may be adversely affected in the United States. As with all in vitro
diagnostic products, the FDA reserves the right to redefine the regulatory path at the time of submission or during the review process, and could require a
more burdensome approach, including a PMA. In the future we plan to submit a separate application for approval of Prosigna to report intrinsic subtype, and
we expect that this application will require a PMA supported by additional clinical studies. We intend to pursue additional intended uses for Prosigna, which
may require more burdensome regulatory processes than the 510(k) clearance process, including PMAs. Even if granted, a 510(k) clearance or PMA approval
for any future product would likely place substantial restrictions on how our device is marketed or sold, and the FDA will continue to place considerable
restrictions on our products, including, but not limited to, quality system regulations, or QSR, registering manufacturing facilities, listing the products with
the FDA, and complying with labeling, marketing, complaint handling, adverse event and medical device reporting requirements and corrections and
removals. Obtaining FDA clearance or approval for diagnostics can be expensive and uncertain, and generally takes from several months to several years, and
generally requires detailed and comprehensive scientific and clinical data. Notwithstanding the expense, these efforts may never result in FDA approval or
clearance. Even if we were to obtain regulatory approval or clearance, it may not be for the uses we believe are important or commercially attractive, in which
case we would not be permitted to market our product for those uses.
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Sales of our diagnostic products outside the United States will be subject to foreign regulatory requirements governing clinical studies, vigilance
reporting, marketing approval, manufacturing, product licensing, pricing and reimbursement. These regulatory requirements vary greatly from country to
country. As a result, the time required to obtain approvals outside the United States may differ from that required to obtain FDA approval and we may not be
able to obtain foreign regulatory approvals on a timely basis or at all. Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other
countries, and approval by one foreign regulatory authority does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries or by the FDA and foreign
regulatory authorities could require additional testing. In addition, FDA regulates exports of medical devices. Failure to comply with these regulatory
requirements or obtain required approvals could impair our ability to commercialize our diagnostic products outside of the United States.
We expect to rely on third parties to conduct any future studies of our diagnostic products that may be required by the FDA or other regulatory authorities,
and those third parties may not perform satisfactorily.
We do not have the ability to independently conduct the clinical studies or other studies that may be required to obtain FDA and other regulatory
clearance or approval for our diagnostic products, including Prosigna. Accordingly, we expect to rely on third parties, such as medical institutions and
clinical investigators, to conduct such studies. Our reliance on these third parties for clinical development activities will reduce our control over these
activities. These third-party contractors may not complete activities on schedule or conduct studies in accordance with regulatory requirements or our study
design. Our reliance on third parties that we do not control will not relieve us of any applicable requirement to prepare, and ensure compliance with, various
procedures required under good clinical practices. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or regulatory obligations or meet
expected deadlines, if the third parties need to be replaced or if the quality or accuracy of the data they obtain is compromised due to their failure to adhere to
our clinical protocols or regulatory requirements or for other reasons, our studies may be extended, delayed, suspended or terminated, and we may not be able
to obtain regulatory approval for our diagnostic products.
Even if we are able to obtain regulatory approval or clearance for our diagnostic products, we will continue to be subject to ongoing and extensive
regulatory requirements, and our failure to comply with these requirements could substantially harm our business.
If we receive regulatory approval or clearance for our diagnostic products, we will be subject to ongoing FDA obligations and continued regulatory
oversight and review, such as compliance with QSRs, inspections by the FDA, continued adverse event and malfunction reporting, corrections and removals
reporting, registration and listing, and promotional restrictions, and we may also be subject to additional FDA post-marketing obligations. If we are not able
to maintain regulatory compliance, we may not be permitted to market our diagnostic products and/or may be subject to fines, injunctions, and civil
penalties; recall or seizure of products; operating restrictions; and criminal prosecution. In addition, we may be subject to similar regulatory regimes of
foreign jurisdictions.
If Medicare and other third-party payors in the United States and foreign countries do not approve reimbursement for diagnostic tests enabled by our
technology, the commercial success of our diagnostic products would be compromised.
Successful commercialization of our diagnostic products depends, in large part, on the availability of adequate reimbursement for testing services that
our diagnostic products enable from government insurance plans, managed care organizations and private insurance plans. There is significant uncertainty
surrounding third-party reimbursement for the use of tests that incorporate new technology, such as Prosigna. If we are unable to obtain positive policy
decisions from third-party payors approving reimbursement for our tests at adequate levels, the commercial success of our products would be compromised
and our revenue would be significantly limited. Even if we do obtain reimbursement for our tests, Medicare, Medicaid and private and other payors may
withdraw their coverage policies, cancel their contracts with us at any time, review and adjust the rate of reimbursement, require co-payments from patients or
stop paying for our tests, which would reduce revenue for testing services based on our technology, and indirectly, demand for diagnostic products. In
addition, insurers, including managed care organizations as well as government payors such as Medicare and Medicaid, have increased their efforts to control
the cost, utilization and delivery of healthcare services, which may include decreased coverage or reduced reimbursement. From time to time, Congress has
considered and implemented changes to the Medicare fee schedules in conjunction with budgetary legislation, and pricing and payment terms, including the
possible requirement of a patient co-payment for Medicare beneficiaries for tests covered by Medicare, and are subject to change at any time. Reductions in
the reimbursement rate of third-party payors have occurred and may occur in the future. Reductions in the prices at which testing services based on our
technology are reimbursed could have a negative impact on our revenue.
In many countries outside of the United States, various coverage, pricing and reimbursement approvals are required. We expect that it will take several
years to establish broad coverage and reimbursement for testing services based on our products with payors in countries outside of the United States, and our
efforts may not be successful.
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We may be subject, directly or indirectly, to federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws and other federal and state laws applicable to our
marketing practices. If we are unable to comply, or have not complied, with such laws, we could face substantial penalties.
If we obtain FDA approval or clearance for any of our diagnostic product candidates and begin commercializing those products in the United States,
our operations will be directly, or indirectly through our customers, subject to various federal and state fraud and abuse laws, including, without limitation,
the federal and state anti-kickback statutes and state and federal marketing compliance laws. These laws may impact, among other things, our proposed sales
and marketing and education programs. In addition, we may be subject to patient privacy regulation by both the federal government and the states in which
we conduct our business. The laws that may affect our ability to operate include:
•

the federal Anti-kickback Law and state anti-kickback prohibitions;

•

the federal physician self-referral prohibition, commonly known as the Stark Law, and the state equivalents;

•

the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, as amended;

•

the Medicare civil money penalty and exclusion requirements; and

•

the federal False Claims Act civil and criminal penalties and state equivalents.

If our operations are found to be in violation of any of the laws described above or any other governmental regulations that apply to us, we may be
subject to penalties, including civil and criminal penalties, damages, fines and the curtailment or restructuring of our operations, any of which could
adversely affect our ability to operate our business and our results of operations.
Healthcare policy changes, including recently enacted legislation reforming the United States healthcare system, may have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition and results of operations.
The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Affordability Reconciliation Act, collectively, the
PPACA, enacted in March 2010, makes changes that are expected to significantly impact the pharmaceutical and medical device industries and clinical
laboratories. Beginning in 2013, each medical device manufacturer will have to pay a sales tax in an amount equal to 2.3% of the price for which such
manufacturer sells its medical devices. We expect that the new tax may apply to some or all of our diagnostic products. The PPACA also mandates a
reduction in payments for clinical laboratory services paid under the Medicare Clinical Laboratory Fee Schedule of 1.75% for the years 2011 through 2015
and a productivity adjustment to the Clinical Laboratory Fee Schedule. These or any future proposed or mandated reductions in payments may apply to some
or all of the clinical laboratory tests that our diagnostics customers use our technology to deliver to Medicare beneficiaries, and may indirectly reduce
demand for our diagnostic products.
Other significant measures contained in the PPACA include coordination and promotion of research on comparative clinical effectiveness of different
technologies and procedures, initiatives to revise Medicare payment methodologies, such as bundling of payments across the continuum of care by providers
and physicians, and initiatives to promote quality indicators in payment methodologies. The PPACA also includes significant new fraud and abuse measures,
including required disclosures of financial arrangements with physician customers, lower thresholds for violations and increasing potential penalties for such
violations. In addition, the PPACA establishes an Independent Payment Advisory Board, or IPAB, to reduce the per capita rate of growth in Medicare
spending. The IPAB has broad discretion to propose policies to reduce health care expenditures, which may have a negative impact on payment rates for
services, including our tests. The IPAB proposals may impact payments for clinical laboratory services that our future diagnostics customers use our
technology to deliver beginning in 2016 and for hospital services beginning in 2020, and may indirectly reduce demand for our diagnostic products.
In addition to the PPACA, the effect of which cannot presently be quantified, various healthcare reform proposals have also emerged from federal and
state governments. Changes in healthcare policy, such as the creation of broad test utilization limits for diagnostic products in general or requirements that
Medicare patients pay for portions of clinical laboratory tests or services received, could substantially impact the sales of our tests, increase costs and divert
management’s attention from our business. Such co-payments by Medicare beneficiaries for laboratory services were discussed as possible cost savings for
the Medicare program as part of the debt ceiling budget discussions in mid-2011 and may be enacted in the future. In addition, sales of our tests outside of
the United States will subject us to foreign regulatory requirements, which may also change over time.
We cannot predict whether future healthcare initiatives will be implemented at the federal or state level or in countries outside of the United States in
which we may do business, or the effect any future legislation or regulation will have on us. The taxes imposed by the new federal legislation and the
expansion in government’s effect on the United States healthcare industry may result in decreased profits to us, lower reimbursements by payors for our
products or reduced medical procedure volumes, all of which may adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Risks Related to Intellectual Property
If we are unable to protect our intellectual property effectively, our business would be harmed.
We rely on patent protection as well as trademark, copyright, trade secret and other intellectual property rights protection and contractual restrictions
to protect our proprietary technologies, all of which provide limited protection and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep any
competitive advantage. As of July 25, 2013, we owned or exclusively licensed six issued U.S. patents and approximately 22 pending U.S. patent
applications, including provisional and non-provisional filings. We also owned or licensed approximately 66 pending and granted counterpart applications
worldwide, including 22 country-specific validations of three European patents. If we fail to protect our intellectual property, third parties may be able to
compete more effectively against us and we may incur substantial litigation costs in our attempts to recover or restrict use of our intellectual property.
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We cannot assure investors that any of our currently pending or future patent applications will result in issued patents, and we cannot predict how long
it will take for such patents to be issued. Further, we cannot assure investors that other parties will not challenge any patents issued to us or that courts or
regulatory agencies will hold our patents to be valid or enforceable. We cannot guarantee investors that we will be successful in defending challenges made
against our patents and patent applications. Any successful third-party challenge to our patents could result in the third party or the unenforceability or
invalidity of such patents.
The patent positions of life sciences companies can be highly uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions for which important legal
principles remain unresolved. No consistent policy regarding the breadth of claims allowed in such companies’ patents has emerged to date in the United
States. Furthermore, in the biotechnology field, courts frequently render opinions that may affect the patentability of certain inventions or discoveries,
including opinions that may affect the patentability of methods for analyzing or comparing DNA.
In particular, the patent positions of companies engaged in development and commercialization of genomic diagnostic tests, like Prosigna, are
particularly uncertain. Various courts, including the U.S. Supreme Court, have recently rendered decisions that impact the scope of patentability of certain
inventions or discoveries relating to genomic diagnostics. Specifically these decisions stand for the proposition that patent claims that recite laws of nature
(for example, the relationships between gene expression levels and the likelihood of risk of recurrence of cancer) are not themselves patentable unless those
patent claims have sufficient additional features that provide practical assurance that the processes are genuine inventive applications of those laws rather
than patent drafting efforts designed to monopolize the law of nature itself. What constitutes a “sufficient” additional feature is uncertain. Accordingly, this
evolving case law in the United States may adversely impact our ability to obtain new patents and may facilitate third-party challenges to our existing owned
and licensed patents. One of our main areas of intellectual property, namely patents we license directed to the use of gene expression markers as part of
genomic diagnostic tests, may be affected by these decisions.
The laws of some non-U.S. countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States, and many companies
have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending such rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly
certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to biotechnology,
which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in
substantial cost and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business.
Changes in either the patent laws or in interpretations of patent laws in the United States or other countries may diminish the value of our intellectual
property. We cannot predict the breadth of claims that may be allowed or enforced in our patents or in third-party patents. For example:
•

We might not have been the first to make the inventions covered by each of our pending patent applications.

•

We might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions.

•

Others may independently develop similar or alternative products and technologies or duplicate any of our products and technologies.

•

It is possible that not all of our pending patent applications will result in issued patents, and even if they issue as patents, they may not provide a
basis for commercially viable products, may not provide us with any competitive advantages, or may be challenged and invalidated by third
parties.

•

We may not develop additional proprietary products and technologies that are patentable.

•

The patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business.

•

We apply for patents covering our products and technologies and uses thereof, as we deem appropriate. However, we may fail to apply for patents
on important products and technologies in a timely fashion or at all.

In addition to pursuing patents on our technology, we take steps to protect our intellectual property and proprietary technology by entering into
confidentiality agreements and intellectual property assignment agreements with our employees, consultants, corporate partners and, when needed, our
advisors. Such agreements may not be enforceable or may not provide meaningful protection for our trade secrets or other proprietary information in the
event of unauthorized use or disclosure or other breaches of the agreements, and we may not be able to prevent such unauthorized disclosure. Monitoring
unauthorized disclosure is difficult, and we do not know whether the steps we have taken to prevent such disclosure are, or will be, adequate. If we were to
enforce a claim that a third party had illegally obtained and was using our trade secrets, it would be expensive and time consuming, and the outcome would
be unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United States may be less willing to protect trade secrets.
In addition, competitors could purchase our products and attempt to replicate some or all of the competitive advantages we derive from our
development efforts, willfully infringe our intellectual property rights, design around our protected technology or develop their own competitive
technologies that fall outside of our intellectual property rights. If our intellectual property is not adequately protected so as to protect our market against
competitors’ products and methods, our competitive position could be adversely affected, as could our business.
We have not yet registered certain of our trademarks, including “Prosigna,” in all of our potential markets. If we apply to register these trademarks, our
applications may not be allowed for registration, and our registered trademarks may not be maintained or enforced. In addition, opposition or cancellation
proceedings may be filed against our trademark applications and registrations, and our trademarks may not survive such proceedings. If we do not secure
registrations for our trademarks, we may encounter more difficulty in enforcing them against third parties than we otherwise would.
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To the extent our intellectual property, including licensed intellectual property, offers inadequate protection, or is found to be invalid or
unenforceable, we would be exposed to a greater risk of direct competition. If our intellectual property does not provide adequate protection against our
competitors’ products, our competitive position could be adversely affected, as could our business. Both the patent application process and the process of
managing patent disputes can be time consuming and expensive.
We depend on certain technologies that are licensed to us. We do not control these technologies and any loss of our rights to them could prevent us from
selling our products.
We rely on licenses in order to be able to use various proprietary technologies that are material to our business, including our core digital molecular
barcoding technology licensed from the Institute for Systems Biology and technology relating to Prosigna licensed from Bioclassifier, LLC. We do not own
the patents that underlie these licenses. Our rights to use these technologies and employ the inventions claimed in the licensed patents are subject to the
continuation of and compliance with the terms of those licenses.
In some cases, we do not control the prosecution, maintenance, or filing of the patents to which we hold licenses, or the enforcement of these patents
against third parties. Some of our patents and patent applications were either acquired from another company who acquired those patents and patent
applications from yet another company, or are licensed from a third party. Thus, these patents and patent applications are not written by us or our attorneys,
and we did not have control over the drafting and prosecution. The former patent owners and our licensors might not have given the same attention to the
drafting and prosecution of these patents and applications as we would have if we had been the owners of the patents and applications and had control over
the drafting and prosecution. We cannot be certain that drafting or prosecution of the licensed patents and patent applications by the licensors have been or
will be conducted in compliance with applicable laws and regulations or will result in valid and enforceable patents and other intellectual property rights.
Enforcement of our licensed patents or defense of any claims asserting the invalidity of these patents is often subject to the control or cooperation of
our licensors. Certain of our licenses contain provisions that allow the licensor to terminate the license upon specific conditions. Our rights under the licenses
are subject to our continued compliance with the terms of the license, including the payment of royalties due under the license. Because of the complexity of
our products and the patents we have licensed, determining the scope of the license and related royalty obligation can be difficult and can lead to disputes
between us and the licensor. An unfavorable resolution of such a dispute could lead to an increase in the royalties payable pursuant to the license or
termination of the license. If a licensor believed we were not paying the royalties due under the license or were otherwise not in compliance with the terms of
the license, the licensor might attempt to revoke the license. If such an attempt were successful, we might be barred from producing and selling some or all of
our products.
In addition, certain of the patents we have licensed relate to technology that was developed with U.S. government grants. Federal regulations impose
certain domestic manufacturing requirements with respect to some of our products embodying these patents.
We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents and proprietary rights, to determine the scope, coverage and validity of others’
proprietary rights, or to defend against third-party claims of intellectual property infringement, any of which could be time-intensive and costly and may
adversely impact our business or stock price.
We have received notices of claims of infringement and misappropriation or misuse of other parties’ proprietary rights in the past and may from time to
time receive additional notices. Some of these claims may lead to litigation. We cannot assure investors that we will prevail in such actions, or that other
actions alleging misappropriation or misuse by us of third-party trade secrets, infringement by us of third-party patents and trademarks or other rights, or the
validity of our patents, trademarks or other rights, will not be asserted or prosecuted against us.
Litigation may be necessary for us to enforce our patent and proprietary rights or to determine the scope, coverage and validity of the proprietary rights
of others. Litigation could result in substantial legal fees and could adversely affect the scope of our patent protection. The outcome of any litigation or other
proceeding is inherently uncertain and might not be favorable to us, and we might not be able to obtain licenses to technology that we require. Even if such
licenses are obtainable, they may not be available at a reasonable cost. We could therefore incur substantial costs related to royalty payments for licenses
obtained from third parties, which could negatively affect our gross margins. Further, we could encounter delays in product introductions, or interruptions in
product sales, as we develop alternative methods or products. In addition, if we resort to legal proceedings to enforce our intellectual property rights or to
determine the validity, scope and coverage of the intellectual property or other proprietary rights of others, the proceedings could be burdensome and
expensive, even if we were to prevail. Any litigation that may be necessary in the future could result in substantial costs and diversion of resources and could
have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or financial condition.
As we move into new markets and applications for our products, incumbent participants in such markets may assert their patents and other proprietary
rights against us as a means of slowing our entry into such markets or as a means to extract substantial license and royalty payments from us. Our competitors
and others may now and in the future have significantly larger and more mature patent portfolios than we currently have. In addition, future litigation may
involve patent holding companies or other adverse patent owners who have no relevant product revenue and against whom our own patents may provide
little or no deterrence or protection. Therefore, our commercial success may depend in part on our non-infringement of the patents or proprietary rights of
third parties. We are aware of a third party, Genomic Health, Inc., that has issued patents and pending patent applications in the United States, Europe and
other
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jurisdictions that claim methods of using certain genes that are included in Prosigna. We believe that Prosigna will not infringe any valid issued claim.
Numerous significant intellectual property issues have been litigated, and will likely continue to be litigated, between existing and new participants in our
existing and targeted markets and competitors may assert that our products infringe their intellectual property rights as part of a business strategy to impede
our successful entry into those markets. Third parties may assert that we are employing their proprietary technology without authorization. In addition, our
competitors and others may have patents or may in the future obtain patents and claim that use of our products infringes these patents. We could incur
substantial costs and divert the attention of our management and technical personnel in defending against any of these claims. Parties making claims against
us may be able to obtain injunctive or other relief, which could block our ability to develop, commercialize and sell products, and could result in the award
of substantial damages against us. In the event of a successful claim of infringement against us, we may be required to pay damages and obtain one or more
licenses from third parties, or be prohibited from selling certain products. We may not be able to obtain these licenses at a reasonable cost, if at all. We could
therefore incur substantial costs related to royalty payments for licenses obtained from third parties, which could negatively affect our gross margins. In
addition, we could encounter delays in product introductions while we attempt to develop alternative methods or products to avoid infringing third-party
patents or proprietary rights. Defense of any lawsuit or failure to obtain any of these licenses on favorable terms could prevent us from commercializing
products, and the prohibition of sale of any of our products could materially affect our ability to grow and gain market acceptance for our products.
Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our
confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation. In addition, during the course of this kind of litigation, there
could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or developments. If securities analysts or investors perceive
these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our common stock.
In addition, our agreements with some of our suppliers, distributors, customers and other entities with whom we do business require us to defend or
indemnify these parties to the extent they become involved in infringement claims against us, including the claims described above. We could also
voluntarily agree to defend or indemnify third parties in instances where we are not obligated to do so if we determine it would be important to our business
relationships. If we are required or agree to defend or indemnify any of these third parties in connection with any infringement claims, we could incur
significant costs and expenses that could adversely affect our business, operating results, or financial condition.
We may be subject to damages resulting from claims that we or our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of our employees’
former employers.
Many of our employees were previously employed at universities or other life sciences companies, including our competitors or potential competitors.
Although no claims against us are currently pending, we may be subject to claims that these employees or we have inadvertently or otherwise used or
disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of their former employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in
defending such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages, we may lose valuable intellectual property rights. A loss of key research personnel work
product could hamper or prevent our ability to commercialize certain potential products, which could severely harm our business. Even if we are successful in
defending against these claims, litigation could result in substantial costs and be a distraction to management.
Our products contain third-party open source software components, and failure to comply with the terms of the underlying open source software licenses
could restrict our ability to sell our products.
Our products contain software tools licensed by third-party authors under “open source” licenses. Use and distribution of open source software may
entail greater risks than use of third-party commercial software, as open source licensors generally do not provide warranties or other contractual protections
regarding infringement claims or the quality of the code. Some open source licenses contain requirements that we make available source code for
modifications or derivative works we create based upon the type of open source software we use. If we combine our proprietary software with open source
software in a certain manner, we could, under certain open source licenses, be required to release the source code of our proprietary software to the public.
This would allow our competitors to create similar products with less development effort and time and ultimately could result in a loss of product sales.
Although we monitor our use of open source software to avoid subjecting our products to conditions we do not intend, the terms of many open source
licenses have not been interpreted by U.S. courts, and there is a risk that these licenses could be construed in a way that could impose unanticipated
conditions or restrictions on our ability to commercialize our products. Moreover, we cannot assure investors that our processes for controlling our use of
open source software in our products will be effective. If we are held to have breached the terms of an open source software license, we could be required to
seek licenses from third parties to continue offering our products on terms that are not economically feasible, to re-engineer our products, to discontinue the
sale of our products if re-engineering could not be accomplished on a timely basis, or to make generally available, in source code form, our proprietary code,
any of which could adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.
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We use third-party software that may be difficult to replace or cause errors or failures of our products that could lead to lost customers or harm to our
reputation.
We use software licensed from third parties in our products. In the future, this software may not be available to us on commercially reasonable terms, or
at all. Any loss of the right to use any of this software could result in delays in the production of our products until equivalent technology is either developed
by us, or, if available, is identified, obtained and integrated, which could harm our business. In addition, any errors or defects in third-party software, or other
third-party software failures could result in errors, defects or cause our products to fail, which could harm our business and be costly to correct. Many of these
providers attempt to impose limitations on their liability for such errors, defects or failures, and if enforceable, we may have additional liability to our
customers or third-party providers that could harm our reputation and increase our operating costs.
We will need to maintain our relationships with third-party software providers and to obtain software from such providers that does not contain any errors or
defects. Any failure to do so could adversely impact our ability to deliver reliable products to our customers and could harm our results of operations.
Risks Related to Our Common Stock
We expect that our stock price will fluctuate significantly and investors may not be able to resell their shares at or above the initial public offering price.
The trading price of our common stock may be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which
are beyond our control. These factors include:
•

actual or anticipated quarterly variation in our results of operations or the results of our competitors;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of new products, significant contracts, commercial relationships or capital commitments;

•

failure to obtain or delays in obtaining product approvals or clearances from the FDA or foreign regulators;

•

adverse regulatory or reimbursement announcements;

•

issuance of new or changed securities analysts’ reports or recommendations for our stock;

•

developments or disputes concerning our intellectual property or other proprietary rights;

•

commencement of, or our involvement in, litigation;

•

market conditions in the life sciences research and molecular diagnostics markets;

•

manufacturing disruptions;

•

any future sales of our common stock or other securities;

•

any change to the composition of the board of directors or key personnel;

•

expiration of contractual lock-up agreements with our executive officers, directors and security holders;

•

announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;

•

general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of our markets; and

•

the other factors described in this section of the report captioned “Risk Factors.”

The stock market in general, and market prices for the securities of health technology companies like ours in particular, have from time to time
experienced volatility that often has been unrelated to the operating performance of the underlying companies. These broad market and industry fluctuations
may adversely affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our operating performance. In several recent situations where the market price of a
stock has been volatile, holders of that stock have instituted securities class action litigation against the company that issued the stock. If any of our
stockholders were to bring a lawsuit against us, the defense and disposition of the lawsuit could be costly and divert the time and attention of our
management and harm our operating results.
An active trading market for our common stock may not develop.
Until recently, there has been no public market for our common stock. Although our common stock is listed on The NASDAQ Global Market, an active
trading market for our shares may never develop or be sustained in the future. The lack of an active market may impair investors’ ability to sell their shares at
the time they wish to sell them or at a price that they consider reasonable, may reduce the fair market value of their shares and may impair our ability to raise
capital.
If securities or industry analysts do not publish research reports about our business, or if they issue an adverse opinion about our business, our stock price
and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will be influenced by the research and reports that industry or securities analysts publish about us or our
business. If one or more of the analysts who cover us issues an adverse opinion about our company, our stock price would likely decline. If one or more of
these analysts ceases coverage of us or fails to regularly publish reports on us, we could lose visibility in the financial markets, which in turn could cause our
stock price or trading volume to decline.
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Future sales of our common stock in the public market could cause our stock price to fall.
Our stock price could decline as a result of sales of a large number of shares of our common stock or the perception that these sales could occur. These
sales, or the possibility that these sales may occur, also might make it more difficult for us to sell equity securities in the future at a time and at a price that we
deem appropriate.
The resale of approximately 9.2 million shares, or 63% of our outstanding shares, are currently prohibited or otherwise restricted as a result of securities
law provisions, market standoff agreements entered into by our stockholders with us or lock-up agreements entered into by our stockholders with the
underwriters of our initial public offering; however, subject to applicable securities law restrictions, these shares will be able to be sold in the public market
beginning December 22, 2013. In addition, the shares subject to outstanding options and warrants, of which options and warrants to purchase 1,326,097
shares and 617,605 shares, respectively, were exercisable as of June 30, 2013, and the shares reserved for future issuance under our stock option and equity
incentive plans will become available for sale immediately upon the exercise of such options and the expiration of any applicable market stand-off or lockup agreements.
Holders of approximately 9.5 million shares (including the shares underlying outstanding warrants), or 65%, of our outstanding shares, will have rights,
subject to some conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering the sale of their shares or to include their shares in registration statements that
we may file for ourselves or other stockholders. We also intend to register the offer and sale of all shares of common stock that we may issue under our equity
compensation plans. Once we register the offer and sale of shares for the holders of registration rights and option holders, they can be freely sold in the public
market upon issuance, subject to any related lock-up agreements.
In addition, in the future, we may issue additional shares of common stock or other equity or debt securities convertible into common stock in
connection with a financing, acquisition, litigation settlement, employee arrangements or otherwise. Any such issuance could result in substantial dilution to
our existing stockholders and could cause our stock price to decline.
Our principal stockholders and management own a significant percentage of our stock and will be able to exercise significant influence over matters
subject to stockholder approval.
Our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders, together with their respective affiliates, beneficially owned approximately 59% of our
capital stock as of June 30, 2013. Accordingly, our executive officers, directors and principal stockholders will be able to determine the composition of the
board of directors, retain the voting power to approve all matters requiring stockholder approval, including mergers and other business combinations, and
continue to have significant influence over our operations. This concentration of ownership could have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in our
control or otherwise discouraging a potential acquirer from attempting to obtain control of us, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our stock
price and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove the board of directors or management.
Our management team has broad discretion to use the net proceeds from our initial public offering and its investment of these proceeds may not yield a
favorable return. We may invest the proceeds of our initial public offering in ways with which investors disagree.
We have broad discretion as to how to spend and invest the proceeds from our initial public offering and we may spend or invest these proceeds in a
way with which our stockholders disagree. Accordingly, investors will need to rely on our judgment with respect to the use of these proceeds and these uses
may not yield a favorable return to our stockholders. In addition, until the net proceeds are used, they may be placed in investments that do not produce
significant income or that may lose value.
Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents and under Delaware or Washington law could make an acquisition of us difficult, limit attempts by our
stockholders to replace or remove our current management and limit our stock price.
Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may delay or discourage transactions involving an actual or potential change in our control or
change in our management, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for their shares, or transactions that our
stockholders might otherwise deem to be in their best interests. Therefore, these provisions could adversely affect the price of our stock. Among other things,
the certificate of incorporation and bylaws will:
•

permit the board of directors to issue up to 15,000,000 shares of preferred stock, with any rights, preferences and privileges as they may
designate;

•

provide that the authorized number of directors may be changed only by resolution of the board of directors;

•

provide that all vacancies, including newly-created directorships, may, except as otherwise required by law, be filled by the affirmative vote of a
majority of directors then in office, even if less than a quorum;

•

divide the board of directors into three classes;

•

provide that a director may only be removed from the board of directors by the stockholders for cause;

•

require that any action to be taken by our stockholders must be effected at a duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders and may not
be taken by written consent;

•

provide that stockholders seeking to present proposals before a meeting of stockholders or to nominate candidates for election as directors at a
meeting of stockholders must provide notice in writing in a timely manner, and meet specific requirements as to the form and content of a
stockholder’s notice;
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•

prevent cumulative voting rights (therefore allowing the holders of a plurality of the shares of common stock entitled to vote in any election of
directors to elect all of the directors standing for election, if they should so choose);

•

provide that special meetings of our stockholders may be called only by the chairman of the board, our chief executive officer or by the board of
directors; and

•

provide that stockholders will be permitted to amend the bylaws only upon receiving at least two-thirds of the total votes entitled to be cast by
holders of all outstanding shares then entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class.

In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law,
which generally prohibits a Delaware corporation from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any “interested” stockholder for a
period of three years following the date on which the stockholder became an “interested” stockholder. Likewise, because our principal executive offices are
located in Washington, the anti-takeover provisions of the Washington Business Corporation Act may apply to us under certain circumstances now or in the
future. These provisions prohibit a “target corporation” from engaging in any of a broad range of business combinations with any stockholder constituting an
“acquiring person” for a period of five years following the date on which the stockholder became an “acquiring person.”
We are an “emerging growth company,” and any decision on our part to comply only with certain reduced reporting and disclosure requirements
applicable to emerging growth companies could make our common stock less attractive to investors.
We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups, or JOBS, Act enacted in April 2012, and, for as long as we
continue to be an “emerging growth company,” we may choose to take advantage of exemptions from various reporting requirements applicable to other
public companies but not to “emerging growth companies,” including, but not limited to, not being required to have our independent registered public
accounting firm audit our internal control over financial reporting under Section 404, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in
our periodic reports and proxy statements, and exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and
stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved. We could be an “emerging growth company” for up to five years following
the completion of our initial public offering, although, if we have more than $1.0 billion in annual revenue, if the market value of our common stock that is
held by non-affiliates exceeds $700 million as of June 30 of any year, or we issue more than $1.0 billion of non-convertible debt over a three-year period
before the end of that five-year period, we would cease to be an “emerging growth company” as of the following December 31. We cannot predict if investors
will find our common stock less attractive if we choose to rely on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result of any
choices to reduce future disclosure, there may be a less active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile.
As an “emerging growth company” the JOBS Act allows us to delay adoption of new or revised accounting pronouncements applicable to public
companies until such pronouncements are made applicable to private companies. We have elected to use this extended transition period under the JOBS Act.
As a result, our financial statements may not be comparable to the financial statements of issuers who are required to comply with the effective dates for new
or revised accounting standards that are applicable to public companies, which may make our common stock less attractive to investors.
Complying with the laws and regulations affecting public companies will increase our costs and the demands on management and could harm our
operating results.
As a public company, and particularly after we cease to be an “emerging growth company,” we will incur significant legal, accounting and other
expenses that we did not incur as a private company. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and rules subsequently implemented by the SEC and The NASDAQ
Global Market impose numerous requirements on public companies, including requiring changes in corporate governance practices. Also, the Exchange Act
requires, among other things, that we file annual, quarterly and current reports with respect to our business and operating results. Our management and other
personnel will need to devote a substantial amount of time to compliance with these laws and regulations. These requirements have increased and will
continue to increase our legal, accounting, and financial compliance costs and have made and will continue to make some activities more time consuming
and costly. For example, we expect these rules and regulations to make it more difficult and more expensive for us to obtain director and officer liability
insurance, and in the future we may be required to accept reduced policy limits and coverage or to incur substantial costs to maintain the same or similar
coverage. These rules and regulations could also make it more difficult for us to attract and retain qualified persons to serve on our board of directors or our
board committees or as executive officers.
The Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we assess the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting annually and the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures quarterly. In particular, beginning January 1, 2014, Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, or
Section 404, will require us to perform system and process evaluation and testing of our internal control over financial reporting to allow management to
report on, and our independent registered public accounting firm potentially to attest to, the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. As
an “emerging growth company,” we expect to avail ourselves of the exemption from the requirement that our independent registered public accounting firm
attest to the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting under Section 404. However, we may no longer avail ourselves of this exemption
when we cease to be an “emerging growth company.” When our independent registered public accounting firm is required to undertake an assessment of our
internal control over financial reporting, the cost of our compliance with Section 404 will
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correspondingly increase. Our compliance with applicable provisions of Section 404 will require that we incur substantial accounting expense and expend
significant management time on compliance-related issues as we implement additional corporate governance practices and comply with reporting
requirements. Moreover, if we are not able to comply with the requirements of Section 404 applicable to us in a timely manner, or if we or our independent
registered public accounting firm identifies deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting that are deemed to be material weaknesses, the market
price of our stock could decline and we could be subject to sanctions or investigations by the SEC or other regulatory authorities, which would require
additional financial and management resources.
Furthermore, investor perceptions of our company may suffer if deficiencies are found, and this could cause a decline in the market price of our stock.
Irrespective of compliance with Section 404, any failure of our internal control over financial reporting could have a material adverse effect on our stated
operating results and harm our reputation. If we are unable to implement these requirements effectively or efficiently, it could harm our operations, financial
reporting, or financial results and could result in an adverse opinion on our internal controls from our independent registered public accounting firm.
Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
(a) Sales of Unregistered Securities
From April 1, 2013 until June 30, 2013, we granted stock options under our 2004 Stock Option Plan to purchase 19,500 shares of our common stock to
certain of our employees an exercise price of $8.96 per share. In addition, from April 1, 2013 until June 30, 2013, we granted stock options under our 2013
Equity Incentive Plan to purchase 11,686 shares of our common stock to one of our directors at an exercise price of $10.00 per share. During such period we
issued an aggregate of 19,197 shares of common stock that were not registered under the Securities Act to our employees pursuant to the exercise of stock
options for cash consideration with aggregate exercise proceeds of approximately $45,000. These issuances were undertaken in reliance upon the exemption
from registration requirements available under Rule 701 of the Securities Act.
(b) Use of Proceeds from Public Offering of Common Stock
On June 25, 2013, our registration statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-189883) was declared effective for our initial public offering, and on July 1, 2013
we consummated the initial public offering consisting of 5,400,000 shares of our common stock for $10.00 per share. The underwriters of the offering were
J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, Morgan Stanley & Co. LLC, Leerink Swann LLC and Robert W. Baird & Co. Incorporated. Following the sale of the shares in
connection with the closing of the initial public offering, the offering terminated. As a result of the offering, we received total net proceeds of approximately
$46.8 million, after deducting total expenses of $7.2 million, consisting of underwriting discounts and commissions of $3.8 million and offering-related
expenses of approximately $3.4 million. No payments for such expenses were made directly or indirectly to (i) any of our officers or directors or their
associates, (ii) any persons owning 10% or more of any class of our equity securities, or (iii) any of our affiliates.
We intend to use the net proceeds from our initial public offering to: (1) commercialize Prosigna after obtaining regulatory authorization, including
establishing a dedicated oncology sales force; (2) expand the clinical utility of Prosigna and to develop other potential diagnostic product opportunities;
(3) expand life sciences commercial operations to grow and support the installed base of our nCounter Analysis Systems among life sciences research
customers in the United States and internationally; (4) develop new life sciences applications, chemistry and instrumentation for our nCounter technology
platform; and (5) for working capital and other general corporate purposes. We may also use a portion of the net proceeds to acquire, license and invest in
complementary products, technologies or businesses; however, we currently have no agreements or commitments to complete any such transaction. There has
been no material change in the planned use of proceeds from our initial public offering from that described in the final Prospectus filed with the SEC pursuant
to Rule 424(b)(4) on June 25, 2013.
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Item 6.

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Exhibits.
Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company

10.1

Third amendment to Loan and Security Agreement among the Company, Oxford Finance LLC and Silicon Valley Bank, dated July 22, 2013

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

32.1*

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350.

32.2*

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350.

101**

The following financial statements from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013, formatted in
XBRL: (i) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income (Loss), (iv) Consolidated Balance Sheets, and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of
text and including detailed tags.

*

**

The Certifications attached as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are not deemed filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of NanoString Technologies, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general
incorporation language contained in such filing.
Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Interactive Data Files in Exhibit 101 hereto are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or
prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are not subject to liability under those sections.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized.
NANOSTRING TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
Date: August 8, 2013

By: /s/ R. Bradley Gray
R. Bradley Gray
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: August 8, 2013

By: /s/ James A. Johnson
James A. Johnson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number

Description

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company

10.1

Third amendment to Loan and Security Agreement among the Company, Oxford Finance LLC and Silicon Valley Bank, dated July 22, 2013

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a).

32.1*

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350.

32.2*

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C Section 1350.

101**

The following financial statements from the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013, formatted in
XBRL: (i) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) Consolidated Statements of
Comprehensive Income (Loss), (iv) Consolidated Balance Sheets, and (v) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, tagged as blocks of
text and including detailed tags.

*

**

The Certifications attached as Exhibits 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are not deemed filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission and are not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of NanoString Technologies, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether made before or after the date of this Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general
incorporation language contained in such filing.
Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, the Interactive Data Files in Exhibit 101 hereto are deemed not filed or part of a registration statement or
prospectus for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, are deemed not filed for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and otherwise are not subject to liability under those sections.
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Exhibit 3.1
NANOSTRING TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION
NanoString Technologies, Inc., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (the “Corporation”), hereby certifies as
follows:
A. The original Certificate of Incorporation of this Corporation was originally filed with the Secretary of State of Delaware on June 20, 2003.
B. This Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation was duly adopted in accordance with Sections 242 and 245 of the General Corporation Law
of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”), and restates, integrates and further amends the provisions of the Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation, and has
been duly approved by the written consent of the stockholders of the Corporation in accordance with Section 228 of the DGCL.
C. The Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation is hereby amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:
ARTICLE I
The name of the Corporation is NanoString Technologies, Inc.
ARTICLE II
The address of the Corporation’s registered office in the State of Delaware is 160 Greentree Drive, Suite 101, in the City of Dover, County of Kent,
Delaware 19904. The name of its registered agent at such address is National Registered Agents, Inc.
ARTICLE III
The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the DGCL.
ARTICLE IV
The total number of shares of stock that the Corporation shall have authority to issue is One Hundred Sixty Five Million (165,000,000), consisting of
the following:
One Hundred Fifty Million (150,000,000) shares of Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share. Each share of Common Stock shall entitle the holder
thereof to one (1) vote on each matter submitted to a vote at a meeting of stockholders.
Fifteen Million 15,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value $0.0001 per share, which may be issued from time to time in one or more series pursuant
to a resolution or resolutions

providing for such issue duly adopted by the Board of Directors (authority to do so being hereby expressly vested in the Board of Directors). The Board of
Directors is further authorized, subject to limitations prescribed by law, to fix by resolution or resolutions the designations, powers, preferences and rights,
and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, of any wholly unissued series of Preferred Stock, including without limitation authority to fix by
resolution or resolutions the dividend rights, dividend rate, conversion rights, voting rights, rights and terms of redemption (including sinking fund
provisions), redemption price or prices, and liquidation preferences of any such series, and the number of shares constituting any such series and the
designation thereof, or any of the foregoing.
The Board of Directors is further authorized to increase (but not above the total number of authorized shares of the class) or decrease (but not below the
number of shares of any such series then outstanding) the number of shares of any series, the number of which was fixed by it, subsequent to the issuance of
shares of such series then outstanding, subject to the powers, preferences and rights, and the qualifications, limitations and restrictions thereof stated in the
Certificate of Incorporation or the resolution of the Board of Directors originally fixing the number of shares of such series. If the number of shares of any
series is so decreased, then the shares constituting such decrease shall resume the status which they had prior to the adoption of the resolution originally
fixing the number of shares of such series.
ARTICLE V
The number of directors that constitutes the entire Board of Directors of the Corporation shall be fixed by, or in the manner provided in, the Bylaws of
the Corporation. At each annual meeting of stockholders, directors of the Corporation shall be elected to hold office until the expiration of the term for which
they are elected and until their successors have been duly elected and qualified or until their earlier resignation or removal; except that if any such election
shall not be so held, such election shall take place at a stockholders’ meeting called and held in accordance with the DGCL.
Effective upon the effective date of the Corporation’s initial public offering (the “Effective Date”), the directors of the Corporation shall be divided
into three classes as nearly equal in size as is practicable, hereby designated Class I, Class II and Class III. The Board of Directors may assign members of the
Board of Directors already in office to such classes at the time such classification becomes effective. The term of office of the initial Class I directors shall
expire at the first regularly-scheduled annual meeting of the stockholders following the Effective Date, the term of office of the initial Class II directors shall
expire at the second annual meeting of the stockholders following the Effective Date and the term of office of the initial Class III directors shall expire at the
third annual meeting of the stockholders following the Effective Date. At each annual meeting of stockholders, commencing with the first regularlyscheduled annual meeting of stockholders following the Effective Date, each of the successors elected to replace the directors of a Class whose term shall
have expired at such annual meeting shall be elected to hold office until the third annual meeting next succeeding his or her election and until his or her
respective successor shall have been duly elected and qualified.
Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Article, each director shall serve until his or her successor is duly elected and qualified or until his or
her death, resignation, or removal. If the
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number of directors is hereafter changed, any newly created directorships or decrease in directorships shall be so apportioned among the classes as to make all
classes as nearly equal in number as is practicable, provided that no decrease in the number of directors constituting the Board of Directors shall shorten the
term of any incumbent director.
Any director may be removed from office by the stockholders of the Corporation only for cause. Vacancies occurring on the Board of Directors for any
reason and newly created directorships resulting from an increase in the authorized number of directors may be filled only by vote of a majority of the
remaining members of the Board of Directors, although less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director, at any meeting of the Board of Directors. A person
so elected by the Board of Directors to fill a vacancy or newly created directorship shall hold office until the next election of the class for which such director
shall have been chosen and until his or her successor shall be duly elected and qualified.
ARTICLE VI
In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred by statute, the Board of Directors of the Corporation is expressly authorized to adopt,
amend or repeal the Bylaws of the Corporation.
ARTICLE VII
Elections of directors need not be by written ballot unless the Bylaws of the Corporation shall so provide.
ARTICLE VIII
No action shall be taken by the stockholders of the Corporation except at an annual or special meeting of the stockholders called in accordance with
the Bylaws, and no action shall be taken by the stockholders by written consent.
ARTICLE IX
To the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, as it presently exists or may hereafter be amended from time to time, a director of the Corporation shall
not be personally liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director. If the DGCL is amended to
authorize corporate action further eliminating or limiting the personal liability of directors, then the liability of a director of the Corporation shall be
eliminated or limited to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, as so amended.
Neither any amendment nor repeal of this Article, nor the adoption of any provision of this Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with
this Article, shall eliminate or reduce the effect of this Article in respect of any matter occurring, or any cause of action, suit or proceeding accruing or arising
or that, but for this Article, would accrue or arise, prior to such amendment, repeal or adoption of an inconsistent provision.
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ARTICLE X
Subject to any provisions in the Bylaws of the Corporation related to indemnification of directors or officers of the Corporation, the Corporation shall
indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, any director or officer of the Corporation who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party
to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (a “Proceeding”) by reason of the
fact that he or she is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer,
employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, including service with respect to employee benefit plans,
against expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection
with any such Proceeding.
The Corporation shall have the power to indemnify, to the extent permitted by the DGCL, as it presently exists or may hereafter be amended from time
to time, any employee or agent of the Corporation who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any Proceeding by reason of the fact that he or
she is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the Corporation or is or was serving at the request of the Corporation as a director, officer, employee or
agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise, including service with respect to employee benefit plans, against expenses
(including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with any such
Proceeding.
Neither any amendment nor repeal of this Article X, nor the adoption of any provision of this Corporation’s Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent
with this Article X, shall eliminate or reduce the effect of this Article X in respect of any matter occurring, or any cause of action, suit or proceeding accruing
or arising or that, but for this Article X, would accrue or arise, prior to such amendment, repeal or adoption of an inconsistent provision.
ARTICLE XI
Except as provided in Article IX and Article X above, the Corporation reserves the right to amend, alter, change or repeal any provision contained in
this Certificate of Incorporation, in the manner now or hereafter prescribed by this Certificate of Incorporation and by statute, and all rights, preferences and
privileges herein conferred upon stockholders by and pursuant to this Certificate of Incorporation in its present form or as hereafter amended are granted
subject to the right reserved in this Article XI. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Certificate of Incorporation, and in addition to any other vote that
may be required by law or the terms of any series of Preferred Stock, the affirmative vote of the holders of at least two-thirds of the voting power of all then
outstanding shares of capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote generally in the election of directors, voting together as a single class, shall be required
to amend, alter or repeal, or adopt any provision as part of this Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with the purpose and intent of Article V, Article VI,
Article VIII or this Article XI (including, without limitation, any such Article as renumbered as a result of any amendment, alteration, change, repeal or
adoption of any other Article).
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, NanoString Technologies, Inc., has caused this Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation to be signed by the
President and Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation on this 1 st day of July 2013.
By: /s/ R. Bradley Gray
R. Bradley Gray
President and Chief Executive Officer
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AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF
NANOSTRING TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
(as amended and restated on April 23, 2013 and effective as of July 1, 2013)
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AMENDED AND RESTATED BYLAWS OF NANOSTRING TECHNOLOGIES, INC.

ARTICLE I — CORPORATE OFFICES
1.1

REGISTERED OFFICE

The registered office of NanoString Technologies, Inc. shall be fixed in the corporation’s certificate of incorporation. References in these bylaws to the
certificate of incorporation shall mean the certificate of incorporation of the corporation, as amended from time to time, including the terms of any certificate
of designations of any series of Preferred Stock.
1.2

OTHER OFFICES

The corporation’s board of directors may at any time establish other offices at any place or places where the corporation is qualified to do business.
ARTICLE II — MEETINGS OF STOCKHOLDERS
2.1

PLACE OF MEETINGS

Meetings of stockholders shall be held at any place, within or outside the State of Delaware, designated by the board of directors. The board of
directors may, in its sole discretion, determine that a meeting of stockholders shall not be held at any place, but may instead be held solely by means of
remote communication as authorized by Section 211(a)(2) of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”). In the absence of any such
designation or determination, stockholders’ meetings shall be held at the corporation’s principal executive office.
2.2

ANNUAL MEETING

The annual meeting of stockholders shall be held on such date, at such time, and at such place (if any) within or without the State of Delaware as shall
be designated from time to time by the board of directors and stated in the corporation’s notice of the meeting. At the annual meeting, directors shall be
elected and any other proper business may be transacted.
2.3

SPECIAL MEETING

(i) A special meeting of the stockholders, other than those required by statute, may be called at any time only by (A) the board of directors,
(B) the chairperson of the board of directors, (C) the chief executive officer or (D) the president (in the absence of a chief executive officer). A special meeting
of the stockholders may not be called by any other person or persons. The board of directors may cancel, postpone or reschedule any previously scheduled
special meeting at any time, before or after the notice for such meeting has been sent to the stockholders.

(ii) The notice of a special meeting shall include the purpose for which the meeting is called. Only such business shall be conducted at a special
meeting of stockholders as shall have been brought before the meeting by or at the direction of the board of directors, the chairperson of the board of
directors, the chief executive officer or the president (in the absence of a chief executive officer). Nothing contained in this Section 2.3(ii) shall be construed
as limiting, fixing or affecting the time when a meeting of stockholders called by action of the board of directors may be held.
2.4

ADVANCE NOTICE PROCEDURES

(i) Advance Notice of Stockholder Business. At an annual meeting of the stockholders, only such business shall be conducted as shall have been
properly brought before the meeting. To be properly brought before an annual meeting, business must be brought: (A) pursuant to the corporation’s proxy
materials with respect to such meeting, (B) by or at the direction of the board of directors, or (C) by a stockholder of the corporation who (1) is a stockholder
of record at the time of the giving of the notice required by this Section 2.4(i) and on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at
the annual meeting and (2) has timely complied in proper written form with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 2.4(i). In addition, for business to
be properly brought before an annual meeting by a stockholder, such business must be a proper matter for stockholder action pursuant to these bylaws and
applicable law. Except for proposals properly made in accordance with Rule 14a-8 under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, and the rules and
regulations thereunder (as so amended and inclusive of such rules and regulations), and included in the notice of meeting given by or at the direction of the
board of directors, for the avoidance of doubt, clause (C) above shall be the exclusive means for a stockholder to bring business before an annual meeting of
stockholders.
(a) To comply with clause (C) of Section 2.4(i) above, a stockholder’s notice must set forth all information required under this
Section 2.4(i) and must be timely received by the secretary of the corporation. To be timely, a stockholder’s notice must be received by the secretary at the
principal executive offices of the corporation not later than the 45th day nor earlier than the 75th day before the one-year anniversary of the date on which
the corporation first mailed its proxy materials or a notice of availability of proxy materials (whichever is earlier) for the preceding year’s annual meeting;
provided, however, that in the event that no annual meeting was held in the previous year or if the date of the annual meeting is advanced by more than 30
days prior to or delayed by more than 60 days after the one-year anniversary of the date of the previous year’s annual meeting, then, for notice by the
stockholder to be timely, it must be so received by the secretary not earlier than the close of business on the 120th day prior to such annual meeting and not
later than the close of business on the later of (i) the 90th day prior to such annual meeting, or (ii) the tenth day following the day on which Public
Announcement (as defined below) of the date of such annual meeting is first made. In no event shall any adjournment or postponement of an annual meeting
or the announcement thereof commence a new time period for the giving of a stockholder’s notice as described in this Section 2.4(i)(a). “Public
Announcement” shall mean disclosure in a press release reported by the Dow Jones News Service, Associated Press or a comparable national news service or
in a document publicly filed by the corporation with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to Section 13, 14 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended, or any successor thereto (the “1934 Act”).
(b) To be in proper written form, a stockholder’s notice to the secretary must set forth as to each matter of business the stockholder
intends to bring before the annual meeting: (1) a brief description of the business intended to be brought before the annual meeting and the reasons for
conducting such business at the annual meeting, (2) the name and address, as they appear on the corporation’s books, of the stockholder proposing
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such business and any Stockholder Associated Person (as defined below), (3) the class and number of shares of the corporation that are held of record or are
beneficially owned by the stockholder or any Stockholder Associated Person and any derivative positions held or beneficially held by the stockholder or any
Stockholder Associated Person, (4) whether and the extent to which any hedging or other transaction or series of transactions has been entered into by or on
behalf of such stockholder or any Stockholder Associated Person with respect to any securities of the corporation, and a description of any other agreement,
arrangement or understanding (including any short position or any borrowing or lending of shares), the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss to, or to
manage the risk or benefit from share price changes for, or to increase or decrease the voting power of, such stockholder or any Stockholder Associated Person
with respect to any securities of the corporation, (5) any material interest of the stockholder or a Stockholder Associated Person in such business to be
brought before the meeting, and (6) a statement whether either such stockholder or any Stockholder Associated Person will deliver a proxy statement and
form of proxy to holders of at least the percentage of the corporation’s voting shares required under applicable law to carry the proposal (such information
provided and statements made as required by clauses (1) through (6), a “Business Solicitation Statement”). In addition, to be in proper written form, a
stockholder’s notice to the secretary must be supplemented not later than ten days following the record date for notice of the meeting to disclose the
information contained in clauses (3) and (4) above as of the record date for notice of the meeting. For purposes of this Section 2.4, a “Stockholder Associated
Person” of any stockholder shall mean (i) any person controlling, directly or indirectly, or acting in concert with, such stockholder, (ii) any beneficial owner
of shares of stock of the corporation owned of record or beneficially by such stockholder and on whose behalf the proposal or nomination, as the case may be,
is being made, or (iii) any person controlling, controlled by or under common control with such person referred to in the preceding clauses (i) and (ii).
(c) Without exception, no business shall be conducted at any annual meeting except in accordance with the provisions set forth in this
Section 2.4(i) and, if applicable, Section 2.4(ii). In addition, business proposed to be brought by a stockholder may not be brought before the annual meeting
if such stockholder or a Stockholder Associated Person, as applicable, takes action contrary to the representations made in the Business Solicitation
Statement applicable to such business or if the Business Solicitation Statement applicable to such business contains an untrue statement of a material fact or
omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein not misleading. The chairperson of the annual meeting shall, if the facts warrant,
determine and declare at the annual meeting that business was not properly brought before the annual meeting and in accordance with the provisions of this
Section 2.4(i), and, if the chairperson should so determine, he or she shall so declare at the annual meeting that any such business not properly brought before
the annual meeting shall not be conducted.
(ii) Advance Notice of Director Nominations at Annual Meetings. Notwithstanding anything in these bylaws to the contrary, only persons who
are nominated in accordance with the procedures set forth in this Section 2.4(ii) shall be eligible for election or re-election as directors at an annual meeting
of stockholders. Nominations of persons for election or re-election to the board of directors of the corporation shall be made at an annual meeting of
stockholders only (A) by or at the direction of the board of directors or (B) by a stockholder of the corporation who (1) was a stockholder of record at the time
of the giving of the notice required by this Section 2.4(ii) and on the record date for the determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the annual meeting
and (2) has complied with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 2.4(ii). In addition to any other applicable requirements, for a nomination to be made
by a stockholder, the stockholder must have given timely notice thereof in proper written form to the secretary of the corporation.
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(a) To comply with clause (B) of Section 2.4(ii) above, a nomination to be made by a stockholder must set forth all information required
under this Section 2.4(ii) and must be received by the secretary of the corporation at the principal executive offices of the corporation at the time set forth in,
and in accordance with, the final three sentences of Section 2.4(i)(a) above.
(b) To be in proper written form, such stockholder’s notice to the secretary must set forth:
(1) as to each person (a “nominee”) whom the stockholder proposes to nominate for election or re-election as a director: (A) the
name, age, business address and residence address of the nominee, (B) the principal occupation or employment of the nominee, (C) the class and number of
shares of the corporation that are held of record or are beneficially owned by the nominee and any derivative positions held or beneficially held by the
nominee, (D) whether and the extent to which any hedging or other transaction or series of transactions has been entered into by or on behalf of the nominee
with respect to any securities of the corporation, and a description of any other agreement, arrangement or understanding (including any short position or any
borrowing or lending of shares), the effect or intent of which is to mitigate loss to, or to manage the risk or benefit of share price changes for, or to increase or
decrease the voting power of the nominee, (E) a description of all arrangements or understandings between the stockholder and each nominee and any other
person or persons (naming such person or persons) pursuant to which the nominations are to be made by the stockholder, (F) a written statement executed by
the nominee acknowledging that as a director of the corporation, the nominee will owe a fiduciary duty under Delaware law with respect to the corporation
and its stockholders, and (G) any other information relating to the nominee that would be required to be disclosed about such nominee if proxies were being
solicited for the election or re-election of the nominee as a director, or that is otherwise required, in each case pursuant to Regulation 14A under the 1934 Act
(including without limitation the nominee’s written consent to being named in the proxy statement, if any, as a nominee and to serving as a director if elected
or re-elected, as the case may be); and
(2) as to such stockholder giving notice, (A) the information required to be provided pursuant to clauses (2) through (5) of
Section 2.4(i)(b) above, and the supplement referenced in the second sentence of Section 2.4(i)(b) above (except that the references to “business” in such
clauses shall instead refer to nominations of directors for purposes of this paragraph), and (B) a statement whether either such stockholder or Stockholder
Associated Person will deliver a proxy statement and form of proxy to holders of a number of the corporation’s voting shares reasonably believed by such
stockholder or Stockholder Associated Person to be necessary to elect or re-elect such nominee(s) (such information provided and statements made as
required by clauses (A) and (B) above, a “Nominee Solicitation Statement”).
(c) At the request of the board of directors, any person nominated by a stockholder for election or re-election as a director must furnish to
the secretary of the corporation (1) that information required to be set forth in the stockholder’s notice of nomination of such person as a director as of a date
subsequent to the date on which the notice of such person’s nomination was given and (2) such other information as may reasonably be required by the
corporation to determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as an independent director or audit committee financial expert of the corporation
under applicable law, securities exchange rule or regulation, or any publicly-disclosed corporate governance guideline or committee charter of the
corporation and (3) such information that could be material to a reasonable stockholder’s understanding of the independence, or lack thereof, of such
nominee. In the absence of the furnishing of such information if requested, such stockholder’s nomination shall not be considered in proper form pursuant to
this Section 2.4(ii).
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(d) Without exception, no person shall be eligible for election or re-election as a director of the corporation at an annual meeting of
stockholders unless nominated in accordance with the provisions set forth in this Section 2.4(ii). In addition, a nominee shall not be eligible for election or
re-election if a stockholder or Stockholder Associated Person, as applicable, takes action contrary to the representations made in the Nominee Solicitation
Statement applicable to such nominee or if the Nominee Solicitation Statement applicable to such nominee contains an untrue statement of a material fact or
omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein not misleading. The chairperson of the annual meeting shall, if the facts warrant,
determine and declare at the annual meeting that a nomination was not made in accordance with the provisions prescribed by these bylaws, and if the
chairperson should so determine, he or she shall so declare at the annual meeting, and the defective nomination shall be disregarded.
(iii) Advance Notice of Director Nominations for Special Meetings.
(a) For a special meeting of stockholders at which directors are to be elected or re-elected, nominations of persons for election or reelection to the board of directors shall be made only (1) by or at the direction of the board of directors or (2) by any stockholder of the corporation who (A) is
a stockholder of record at the time of the giving of the notice required by this Section 2.4(iii) and on the record date for the determination of stockholders
entitled to vote at the special meeting and (B) delivers a timely written notice of the nomination to the secretary of the corporation that includes the
information set forth in Sections 2.4(ii)(b) and (ii)(c) above. To be timely, such notice must be received by the secretary at the principal executive offices of
the corporation not later than the close of business on the later of the 90th day prior to such special meeting or the tenth day following the day on which
Public Announcement is first made of the date of the special meeting and of the nominees proposed by the board of directors to be elected or re-elected at
such meeting. A person shall not be eligible for election or re-election as a director at a special meeting unless the person is nominated (i) by or at the
direction of the board of directors or (ii) by a stockholder in accordance with the notice procedures set forth in this Section 2.4(iii). In addition, a nominee
shall not be eligible for election or re-election if a stockholder or Stockholder Associated Person, as applicable, takes action contrary to the representations
made in the Nominee Solicitation Statement applicable to such nominee or if the Nominee Solicitation Statement applicable to such nominee contains an
untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.
(b) The chairperson of the special meeting shall, if the facts warrant, determine and declare at the meeting that a nomination or business
was not made in accordance with the procedures prescribed by these bylaws, and if the chairperson should so determine, he or she shall so declare at the
meeting, and the defective nomination or business shall be disregarded.
(iv) Other Requirements and Rights. In addition to the foregoing provisions of this Section 2.4, a stockholder must also comply with all
applicable requirements of state law and of the 1934 Act and the rules and regulations thereunder with respect to the matters set forth in this Section 2.4.
Nothing in this Section 2.4 shall be deemed to affect any rights of:
(a) a stockholder to request inclusion of proposals in the corporation’s proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 (or any successor
provision) under the 1934 Act; or
(b) the corporation to omit a proposal from the corporation’s proxy statement pursuant to Rule 14a-8 (or any successor provision) under
the 1934 Act.
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2.5

NOTICE OF STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Whenever stockholders are required or permitted to take any action at a meeting, a written notice of the meeting shall be given which shall state the
place, if any, date and hour of the meeting, the means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxy holders may be deemed to be
present in person and vote at such meeting, the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting, if such date is different from the
record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of the meeting, and, in the case of a special meeting, the purpose or purposes for which the
meeting is called. Except as otherwise provided in the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, the written notice of any meeting of
stockholders shall be given not less than 10 nor more than 60 days before the date of the meeting to each stockholder entitled to vote at such meeting as of
the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to notice of the meeting.
2.6

QUORUM

The holders of a majority of the stock issued and outstanding and entitled to vote, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum
for the transaction of business at all meetings of the stockholders. Where a separate vote by a class or series or classes or series is required, a majority of the
outstanding shares of such class or series or classes or series, present in person or represented by proxy, shall constitute a quorum entitled to take action with
respect to that vote on that matter, except as otherwise provided by law, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws
If a quorum is not present or represented at any meeting of the stockholders, then either (i) the chairperson of the meeting, or (ii) the stockholders
entitled to vote at the meeting, present in person or represented by proxy, shall have power to adjourn the meeting from time to time, without notice other
than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum is present or represented. At such adjourned meeting at which a quorum is present or represented, any
business may be transacted that might have been transacted at the meeting as originally noticed.
2.7

ADJOURNED MEETING; NOTICE

When a meeting is adjourned to another time or place, unless these bylaws otherwise require, notice need not be given of the adjourned meeting if the
time, place, if any, thereof, and the means of remote communications, if any, by which stockholders and proxy holders may be deemed to be present in person
and vote at such adjourned meeting are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken. At the adjourned meeting, the corporation may transact
any business which might have been transacted at the original meeting. If the adjournment is for more than 30 days, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall
be given to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at the meeting. If after the adjournment a new record date for stockholders entitled to vote is fixed for
the adjourned meeting, the board of directors shall fix a new record date for notice of such adjourned meeting in accordance with Section 213(a) of the DGCL
and Section 2.11 of these bylaws, and shall give notice of the adjourned meeting to each stockholder of record entitled to vote at such adjourned meeting as
of the record date fixed for notice of such adjourned meeting.
2.8

CONDUCT OF BUSINESS

The chairperson of any meeting of stockholders shall determine the order of business and the procedure at the meeting, including such regulation of
the manner of voting and the conduct of business. The chairperson of any meeting of stockholders shall be designated by the board of directors; in the
absence of such designation, the chairperson of the board, if any, the chief executive officer (in the absence of the chairperson) or the president (in the
absence of the chairperson of the board and the chief executive officer), or in their absence any other executive officer of the corporation, shall serve as
chairperson of the stockholder meeting.
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2.9

VOTING

The stockholders entitled to vote at any meeting of stockholders shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of Section 2.11 of these bylaws,
subject to Section 217 (relating to voting rights of fiduciaries, pledgors and joint owners of stock) and Section 218 (relating to voting trusts and other voting
agreements) of the DGCL.
Except as may be otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, each stockholder shall be entitled to one vote for each share of
capital stock held by such stockholder.
Except as otherwise required by law, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, in all matters other than the election of directors, the affirmative
vote of a majority of the voting power of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the subject matter shall
be the act of the stockholders. Except as otherwise required by law, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, directors shall be elected by a plurality of
the voting power of the shares present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting and entitled to vote on the election of directors. Where a separate vote
by a class or series or classes or series is required, in all matters other than the election of directors, the affirmative vote of the majority of shares of such class
or series or classes or series present in person or represented by proxy at the meeting shall be the act of such class or series or classes or series, except as
otherwise provided by law, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws.
2.10 STOCKHOLDER ACTION BY WRITTEN CONSENT WITHOUT A MEETING
Subject to the rights of the holders of the shares of any series of Preferred Stock or any other class of stock or series thereof that have been expressly
granted the right to take action by written consent, any action required or permitted to be taken by the stockholders of the corporation must be effected at a
duly called annual or special meeting of stockholders of the corporation and may not be effected by any consent in writing by such stockholders.
2.11 RECORD DATES
In order that the corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to notice of any meeting of stockholders or any adjournment thereof, the board of
directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted by the board of
directors and which record date shall not be more than 60 nor less than 10 days before the date of such meeting. If the board of directors so fixes a date, such
date shall also be the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote at such meeting unless the board of directors determines, at the time it fixes
such record date, that a later date on or before the date of the meeting shall be the date for making such determination.
If no record date is fixed by the board of directors, the record date for determining stockholders entitled to notice of and to vote at a meeting of
stockholders shall be at the close of business on the day immediately preceding the day on which notice is given, or, if notice is waived, at the close of
business on the day immediately preceding the day on which the meeting is held.
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A determination of stockholders of record entitled to notice of or to vote at a meeting of stockholders shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting;
provided, however, that the board of directors may fix a new record date for determination of stockholders entitled to vote at the adjourned meeting, and in
such case shall also fix as the record date for stockholders entitled to notice of such adjourned meeting the same or an earlier date as that fixed for
determination of stockholders entitled to vote in accordance with the provisions of Section 213 of the DGCL and this Section 2.11 at the adjourned meeting.
In order that the corporation may determine the stockholders entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or allotment of any
rights or the stockholders entitled to exercise any rights in respect of any change, conversion or exchange of stock, or for the purpose of any other lawful
action, the board of directors may fix a record date, which record date shall not precede the date upon which the resolution fixing the record date is adopted,
and which record date shall be not more than 60 days prior to such action. If no record date is fixed, the record date for determining stockholders for any such
purpose shall be at the close of business on the day on which the board of directors adopts the resolution relating thereto.
2.12 PROXIES
Each stockholder entitled to vote at a meeting of stockholders may authorize another person or persons to act for such stockholder by proxy authorized
by an instrument in writing or by a transmission permitted by law filed in accordance with the procedure established for the meeting, but no such proxy shall
be voted or acted upon after three years from its date, unless the proxy provides for a longer period. The revocability of a proxy that states on its face that it is
irrevocable shall be governed by the provisions of Section 212 of the DGCL. A written proxy may be in the form of an electronic transmission which sets
forth or is submitted with information from which it can be determined that the electronic transmission was authorized by the person.
2.13 LIST OF STOCKHOLDERS ENTITLED TO VOTE
The officer who has charge of the stock ledger of the corporation shall prepare and make, at least 10 days before every meeting of stockholders, a
complete list of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting; provided, however, if the record date for determining the stockholders entitled to vote is less
than 10 days before the meeting date, the list shall reflect the stockholders entitled to vote as of the tenth day before the meeting date. The stockholder list
shall be arranged in alphabetical order and show the address of each stockholder and the number of shares registered in the name of each stockholder. The
corporation shall not be required to include electronic mail addresses or other electronic contact information on such list. Such list shall be open to the
examination of any stockholder for any purpose germane to the meeting for a period of at least 10 days prior to the meeting (i) on a reasonably accessible
electronic network, provided that the information required to gain access to such list is provided with the notice of the meeting, or (ii) during ordinary
business hours, at the corporation’s principal place of business. In the event that the corporation determines to make the list available on an electronic
network, the corporation may take reasonable steps to ensure that such information is available only to stockholders of the corporation. If the meeting is to be
held at a place, then the list shall be produced and kept at the time and place of the meeting during the whole time thereof, and may be examined by any
stockholder who is present. If the meeting is to be held solely by means of remote communication, then the list shall also be open to the examination of any
stockholder during the whole time of the meeting on a reasonably accessible electronic network, and the information required to access such list shall be
provided with the notice of the meeting. Such list shall presumptively determine the identity of the stockholders entitled to vote at the meeting and the
number of shares held by each of them.
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2.14 INSPECTORS OF ELECTION
Before any meeting of stockholders, the board of directors shall appoint an inspector or inspectors of election to act at the meeting or its adjournment.
The number of inspectors shall be either one (1) or three (3). If any person appointed as inspector fails to appear or fails or refuses to act, then the chairperson
of the meeting may, and upon the request of any stockholder or a stockholder’s proxy shall, appoint a person to fill that vacancy.
Such inspectors shall:
(i) determine the number of shares outstanding and the voting power of each, the number of shares represented at the meeting, the existence of a
quorum, and the authenticity, validity, and effect of proxies;
(ii) receive votes, ballots or consents;
(iii) hear and determine all challenges and questions in any way arising in connection with the right to vote;
(iv) count and tabulate all votes or consents;
(v) determine when the polls shall close;
(vi) determine the result; and
(vii) do any other acts that may be proper to conduct the election or vote with fairness to all stockholders.
The inspectors of election shall perform their duties impartially, in good faith, to the best of their ability and as expeditiously as is practical. In
determining the validity and counting of proxies and ballots cast at any meeting of stockholders of the corporation, the inspector or inspectors may consider
such information as is permitted by applicable law. If there are three (3) inspectors of election, the decision, act or certificate of a majority is effective in all
respects as the decision, act or certificate of all. Any report or certificate made by the inspectors of election is prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein.
ARTICLE III — DIRECTORS
3.1

POWERS

The business and affairs of the corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the board of directors, except as may be otherwise provided in
the DGCL or the certificate of incorporation.
3.2

NUMBER OF DIRECTORS

The board of directors shall consist of one or more members, each of whom shall be a natural person. Unless the certificate of incorporation fixes the
number of directors, the number of directors shall be determined from time to time solely by resolution of the board of directors. No reduction of the
authorized number of directors shall have the effect of removing any director before that director’s term of office expires.
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3.3

ELECTION, QUALIFICATION AND TERM OF OFFICE OF DIRECTORS

Except as provided in Section 3.4 of these bylaws, each director, including a director elected to fill a vacancy, shall hold office until the expiration of
the term for which elected and until such director’s successor is elected and qualified or until such director’s earlier death, resignation or removal. Directors
need not be stockholders unless so required by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws. The certificate of incorporation or these bylaws may prescribe
other qualifications for directors.
If so provided in the certificate of incorporation, the directors of the corporation shall be divided into three classes.
3.4

RESIGNATION AND VACANCIES

Any director may resign at any time upon notice given in writing or by electronic transmission to the corporation; provided, however, that if such
notice is given by electronic transmission, such electronic transmission must either set forth or be submitted with information from which it can be
determined that the electronic transmission was authorized by the director. A resignation is effective when the resignation is delivered unless the resignation
specifies a later effective date or an effective date determined upon the happening of an event or events. Acceptance of such resignation shall not be
necessary to make it effective. A resignation which is conditioned upon the director failing to receive a specified vote for reelection as a director may provide
that it is irrevocable. Unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, when one or more directors resign from the board of
directors, effective at a future date, a majority of the directors then in office, including those who have so resigned, shall have power to fill such vacancy or
vacancies, the vote thereon to take effect when such resignation or resignations shall become effective.
Unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, vacancies and newly created directorships resulting from any increase in
the authorized number of directors elected by all of the stockholders having the right to vote as a single class shall be filled only by a majority of the
directors then in office, although less than a quorum, or by a sole remaining director. If the directors are divided into classes, a person so elected by the
directors then in office to fill a vacancy or newly created directorship shall hold office until the next election of the class for which such director shall have
been chosen and until his or her successor shall have been duly elected and qualified.
If at any time, by reason of death or resignation or other cause, the corporation should have no directors in office, then any officer or any stockholder or
an executor, administrator, trustee or guardian of a stockholder, or other fiduciary entrusted with like responsibility for the person or estate of a stockholder,
may call a special meeting of stockholders in accordance with the provisions of the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, or may apply to the Court of
Chancery for a decree summarily ordering an election as provided in Section 211 of the DGCL.
If, at the time of filling any vacancy or any newly created directorship, the directors then in office constitute less than a majority of the whole board of
directors (as constituted immediately prior to any such increase), the Court of Chancery may, upon application of any stockholder or stockholders holding at
least 10% of the voting stock at the time outstanding having the right to vote for such directors, summarily order an election to be held to fill any such
vacancies or newly created directorships, or to replace the directors chosen by the directors then in office as aforesaid, which election shall be governed by
the provisions of Section 211 of the DGCL as far as applicable.
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3.5

PLACE OF MEETINGS; MEETINGS BY TELEPHONE

The board of directors may hold meetings, both regular and special, either within or outside the State of Delaware.
Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, members of the board of directors, or any committee designated by the
board of directors, may participate in a meeting of the board of directors, or any committee, by means of conference telephone or other communications
equipment by means of which all persons participating in the meeting can hear each other, and such participation in a meeting shall constitute presence in
person at the meeting.
3.6

REGULAR MEETINGS

Regular meetings of the board of directors may be held without notice at such time and at such place as shall from time to time be determined by the
board of directors.
3.7

SPECIAL MEETINGS; NOTICE

Special meetings of the board of directors for any purpose or purposes may be called at any time by the chairperson of the board of directors, the chief
executive officer, the president, the secretary or a majority of the authorized number of directors, at such times and places as he or she or they shall designate.
Notice of the time and place of special meetings shall be:
(i)

delivered personally by hand, by courier or by telephone;

(ii)

sent by United States first-class mail, postage prepaid; or

(iii)

sent by electronic mail,

directed to each director at that director’s address, telephone number or electronic mail address, as the case may be, as shown on the corporation’s records.
If the notice is (i) delivered personally by hand, by courier or by telephone or (ii) sent by electronic mail, it shall be delivered or sent at least 24 hours
before the time of the holding of the meeting. If the notice is sent by United States mail, it shall be deposited in the United States mail at least four days
before the time of the holding of the meeting. Any oral notice may be communicated to the director. The notice need not specify the place of the meeting (if
the meeting is to be held at the corporation’s principal executive office) nor the purpose of the meeting.
3.8

QUORUM; VOTING

At all meetings of the board of directors, a majority of the total authorized number of directors shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business.
If a quorum is not present at any meeting of the board of directors, then the directors present at the meeting may adjourn the meeting from time to time,
without notice other than announcement at the meeting, until a quorum is present. A meeting at which a quorum is initially present may continue to transact
business notwithstanding the withdrawal of directors, if any action taken is approved by at least a majority of the required quorum for that meeting.
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The vote of a majority of the directors present at any meeting at which a quorum is present shall be the act of the board of directors, except as may be
otherwise specifically provided by statute, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws.
If the certificate of incorporation provides that one or more directors shall have more or less than one vote per director on any matter, every reference in
these bylaws to a majority or other proportion of the directors shall refer to a majority or other proportion of the votes of the directors.
3.9

BOARD ACTION BY WRITTEN CONSENT WITHOUT A MEETING

Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, any action required or permitted to be taken at any meeting of the board
of directors, or of any committee thereof, may be taken without a meeting if all members of the board of directors or committee, as the case may be, consent
thereto in writing or by electronic transmission and the writing or writings or electronic transmission or transmissions are filed with the minutes of
proceedings of the board of directors or committee. Such filing shall be in paper form if the minutes are maintained in paper form and shall be in electronic
form if the minutes are maintained in electronic form.
3.10 FEES AND COMPENSATION OF DIRECTORS
Unless otherwise restricted by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, the board of directors shall have the authority to fix the compensation of
directors.
3.11 REMOVAL OF DIRECTORS
A director may be removed from office by the stockholders of the corporation only for cause.
No reduction of the authorized number of directors shall have the effect of removing any director prior to the expiration of such director’s term of
office.
ARTICLE IV — COMMITTEES
4.1

COMMITTEES OF DIRECTORS

The board of directors may, by resolution passed by a majority of the authorized number of directors, designate one or more committees, each
committee to consist of one or more of the directors of the corporation. The board of directors may designate one or more directors as alternate members of
any committee, who may replace any absent or disqualified member at any meeting of the committee. In the absence or disqualification of a member of a
committee, the member or members thereof present at any meeting and not disqualified from voting, whether or not such member or members constitute a
quorum, may unanimously appoint another member of the board of directors to act at the meeting in the place of any such absent or disqualified member.
Any such committee, to the extent provided in the resolution of the board of directors or in these bylaws, shall have and may exercise all the powers and
authority of the board of directors in the management of the business and affairs of the corporation, and may authorize the seal of the corporation to be
affixed to all papers that may require it; but no
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such committee shall have the power or authority to (i) approve or adopt, or recommend to the stockholders, any action or matter (other than the election or
removal of directors) expressly required by the DGCL to be submitted to stockholders for approval, or (ii) adopt, amend or repeal any bylaw of the
corporation.
4.2

COMMITTEE MINUTES

Each committee shall keep regular minutes of its meetings and report the same to the board of directors when required.
4.3

MEETINGS AND ACTION OF COMMITTEES

Meetings and actions of committees shall be governed by, and held and taken in accordance with, the provisions of:
(i)

Section 3.5 (place of meetings and meetings by telephone);

(ii)

Section 3.6 (regular meetings);

(iii)

Section 3.7 (special meetings and notice);

(iv)

Section 3.8 (quorum; voting);

(v)

Section 3.9 (action without a meeting); and

(vi)

Section 7.5 (waiver of notice)

with such changes in the context of those bylaws as are necessary to substitute the committee and its members for the board of directors and its members.
However:
(i) the time of regular meetings of committees may be determined by resolution of the committee;
(ii) special meetings of committees may also be called by resolution of the committee; and
(iii) notice of special meetings of committees shall also be given to all alternate members, who shall have the right to attend all meetings of the
committee. The board of directors may adopt rules for the governance of any committee not inconsistent with the provisions of these bylaws.
Any provision in the certificate of incorporation providing that one or more directors shall have more or less than one vote per director on any matter
shall apply to voting in any committee or subcommittee, unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws.
4.4

SUBCOMMITTEES

Unless otherwise provided in the certificate of incorporation, these bylaws or the resolutions of the board of directors designating the committee, a
committee may create one or more subcommittees, each subcommittee to consist of one or more members of the committee, and delegate to a subcommittee
any or all of the powers and authority of the committee.
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ARTICLE V — OFFICERS
5.1

OFFICERS

The officers of the corporation shall be a president and a secretary. The corporation may also have, at the discretion of the board of directors, a
chairperson of the board of directors, a vice chairperson of the board of directors, a chief executive officer, a chief financial officer who shall be the treasurer,
one or more vice presidents, one or more assistant vice presidents, one or more assistant treasurers, one or more assistant secretaries, and any such other
officers as may be appointed in accordance with the provisions of these bylaws. Any number of offices may be held by the same person.
5.2

APPOINTMENT OF OFFICERS

The board of directors shall appoint the officers of the corporation, except such officers as may be appointed in accordance with the provisions of
Section 5.3 of these bylaws, subject to the rights, if any, of an officer under any contract of employment. A vacancy in any office because of death,
resignation, removal, disqualification or any other cause shall be filled in the manner prescribed in this Section 5 for the regular election to such office.
5.3

SUBORDINATE OFFICERS

The board of directors may appoint, or empower the executive chairman, chief executive officer or, in the absence of a chief executive officer, the
president, to appoint, such other officers and agents as the business of the corporation may require. Each of such officers and agents shall hold office for such
period, have such authority, and perform such duties as are provided in these bylaws or as the board of directors may from time to time determine.
5.4

REMOVAL AND RESIGNATION OF OFFICERS

Subject to the rights, if any, of an officer under any contract of employment, any officer may be removed, either with or without cause, by an affirmative
vote of the majority of the board of directors at any regular or special meeting of the board of directors or, except in the case of an officer chosen by the board
of directors, by any officer upon whom such power of removal may be conferred by the board of directors.
Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the corporation; provided, however, that if such notice is given by electronic
transmission, such electronic transmission must either set forth or be submitted with information from which it can be determined that the electronic
transmission was authorized by the officer. Any resignation shall take effect at the date of the receipt of that notice or at any later time specified in that notice.
Unless otherwise specified in the notice of resignation, the acceptance of the resignation shall not be necessary to make it effective. Any resignation is
without prejudice to the rights, if any, of the corporation under any contract to which the officer is a party.
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5.5

VACANCIES IN OFFICES

Any vacancy occurring in any office of the corporation shall be filled by the board of directors or as provided in Section 5.3.
5.6

REPRESENTATION OF SHARES OF OTHER CORPORATIONS

The chairperson of the board of directors, the president, any vice president, the treasurer, the secretary or assistant secretary of this corporation, or any
other person authorized by the board of directors or the president or a vice president, is authorized to vote, represent, and exercise on behalf of this
corporation all rights incident to any and all shares of any other corporation or corporations standing in the name of this corporation. The authority granted
herein may be exercised either by such person directly or by any other person authorized to do so by proxy or power of attorney duly executed by such
person having the authority.
5.7

AUTHORITY AND DUTIES OF OFFICERS

All officers of the corporation shall respectively have such authority and perform such duties in the management of the business of the corporation as
may be designated from time to time by the board of directors or the stockholders and, to the extent not so provided, as generally pertain to their respective
offices, subject to the control of the board of directors.
5.8

THE CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD

The chairperson of the board shall have the powers and duties customarily and usually associated with the office of the chairperson of the board. If
present, the chairperson of the board shall preside at meetings of the stockholders and of the board of directors. If not present, the chairperson of the board
shall delegate such responsibilities to another director.
5.9

THE VICE CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD

The vice chairperson of the board shall have the powers and duties customarily and usually associated with the office of the vice chairperson of the
board. In the case of absence or disability of the chairperson of the board, the vice chairperson of the board shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of
the chairperson of the board.
5.10 THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
The chief executive officer shall have, subject to the supervision, direction and control of the board of directors, ultimate authority for decisions
relating to the supervision, direction and management of the affairs and the business of the corporation customarily and usually associated with the position
of chief executive officer, including, without limitation, all powers necessary to direct and control the organizational and reporting relationships within the
corporation. If at any time the office of the chairperson and vice chairperson of the board shall not be filled, or in the event of the temporary absence or
disability of the chairperson of the board and the vice chairperson of the board, the chief executive officer shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of
the chairperson of the board unless otherwise determined by the board of directors.
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5.11 THE PRESIDENT
The president shall have, subject to the supervision, direction and control of the board of directors and the chief executive officer if the president is not
the chief executive officer, the general powers and duties of supervision, direction and management of the affairs and business of the corporation customarily
and usually associated with the position of president. The president shall have such powers and perform such duties as may from time to time be assigned to
him or her by the board of directors, the chairperson of the board or the chief executive officer. In the event of the absence or disability of the chief executive
officer, the president shall perform the duties and exercise the powers of the chief executive officer unless otherwise determined by the board of directors.
5.12 THE VICE PRESIDENTS AND ASSISTANT VICE PRESIDENTS
Each vice president and assistant vice president shall have such powers and perform such duties as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by
the board of directors, the chairperson of the board, the chief executive officer or the president.
5.13 THE SECRETARY AND ASSISTANT SECRETARIES
(i) The secretary shall attend meetings of the board of directors and meetings of the stockholders and record all votes and minutes of all such
proceedings in a book or books kept for such purpose. The secretary shall have all such further powers and duties as are customarily and usually associated
with the position of secretary or as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by the board of directors, the chairperson of the board, the chief executive
officer or the president.
(ii) Each assistant secretary shall have such powers and perform such duties as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by the board of
directors, the chairperson of the board, the chief executive officer, the president or the secretary. In the event of the absence, inability or refusal to act of the
secretary, the assistant secretary (or if there shall be more than one, the assistant secretaries in the order determined by the board of directors) shall perform the
duties and exercise the powers of the secretary.
5.14 THE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND ASSISTANT TREASURERS
(i) The chief financial officer shall be the treasurer of the corporation. The chief financial officer shall have custody of the corporation’s funds
and securities, shall be responsible for maintaining the corporation’s accounting records and statements, shall keep full and accurate accounts of receipts and
disbursements in books belonging to the corporation, and shall deposit or cause to be deposited moneys or other valuable effects in the name and to the
credit of the corporation in such depositories as may be designated by the board of directors. The chief financial officer shall also maintain adequate records
of all assets, liabilities and transactions of the corporation and shall assure that adequate audits thereof are currently and regularly made. The chief financial
officer shall have all such further powers and duties as are customarily and usually associated with the position of chief financial officer, or as may from time
to time be assigned to him or her by the board of directors, the chairperson, the chief executive officer or the president.
(ii) Each assistant treasurer shall have such powers and perform such duties as may from time to time be assigned to him or her by the board of
directors, the chairperson, the chief executive officer, the president or the chief financial officer. In the event of the absence, inability or refusal to act of the
chief financial officer, the assistant treasurer (or if there shall be more than one, the assistant treasurers in the order determined by the board of directors) shall
perform the duties and exercise the powers of the chief financial officer.
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ARTICLE VI — STOCK
6.1

STOCK CERTIFICATES; PARTLY PAID SHARES

The shares of the corporation shall be represented by certificates, provided that the board of directors may provide by resolution or resolutions that
some or all of any or all classes or series of its stock shall be uncertificated shares. Any such resolution shall not apply to shares represented by a certificate
until such certificate is surrendered to the corporation. Every holder of stock represented by certificates shall be entitled to have a certificate signed by, or in
the name of the corporation by the chairperson of the board of directors or vice-chairperson of the board of directors, or the president or a vice-president, and
by the treasurer or an assistant treasurer, or the secretary or an assistant secretary of the corporation representing the number of shares registered in certificate
form. Any or all of the signatures on the certificate may be a facsimile. In case any officer, transfer agent or registrar who has signed or whose facsimile
signature has been placed upon a certificate has ceased to be such officer, transfer agent or registrar before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the
corporation with the same effect as if such person were such officer, transfer agent or registrar at the date of issue. The corporation shall not have power to
issue a certificate in bearer form.
The corporation may issue the whole or any part of its shares as partly paid and subject to call for the remainder of the consideration to be paid therefor.
Upon the face or back of each stock certificate issued to represent any such partly-paid shares, or upon the books and records of the corporation in the case of
uncertificated partly-paid shares, the total amount of the consideration to be paid therefor and the amount paid thereon shall be stated. Upon the declaration
of any dividend on fully-paid shares, the corporation shall declare a dividend upon partly-paid shares of the same class, but only upon the basis of the
percentage of the consideration actually paid thereon.
6.2

SPECIAL DESIGNATION ON CERTIFICATES

If the corporation is authorized to issue more than one class of stock or more than one series of any class, then the powers, the designations, the
preferences, and the relative, participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or
restrictions of such preferences and/or rights shall be set forth in full or summarized on the face or back of the certificate that the corporation shall issue to
represent such class or series of stock; provided, however, that, except as otherwise provided in Section 202 of the DGCL, in lieu of the foregoing
requirements there may be set forth on the face or back of the certificate that the corporation shall issue to represent such class or series of stock, a statement
that the corporation will furnish without charge to each stockholder who so requests the powers, designations, preferences and relative, participating,
optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions of such preferences and/or rights.
Within a reasonable time after the issuance or transfer of uncertificated stock, the corporation shall send to the registered owner thereof a written notice
containing the information required to be set forth or stated on certificates pursuant to this section 6.2 or Sections 156, 202(a) or 218(a) of the DGCL or with
respect to this section 6.2 a statement that the corporation will furnish without charge to each stockholder who so requests the powers, designations,
preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights of each class of stock or series thereof and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions
of such preferences and/or rights. Except as otherwise expressly provided by law, the rights and obligations of the holders of uncertificated stock and the
rights and obligations of the holders of certificates representing stock of the same class and series shall be identical.
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6.3

LOST, STOLEN OR DESTROYED CERTIFICATES

Except as provided in this Section 6.3, no new certificates for shares shall be issued to replace a previously issued certificate unless the latter is
surrendered to the corporation and cancelled at the same time. The corporation may issue a new certificate of stock or uncertificated shares in the place of any
certificate theretofore issued by it, alleged to have been lost, stolen or destroyed, and the corporation may require the owner of the lost, stolen or destroyed
certificate, or such owner’s legal representative, to give the corporation a bond sufficient to indemnify it against any claim that may be made against it on
account of the alleged loss, theft or destruction of any such certificate or the issuance of such new certificate or uncertificated shares.
6.4

DIVIDENDS

The board of directors, subject to any restrictions contained in the certificate of incorporation or applicable law, may declare and pay dividends upon
the shares of the corporation’s capital stock. Dividends may be paid in cash, in property, or in shares of the corporation’s capital stock, subject to the
provisions of the certificate of incorporation.
The board of directors may set apart out of any of the funds of the corporation available for dividends a reserve or reserves for any proper purpose and
may abolish any such reserve. Such purposes shall include but not be limited to equalizing dividends, repairing or maintaining any property of the
corporation, and meeting contingencies.
6.5

TRANSFER OF STOCK

Transfers of record of shares of stock of the corporation shall be made only upon its books by the holders thereof, in person or by an attorney duly
authorized, and, if such stock is certificated, upon the surrender of a certificate or certificates for a like number of shares, properly endorsed or accompanied
by proper evidence of succession, assignation or authority to transfer; provided, however, that such succession, assignment or authority to transfer is not
prohibited by the certificate of incorporation, these bylaws, applicable law or contract.
6.6

STOCK TRANSFER AGREEMENTS

The corporation shall have power to enter into and perform any agreement with any number of stockholders of any one or more classes of stock of the
corporation to restrict the transfer of shares of stock of the corporation of any one or more classes owned by such stockholders in any manner not prohibited
by the DGCL.
6.7

REGISTERED STOCKHOLDERS

The corporation:
(i) shall be entitled to recognize the exclusive right of a person registered on its books as the owner of shares to receive dividends and to vote as
such owner;
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(ii) shall be entitled to hold liable for calls and assessments the person registered on its books as the owner of shares; and
(iii) shall not be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to or interest in such share or shares on the part of another person, whether or
not it shall have express or other notice thereof, except as otherwise provided by the laws of Delaware.
ARTICLE VII — MANNER OF GIVING NOTICE AND WAIVER
7.1

NOTICE OF STOCKHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Notice of any meeting of stockholders, if mailed, is given when deposited in the United States mail, postage prepaid, directed to the stockholder at
such stockholder’s address as it appears on the corporation’s records. An affidavit of the secretary or an assistant secretary of the corporation or of the transfer
agent or other agent of the corporation that the notice has been given shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein.
7.2

NOTICE BY ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION

Without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given effectively to stockholders pursuant to the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation
or these bylaws, any notice to stockholders given by the corporation under any provision of the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws shall
be effective if given by a form of electronic transmission consented to by the stockholder to whom the notice is given. Any such consent shall be revocable
by the stockholder by written notice to the corporation. Any such consent shall be deemed revoked if:
(i) the corporation is unable to deliver by electronic transmission two consecutive notices given by the corporation in accordance with such
consent; and
(ii) such inability becomes known to the secretary or an assistant secretary of the corporation or to the transfer agent, or other person responsible
for the giving of notice.
However, the inadvertent failure to treat such inability as a revocation shall not invalidate any meeting or other action.
Any notice given pursuant to the preceding paragraph shall be deemed given:
(i)

if by facsimile telecommunication, when directed to a number at which the stockholder has consented to receive notice;

(ii)

if by electronic mail, when directed to an electronic mail address at which the stockholder has consented to receive notice;

(iii)

if by a posting on an electronic network together with separate notice to the stockholder of such specific posting, upon the later of
(A) such posting and (B) the giving of such separate notice; and
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(iv)

if by any other form of electronic transmission, when directed to the stockholder.

An affidavit of the secretary or an assistant secretary or of the transfer agent or other agent of the corporation that the notice has been given by a form of
electronic transmission shall, in the absence of fraud, be prima facie evidence of the facts stated therein.
An “electronic transmission” means any form of communication, not directly involving the physical transmission of paper, that creates a record that
may be retained, retrieved, and reviewed by a recipient thereof, and that may be directly reproduced in paper form by such a recipient through an automated
process.
Notice by a form of electronic transmission shall not apply to Sections 164, 296, 311, 312 or 324 of the DGCL.
7.3

NOTICE TO STOCKHOLDERS SHARING AN ADDRESS

Except as otherwise prohibited under the DGCL, without limiting the manner by which notice otherwise may be given effectively to stockholders, any
notice to stockholders given by the corporation under the provisions of the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws shall be effective if given
by a single written notice to stockholders who share an address if consented to by the stockholders at that address to whom such notice is given. Any such
consent shall be revocable by the stockholder by written notice to the corporation. Any stockholder who fails to object in writing to the corporation, within
60 days of having been given written notice by the corporation of its intention to send the single notice, shall be deemed to have consented to receiving such
single written notice.
7.4

NOTICE TO PERSON WITH WHOM COMMUNICATION IS UNLAWFUL

Whenever notice is required to be given, under the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, to any person with whom communication is
unlawful, the giving of such notice to such person shall not be required and there shall be no duty to apply to any governmental authority or agency for a
license or permit to give such notice to such person. Any action or meeting which shall be taken or held without notice to any such person with whom
communication is unlawful shall have the same force and effect as if such notice had been duly given. In the event that the action taken by the corporation is
such as to require the filing of a certificate under the DGCL, the certificate shall state, if such is the fact and if notice is required, that notice was given to all
persons entitled to receive notice except such persons with whom communication is unlawful.
7.5

WAIVER OF NOTICE

Whenever notice is required to be given to stockholders, directors or other persons under any provision of the DGCL, the certificate of incorporation or
these bylaws, a written waiver, signed by the person entitled to notice, or a waiver by electronic transmission by the person entitled to notice, whether before
or after the time of the event for which notice is to be given, shall be deemed equivalent to notice. Attendance of a person at a meeting shall constitute a
waiver of notice of such meeting, except when the person attends a meeting for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting, to the
transaction of any business because the meeting is not lawfully called or convened. Neither the business to be transacted at, nor the purpose of, any regular or
special meeting of the stockholders or the board of directors, as the case may be, need be specified in any written waiver of notice or any waiver by electronic
transmission unless so required by the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws.
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ARTICLE VIII — INDEMNIFICATION
8.1

INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN THIRD PARTY PROCEEDINGS

Subject to the other provisions of this Article VIII, the corporation shall indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, as now or hereinafter
in effect, any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action, suit or proceeding, whether
civil, criminal, administrative or investigative (a “Proceeding”) (other than an action by or in the right of the corporation) by reason of the fact that such
person is or was a director of the corporation or an officer of the corporation, or while a director of the corporation or officer of the corporation is or was
serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other enterprise,
against expenses (including attorneys’ fees), judgments, fines and amounts paid in settlement actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection
with such Proceeding if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the
corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had no reasonable cause to believe such person’s conduct was unlawful. The termination
of any Proceeding by judgment, order, settlement, conviction, or upon a plea of nolo contendere or its equivalent, shall not, of itself, create a presumption
that the person did not act in good faith and in a manner which such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the
corporation, and, with respect to any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that such person’s conduct was unlawful.
8.2

INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS IN ACTIONS BY OR IN THE RIGHT OF THE CORPORATION

Subject to the other provisions of this Article VIII, the corporation shall indemnify, to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL, as now or hereinafter
in effect, any person who was or is a party or is threatened to be made a party to any threatened, pending or completed action or suit by or in the right of the
corporation to procure a judgment in its favor by reason of the fact that such person is or was a director or officer of the corporation, or while a director or
officer of the corporation is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint
venture, trust or other enterprise against expenses (including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection with the defense
or settlement of such action or suit if such person acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best
interests of the corporation; except that no indemnification shall be made in respect of any claim, issue or matter as to which such person shall have been
adjudged to be liable to the corporation unless and only to the extent that the Court of Chancery or the court in which such action or suit was brought shall
determine upon application that, despite the adjudication of liability but in view of all the circumstances of the case, such person is fairly and reasonably
entitled to indemnity for such expenses which the Court of Chancery or such other court shall deem proper.
8.3

SUCCESSFUL DEFENSE

To the extent that a present or former director or officer of the corporation has been successful on the merits or otherwise in defense of any action, suit
or proceeding described in Section 8.1 or Section 8.2, or in defense of any claim, issue or matter therein, such person shall be indemnified against expenses
(including attorneys’ fees) actually and reasonably incurred by such person in connection therewith.
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8.4

INDEMNIFICATION OF OTHERS

Subject to the other provisions of this Article VIII, the corporation shall have power to indemnify its employees and its agents to the extent not
prohibited by the DGCL or other applicable law. The board of directors shall have the power to delegate the determination of whether employees or agents
shall be indemnified to such person or persons as the board of determines.
8.5

ADVANCED PAYMENT OF EXPENSES

Expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by an officer or director of the corporation in defending any Proceeding shall be paid by the corporation
in advance of the final disposition of such Proceeding upon receipt of a written request therefor (together with documentation reasonably evidencing such
expenses) and an undertaking by or on behalf of the person to repay such amounts if it shall ultimately be determined that the person is not entitled to be
indemnified under this Article VIII or the DGCL. Such expenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred by former directors and officers or other employees and
agents of the corporation or by persons serving at the request of the corporation as directors, officers, employees or agents of another corporation, partnership,
joint venture, trust or other enterprise may be so paid upon such terms and conditions, if any, as the corporation deems reasonably appropriate and shall be
subject to the corporation’s expense guidelines. The right to advancement of expenses shall not apply to any claim for which indemnity is excluded pursuant
to these bylaws, but shall apply to any Proceeding referenced in Section 8.6(ii) or 8.6(iii) prior to a determination that the person is not entitled to be
indemnified by the corporation.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless otherwise determined pursuant to Section 8.8, no advance shall be made by the corporation to an officer of the
corporation (except by reason of the fact that such officer is or was a director of the corporation, in which event this paragraph shall not apply) in any
Proceeding if a determination is reasonably and promptly made (i) by a majority vote of the directors who are not parties to such Proceeding, even though
less than a quorum, or (ii) by a committee of such directors designated by majority vote of such directors, even though less than a quorum, or (iii) if there are
no such directors, or if such directors so direct, by independent legal counsel in a written opinion, that facts known to the decision-making party at the time
such determination is made demonstrate clearly and convincingly that such person acted in bad faith or in a manner that such person did not believe to be in
or not opposed to the best interests of the corporation.
8.6

LIMITATION ON INDEMNIFICATION

Subject to the requirements in Section 8.3 and the DGCL, the corporation shall not be obligated to indemnify any person pursuant to this Article VIII
in connection with any Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding):
(i) for which payment has actually been made to or on behalf of such person under any statute, insurance policy, indemnity provision, vote or
otherwise, except with respect to any amount in excess beyond the amount paid;
(ii) for an accounting or disgorgement of profits pursuant to Section 16(b) of the 1934 Act, or similar provisions of federal, state or local statutory
law or common law, if such person is held liable therefor (including pursuant to any settlement arrangements);
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(iii) for any reimbursement of the corporation by such person of any bonus or other incentive-based or equity-based compensation or of any
profits realized by such person from the sale of securities of the corporation, as required in each case under the 1934 Act (including any such reimbursements
that arise from an accounting restatement of the corporation pursuant to Section 304 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Sarbanes-Oxley Act”), or the
payment to the corporation of profits arising from the purchase and sale by such person of securities in violation of Section 306 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act), if
such person is held liable therefor (including pursuant to any settlement arrangements);
(iv) initiated by such person, including any Proceeding (or any part of any Proceeding) initiated by such person against the corporation or its
directors, officers, employees, agents or other indemnitees, unless (a) the board of directors authorized the Proceeding (or the relevant part of the Proceeding)
prior to its initiation, (b) the corporation provides the indemnification, in its sole discretion, pursuant to the powers vested in the corporation under
applicable law, (c) otherwise required to be made under Section 8.7 or (d) otherwise required by applicable law; or
(v) if prohibited by applicable law; provided, however, that if any provision or provisions of this Article VIII shall be held to be invalid, illegal
or unenforceable for any reason whatsoever: (1) the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Article VIII (including, without
limitation, each portion of any paragraph or clause containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable, that is not itself held to be
invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby; and (2) to the fullest extent possible, the provisions of this Article VIII
(including, without limitation, each such portion of any paragraph or clause containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall
be construed so as to give effect to the intent manifested by the provision held invalid, illegal or unenforceable.
8.7

DETERMINATION; CLAIM

If a claim for indemnification or advancement of expenses under this Article VIII is not paid in full within 90 days after receipt by the corporation of
the written request therefor, the claimant shall be entitled to an adjudication by a court of competent jurisdiction of his or her entitlement to such
indemnification or advancement of expenses. The corporation shall indemnify such person against any and all expenses that are incurred by such person in
connection with any action for indemnification or advancement of expenses from the corporation under this Article VIII, to the extent such person is
successful in such action, and to the extent not prohibited by law. In any such suit, the corporation shall, to the fullest extent not prohibited by law, have the
burden of proving that the claimant is not entitled to the requested indemnification or advancement of expenses.
8.8

NON-EXCLUSIVITY OF RIGHTS

The indemnification and advancement of expenses provided by, or granted pursuant to, this Article VIII shall not be deemed exclusive of any other
rights to which those seeking indemnification or advancement of expenses may be entitled under the certificate of incorporation or any statute, bylaw,
agreement, vote of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise, both as to action in such person’s official capacity and as to action in another capacity
while holding such office. The corporation is specifically authorized to enter into individual contracts with any or all of its directors, officers, employees or
agents respecting indemnification and advancement of expenses, to the fullest extent not prohibited by the DGCL or other applicable law.
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8.9

INSURANCE

The corporation may purchase and maintain insurance on behalf of any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of the corporation, or
is or was serving at the request of the corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership, joint venture, trust or other
enterprise against any liability asserted against such person and incurred by such person in any such capacity, or arising out of such person’s status as such,
whether or not the corporation would have the power to indemnify such person against such liability under the provisions of the DGCL.
8.10 SURVIVAL
The rights to indemnification and advancement of expenses conferred by this Article VIII shall continue as to a person who has ceased to be a director,
officer, employee or agent and shall inure to the benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of such a person.
8.11 EFFECT OF REPEAL OR MODIFICATION
A right to indemnification or to advancement of expenses arising under a provision of the certificate of incorporation or a bylaw shall not be
eliminated or impaired by an amendment to the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws after the occurrence of the act or omission that is the subject of the
civil, criminal, administrative or investigative action, suit or proceeding for which indemnification or advancement of expenses is sought, unless the
provision in effect at the time of such act or omission explicitly authorizes such elimination or impairment after such action or omission has occurred.
8.12 CERTAIN DEFINITIONS
For purposes of this Article VIII, references to the “corporation” shall include, in addition to the resulting corporation, any constituent corporation
(including any constituent of a constituent) absorbed in a consolidation or merger which, if its separate existence had continued, would have had power and
authority to indemnify its directors, officers, employees or agents, so that any person who is or was a director, officer, employee or agent of such constituent
corporation, or is or was serving at the request of such constituent corporation as a director, officer, employee or agent of another corporation, partnership,
joint venture, trust or other enterprise, shall stand in the same position under the provisions of this Article VIII with respect to the resulting or surviving
corporation as such person would have with respect to such constituent corporation if its separate existence had continued. For purposes of this Article VIII,
references to “other enterprises” shall include employee benefit plans; references to “fines” shall include any excise taxes assessed on a person with respect
to an employee benefit plan; and references to “serving at the request of the corporation” shall include any service as a director, officer, employee or agent
of the corporation which imposes duties on, or involves services by, such director, officer, employee or agent with respect to an employee benefit plan, its
participants or beneficiaries; and a person who acted in good faith and in a manner such person reasonably believed to be in the interest of the participants
and beneficiaries of an employee benefit plan shall be deemed to have acted in a manner “not opposed to the best interests of the corporation” as referred to
in this Article VIII.
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ARTICLE IX — GENERAL MATTERS
9.1

EXECUTION OF CORPORATE CONTRACTS AND INSTRUMENTS

Except as otherwise provided by law, the certificate of incorporation or these bylaws, the board of directors may authorize any officer or officers, or
agent or agents, to enter into any contract or execute any document or instrument in the name of and on behalf of the corporation; such authority may be
general or confined to specific instances. Unless so authorized or ratified by the board of directors or within the agency power of an officer, no officer, agent
or employee shall have any power or authority to bind the corporation by any contract or engagement or to pledge its credit or to render it liable for any
purpose or for any amount.
9.2

FISCAL YEAR

The fiscal year of the corporation shall be fixed by resolution of the board of directors and may be changed by the board of directors.
9.3

SEAL

The corporation may adopt a corporate seal, which shall be adopted and which may be altered by the board of directors. The corporation may use the
corporate seal by causing it or a facsimile thereof to be impressed or affixed or in any other manner reproduced.
9.4

CONSTRUCTION; DEFINITIONS

Unless the context requires otherwise, the general provisions, rules of construction, and definitions in the DGCL shall govern the construction of these
bylaws. Without limiting the generality of this provision, the singular number includes the plural, the plural number includes the singular, and the term
“person” includes both an entity and a natural person.
ARTICLE X — AMENDMENTS
These bylaws may be adopted, amended or repealed by the stockholders entitled to vote; provided, however, that the affirmative vote of the holders of
at least two-thirds of the total voting power of outstanding voting securities, voting together as a single class, shall be required for the stockholders of the
corporation to alter, amend or repeal, or adopt any bylaw inconsistent with, the following provisions of these bylaws: Article II, Sections 3.1, 3.2, 3.4 and 3.11
of Article III, Article VIII and this Article X (including, without limitation, any such Article or Section as renumbered as a result of any amendment, alteration,
change, repeal, or adoption of any other Bylaw). However, the corporation may, in its certificate of incorporation, confer the power to adopt, amend or repeal
bylaws upon the directors. The fact that such power has been so conferred upon the directors shall not divest the stockholders of the power, nor limit their
power to adopt, amend or repeal bylaws.
A bylaw amendment adopted by stockholders which specifies the votes that shall be necessary for the election of directors shall not be further amended
or repealed by the board of directors.
-25-

Exhibit 10.1
THIRD AMENDMENT
TO
LOAN AND SECURITY AGREEMENT
THIS THIRD AMENDMENT to Loan and Security Agreement (this “Amendment”) is entered into as of July 22, 2013, by and among OXFORD
FINANCE LLC, a Delaware limited liability company with an office located at 133 North Fairfax Street, Alexandria, Virginia 22314 (“Oxford”), as
collateral agent (in such capacity, “Collateral Agent”), the Lenders listed on Schedule 1.1 hereof or otherwise a party hereto from time to time including
Oxford in its capacity as a Lender and SILICON VALLEY BANK, a California corporation with an office located at 3003 Tasman Drive, Santa Clara, CA
95054 (“Bank” or “SVB”) (each a “Lender” and collectively, the “Lenders”), and NANOSTRING TECHNOLOGIES, INC., a Delaware corporation with
offices located at 530 Fairview Avenue N, Suite 2000, Seattle, WA 98109 (“Borrower”).
RECITALS
A. Lenders and Borrower have entered into that certain Loan and Security Agreement dated as of March 30, 2012 (as the same may from time to time be
further amended, modified, supplemented or restated, including but without limitation by that certain First Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement
dated as of December 31, 2012, and that certain Second Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement dated as of April 30, 2013, collectively, the “Loan
Agreement”).
B. Lenders have extended credit to Borrower for the purposes permitted in the Loan Agreement.
C. Borrower has requested that Lenders amend the Loan Agreement as more fully set forth herein.
D. Lenders have agreed to so amend certain provisions of the Loan Agreement, but only to the extent, in accordance with the terms, subject to the
conditions and in reliance upon the representations and warranties set forth below.
AGREEMENT
NOW, T HEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and adequacy of which is hereby
acknowledged, and intending to be legally bound, the parties hereto agree as follows:
1. Definitions. Capitalized terms used but not defined in this Amendment shall have the meanings given to them in the Loan Agreement.
2. Amendments to Loan Agreement.
2.1 Section 13 (Definitions). Subsection (f) of the defined term “Permitted Indebtedness” in Section 13.1 of the Loan Agreement hereby is
amended and restated in its entirety to read as follows:
“(f) Indebtedness consisting of capitalized lease obligations and purchase money Indebtedness, in each case incurred by Borrower or any
of its Subsidiaries to finance the acquisition, repair, improvement or construction of fixed or capital assets of such person, provided that (i) the
aggregate outstanding principal amount of all such Indebtedness does not exceed Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($500,000) at any time and
(ii) the principal amount of such Indebtedness does not exceed the lower of the cost or fair market value of the property so acquired or built or of
such repairs or improvements financed with such Indebtedness (each measured at the time of such acquisition, repair, improvement or
construction is made);”
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2.2 Section 13 (Definitions). Subsection (c) of the defined term “Permitted Liens” in Section 13.1 of the Loan Agreement is hereby amended and
restated in its entirety to read as follows:
“(c) liens securing Indebtedness permitted under clause (f) of the definition of “Permitted Indebtedness,” provided that (i) such liens exist
prior to the acquisition of, or attach substantially simultaneous with, or within thirty (30) days after the, acquisition, lease, repair, improvement
or construction of, such property financed or leased by such Indebtedness and (ii) such liens do not extend to any property of Borrower other
than the property (and proceeds thereof) acquired, leased or built, or the improvements or repairs, financed by such Indebtedness;”
3. Limitation of Amendment.
3.1 The amendments set forth in Section 2, above, are effective for the purposes set forth herein and shall be limited precisely as written and shall
not be deemed to (a) be a consent to any amendment, waiver or modification of any other term or condition of any Loan Document, or (b) otherwise prejudice
any right or remedy which Lenders may now have or may have in the future under or in connection with any Loan Document.
3.2 This Amendment shall be construed in connection with and as part of the Loan Documents and all terms, conditions, representations,
warranties, covenants and agreements set forth in the Loan Documents, except as herein amended, are hereby ratified and confirmed and shall remain in full
force and effect.
4. Representations and Warranties. To induce each Lender to enter into this Amendment, Borrower hereby represents and warrants to each Lender as
follows:
4.1 Immediately after giving effect to this Amendment (a) the representations and warranties contained in the Loan Documents are true, accurate
and complete in all material respects as of the date hereof (except to the extent such representations and warranties relate to an earlier date, in which case they
are true and correct as of such date), and (b) no Event of Default has occurred and is continuing;
4.2 Borrower has the power and authority to execute and deliver this Amendment and to perform its obligations under the Loan Agreement, as
amended by this Amendment;
4.3 The organizational documents of Borrower delivered to each Lender on the Effective Date or thereafter remain true, accurate and complete
and have not been amended, supplemented or restated and are and continue to be in full force and effect;
4.4 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Agreement,
as amended by this Amendment, have been duly authorized;
4.5 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Agreement,
as amended by this Amendment, do not and will not contravene (a) any law or regulation binding on or affecting Borrower, (b) any contractual restriction
with a Person binding on Borrower, (c) any order, judgment or decree of any court or other governmental or public body or authority, or subdivision thereof,
binding on Borrower, or (d) the organizational documents of Borrower;
4.6 The execution and delivery by Borrower of this Amendment and the performance by Borrower of its obligations under the Loan Agreement,
as amended by this Amendment, do not require any order, consent, approval, license, authorization or validation of, or filing, recording or registration with,
or exemption by any governmental or public body or authority, or subdivision thereof, binding on either Borrower, except as already has been obtained or
made; and
4.7 This Amendment has been duly executed and delivered by Borrower and is the binding obligation of Borrower, enforceable against Borrower
in accordance with its terms, except as such enforceability may be limited by bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, liquidation, moratorium or other
similar laws of general application and equitable principles relating to or affecting creditors’ rights.
5. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and all of such counterparts taken together shall be deemed to
constitute one and the same instrument.
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6. Effectiveness. This Amendment shall be deemed effective upon (a) the due execution and delivery to Lenders of this Amendment by each party
hereto and (b) Borrower’s payment of all Lenders’ Expenses incurred through the date hereof, which may be debited from any of Borrower’s accounts with
Lenders.
7. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State California without regard to
principles thereof regarding conflict of laws.
[Balance of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first written above.
BORROWER:
NANOSTRING TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ James A. Johnson
James A. Johnson
Chief Financial Officer

COLLATERAL AGENT AND LENDER:
OXFORD FINANCE LLC
By:
/s/ Mark Davis
Name: Mark Davis
Title: Vice-President-Finance, Secretary & Treasurer
LENDER:
SILICON VALLEY BANK
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Nathan Sackett
Nathan Sackett
Vice President
[Signature Page to Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be duly executed and delivered as of the date first written above.
LENDER:
Oxford Finance Funding I, LLC
By: Oxford Finance LLC, as Servicer
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Mark Davis
Mark Davis
Vice-President-Finance, Secretary & Treasurer

LENDER:
Oxford Finance Funding Trust 2012-1
By: Oxford Finance LLC, as Servicer
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Mark Davis
Mark Davis
Vice-President-Finance, Secretary & Treasurer

LENDER:
Oxford Finance Funding III, LLC
By: Oxford Finance LLC, as Servicer
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Mark Davis
Mark Davis
Vice-President-Finance, Secretary & Treasurer
[Signature Page to Third Amendment to Loan and Security Agreement]

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS
I, R. Bradley Gray, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NanoString Technologies, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 2013
/s/ R. Bradley Gray
R. Bradley Gray
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS
I, James A. Johnson, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of NanoString Technologies, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

a)

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b)

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

c)

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a)

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b)

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

Date: August 8, 2013
/s/ James A. Johnson
James A. Johnson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
NANOSTRING TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of NanoString Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, R. Bradley Gray, President and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive
Officer) of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ R. Bradley Gray
R. Bradley Gray
President and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)
August 8, 2013
This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of NanoString Technologies, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

Exhibit 32.2
NANOSTRING TECHNOLOGIES, INC.
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Quarterly Report of NanoString Technologies, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, James A. Johnson, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer) of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that
to my knowledge:
(1)

The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)

The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ James A. Johnson
James A. Johnson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
August 8, 2013
This certification accompanies the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and is not to be
incorporated by reference into any filing of NanoString Technologies, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

